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“There goes C. S. Lewis, it must be
Tuesday,” must have been uttered
more than once as Lewis was spotted
entering his favorite Oxford pub, The
Eagle and Child (locally referred to as
“The Bird and Baby”| with J. R. R.
Tolkien, Charles Williams, and their
friends. They gathered there once a
week for a beer, and on Thursday eve-
nings they would go to Lewis’ rooms
at Magdalen College to talk philoso-
phy and read aloud from the books
they were writing at the time. To-
gether they were known as the
“Inklings.” And it was before these
“Inklings” that Tolkien first read his
Lord of the Rings and Lewis his
Screwtape Letters.

Now Humphrey Carpenter author
of the widely acclaimed biography of
Tolkien, has written the first collec-
tive biography of these remarkable
friends and scholars. They were very
much of their period—that strange
waiting time between two world
wars. And yet in the protected atmos-
phere of Oxford, an academic oasis,
1t was possible to live in a corner of
the world where the finer points of
Anglo Saxon could still be absorbing
and where speculations on the theol-
ogy of the Christian Church could be
pursued with as much zeal and ideal-
ism as the Spanish Civil War.

Perhaps it was this almost eccen-
tric detachment that gave to their
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ILLUSTRATIONS

between pages
1 (a) Jack Lewis, Warnie Lewis, and their father in
1910 (by permission of the Trustees of C. S. Lewis).
(b) Maureen Moore, Jack Lewis, and Mrs Moore on
holiday in Cornwall, 1927 (by permission of the
Trustees of C. S. Lewis).
2 (a) Jack Lewis, Maureen Moore, and Mrs Mootre on
holiday in Cornwall, 1927 (by permission of the
Trustees of C. S. Lewis).
(b) Jack Lewis, Mrs Moore, and Warnie Lewis at the
Kilns in 1930 (by permission of the Trustees of
C. S. Lewis). 16 and 17

3 (a) J.R.R. Tolkien, circa 1935 (photo: Lafayette).
(b) C.S. Lewis, circa 1935 (Wade Collection).
4 (a) Owen Barfield and C. S. Lewis, citca 1950 (by
courtesy of Owen Barfield).
(b) Addison’s Walk, in the grounds of Magdalen
College, Oxford. 48 and 49

5 (a) Charles Williams, circa 1917 (Wade Collection).
(b) ‘Michal’ Williams in pageant costume, 1907 (by
conrtesy of Michael Williams).
6 (a) Charles Williams in 1935 (E//iott & Fry).
(b) Hugo and Margaret Dyson in the early years of
their marriage (by courtesy of Margaret Dyson). 80 and 81

|

f 7 (a) Charles Williams on the terrace of the Spaldings’
| house in Oxford, 1939 (photo: Amne Spalding).
‘ (b) C.S. Lewis in an Oxford pub (photo: Nina

Howell Starr).
8 (a) Chatles Williams in 1935 (photo: Elliott & Fry).
(b) The ‘Bird and Baby’. 112 and 113

9 Signatures of some of the Inklings, sent to Dr Warfield
M. Firor in 1948, after he had given them a ham (by
permission of the Trustees of C. S. Lewis).




The Inklings
10 Jim Dundas-Grant, Colin Hardie, ‘Humphrey’ Havard,
and C. S. Lewis on the terrace at the Trout Inn,
Godstow, circa 1947 (Wade Collection). 144 and 145
11 (a) Hugo Dyson in 1969 (by courtesy of Margaret
Dyson).
(b) Magdalen College, Oxford, looking across to New
Buildings.
12 Jack and Warnie Lewis on holiday in 1949 (Wade
Collection). 176 and 177
13 (a) J.R.R. Tolkien and Colin Hardie in 1972 (photo:
Billett Potter).
(b) C. S. Lewis, citca 1951 (photo: Sheldon Vananken).
14 A map of Narnia drawn by C. S. Lewis (Bod/eian
Library). 208 and 209
15 (a) Joy Davidman as a young woman (photo: Lotte
Jacobi).
(b) Jack and Joy Lewis in 1958 (Wade Collection).
16 C. S. Lewis (Wade Collection). 240 and 241
xil




PREFACE

C. S. Lewis died in 1963, J. R. R. Tolkien in 1973, Charles Williams in
1945. In recent years the books of the first two have been immensely
popular on both sides of the Atlantic, while Williams, though his name
is far less well known, continues to exercise a considerable fascination
to those who have encountered his writings.

These three men knew each other well. Lewis and Tolkien met in
1926 and soon achieved an intimacy which lasted for many years.
Around them gathered a group of friends, many of them Oxford dons,
who referred to themselves informally and half jestingly as “The
Inklings’. When in 1939 Charles Williams found himself obliged to
move from London to Oxford he was quickly taken into this circle, and
was on close terms with Lewis and the others until his death.

The Inklings achieved a certain fame — or even notoriety, for they
had their detractors — during the lifetime of the group. And when
some years later it was noted that The Lord of the Rings, The Screwtape
Letters, and A/l Hallows® Eve (to name but three of many books) had
this in common, that they were first read aloud to the Inklings, it
became something of a fashion to study the writings of Lewis, Tolkien,
and Williams on the assumption that they were members of a clearly
defined literary group with a common aim. Such an assumption may or
may not stand up to serious investigation. But in the meanwhile there
has been no attempt to write any collective biography of the Inklings.
This book tries to fill that gap.

It is based largely on unpublished material, and I am much in the debt
of the various people who have made this material available to me.
My acknowledgements to them and to the many others who have helped
me will be found in Appendix D. As to quotations, their sources are
fully identified in Appendix C, by a system which I feel is less intrusive
than the conventional method of numerals referring to notes.

The book is largely concerned with C. S. Lewis; for, as I have argued
in it, the Inklings owed their existence as a group almost entirely to
him. I have also given an account, necessarily highly compressed, of the
life and writings of Charles Williams. Of J. R. R. Tolkien’s life and work
outside the Inklings I have said very little, because he has been the
subject of an earlier book of mine, to which I have little to add.

I have tried to show the ways in which the ideas and interests of the
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I

‘Ob for the people who

speak one's own langnage’

From the nursery window of the big house there could be seen a line
of long, low mountains. Often the view was blurred by a slight mist,
for the weather was generally damp, and on many days the sight of
the hills was shut out entirely by slanting rain. Then, all that the boy
could see were the wet fields that sloped down towards Belfast, where
the tall cranes marked the shipyards whose hum could be heard even
at this distance.

Even on wet days there was plenty to be done. Outside the nursery
door were long upstairs corridors, attics to be explored, games to be
played among the gurgling water-tanks where the wind blew under
the slates. Or if the boy tired of that, there were pictures to be drawn
and stories to be invented, and his diary of the holiday to be written up.

~ ‘My Life during the Exmas Holydays of 1907, by Jacks or Clive
Lewis. Author of “Building of the promenad”, “Toyland”, “Living
races of mouse-land” etc. I begin my life after my 9th birthday. On
which I got a book from Papy and a post card album from Mamy.
Warnie (my brother) was coming home and I was looking forward to
him and the Xmas holydays.’

The boy had been christened Clive, but he always called himself
Jacks or Jack. His brother Warnie, whose real name was Warren, was
three years older than him, and went to a boarding-school in England.
Jack always looked forward to Warnie’s return, because then they
could paint pictures together or make up stories. Warnie liked stories
about steamships and trains and India, while Jack liked to write about
animals who did heroic deeds. But they usually managed to fit all this
into the same story. While Warnie was away at school, Jack carried on
with the stories by himself, when he was not learning things from Miss
Harper, his governess, or from his mother, who taught him French and
Latin.




The Inklings

‘Mamy is like most middle-aged ladys, stout, brown hair, spectaciles,
kniting her cheif industry etc. etc. Papy of course is the master of the
house, and 2 man in whom you can see strong Lewis features, bad
temper, very sensible, nice wen not in a temper. I am like most boys of
9 and I am like Papy, bad temper, thick lips, thin, and generaly weraing
ajersey.

His father, who worked as a solicitor in Belfast, was changeable in
mood, and Jack felt more comfortable with his mother, who behaved in
the same calm affectionate way all the time. On the other hand it was his
father who had bought all the hundreds of books which lined the
study and the drawing-room and the cloakroom, and were stacked two
deep in the landing bookcase, and filled the corridors and the bedrooms.
Jack turned the pages of most of them in turn. One day he found these
lines in a book of poetry by Longfellow:

I heard a voice that cried
Balder the beautiful
Is dead, dead.

He had never heard of Balder, but the words gave him an extraordinary
feeling, a notion of great cold expanses of northern sky. He could not
understand exactly what he felt, and the more he tried to recapture the
feeling the more it slipped away.

There were lots of other books to read: the Beatrix Potter tales,
Gulliver’s Travels in a big illustrated volume, and stories by Conan
Doyle and Mark Twain and E. Nesbit. In the summer there were
picnics on the hills and days by the sea, and there was always something
to be done in the big house; so that the time passed quickly in a steady
humdrum happiness.

Then one night not very long after his ninth birthday he woke with
a headache, and when he cried, his mother did not come to him.
There were lights in her room and a bustle of doctors and nurses. She
had cancer. Jack prayed that God would make her better, but she
went on being ill. On the day she died, the calendar in her room (which
had a Shakespearian quotation for each day) bore the words: Men must
endure their going hence, even as their coming hither. After that, everything
changed. Jack would still have moments of happiness, but the old
unshakeable comfort had gone. As he himself said, ‘It was sea and
islands now. The great continent had sunk like Atlantis.’

First came the discomfort of being crammed into Eton collar,
knickerbockers and bowler hat; then the c/op clop of the four-wheeler
driving him and his brother to the quay in Belfast; then the sea crossing,
followed by his first sight of England, which seemed a sadly flat
landscape after the Irish hills; then school.
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Wynyard School in Hertfordshire had been moderately good when
Warnie was first sent there, but by the time Jack joined his elder brother
it was deteriorating as its headmaster became insane. For the next two
years Jack had to endure grossly incompetent teaching, bad food,
stinking sanitation, arbitrarily inflicted beatings and perpetual fear.
It was a terrible introduction to the outer world, and its only good
result was to drive the two brothers closer together for mutual protec-
tion. By the time the school finally collapsed and the headmaster was
certified mad, Warnie had already moved on to Malvern College; the
younger boy was sent briefly to a school in Belfast, then to another in
England.

Meanwhile Jack continued to read voraciously. He had discovered
most of the English poets by the time he was fifteen. He found The
Faerie Queene in a big illustrated edition and loved it. He was delighted
by the romances of William Morris. Best of all, one day he chanced
across an Arthur Rackham illustration to Siegfried and the Twilight of the
Gods, and felt the same sensation as he had known when he first read the
Longfellow lines about Balder. ‘Pure “Northernness” engulfed me,” he
said; and he began a quest for everything ‘Northern’. Books of Norse
myths, a synopsis of the Ring operas, Wagner’s music itself, all were
food to his imagination. Soon he was writing his own poem on the
Nibelung story, rhyming ‘Mime’ with ‘time’ and ‘Alberich’ with ‘ditch’
because he knew no better. He worked hard at his school-books, too,
showing considerable aptitude for Latin and Greek. Yet there was no
sense of stability, no ultimate feeling of safety, neither in the school
term nor at home during the holidays, when even his brother’s com-
panionship could not entirely lighten the oppressiveness of the big

" house, with its stuffy routine now dictated entirely by his father.

At the age of fourteen he won a classical scholarship to Malvern
College.

*

‘Not only does this persecution get harder to bear as time goes on, but it
is actually getting more severe.’ Fifteen-year-old Jack Lewis was writing
home to his father from Malvern. ‘All the prefects detest me and lose
no opportunity of venting their spite. Today, for not being able to find
a cap which one gentleman wanted, I have been sentenced to clean his
boots every day after breakfast for a week. It is after breakfast that the
form goes through their translation together. From this I am cut off.
When I asked if I might clean them in the evening (an arrangement
which you observe would have made no difference to him), I received a
refusal, strengthened by being kicked downstairs. So we go on.’
Malvern was no worse than most English public schools of the time,
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but it was no better. Warnie had been happy there — he left just as
Jack arrived — but the elder boy was, at this stage in their lives, the
more resilient. Jack almost immediately took a dislike to the place.
It was not that the teaching was bad: far from it, for he was encouraged
by a first-rate form master and was commended for excellent work.
But academic study and the opportunity to read books seemed to play
such a small part in the life of the place. Almost all the day it was bells
ringing, feet running, shouted commands from older boys, little sleep
and no privacy. Two things in particular alarmed him. One was
homosexuality, especially the flirtations of the older boys with the
younger, The other was the fact that Malvern, like many other public
schools, was run not so much by the staff as by an unofficial clique of
senior boys called ‘the Bloods’. Admission to this clique was not
through formal qualification, but through being ‘the right sort of
person’ and knowing ‘the right people’. Moreover once a senior boy
became a Blood he had considerable power over his fellows. Bloods who
had any tendency to be bullies would pick on those who showed
resentment of their power. Jack Lewis did show such resentment. He
was soon selected as an ideal victim, and after just two terms of persecu-
tion he had seen enough. What he was going through was no worse
than what thousands of other boys at English public schools were
enduring, but he had no intention of staying firm and enduring it.
He was not that sort of person. When faced with something he hated, he
did not tolerate it but went to war onit. And since he could not take on the
Malvern Bloods single-handed he decided that he had better get away. He
wrote to his father: ‘Please take me out of this, as soon as possible.’
His father, a man of peculiatly disjointed thinking, was usually
notable for making the wrong decisions. But for once he did the right
thing. He removed Jack from Malvern and sent him to the man who
had been his own headmaster, and who was now retired in Surrey and
taking one or two private pupils. W. T. Kirkpatrick, tall and muscularly
lean, was a strict atheist who nevertheless put on his best suit to dig the
garden on Sunday. This, however, was his only recorded piece of
illogical behaviour: in every other particular his life was ruled by strictly
rational principles. He was fearsome in conversation, for no sentence
passed his lips that was not ruthlessly logical. When Jack Lewis first |
met his new teacher on arrival at the railway station, the boy attempted |
some small talk, remarking that the Surrey countryside was more wild |
than he had expected. ‘Stop!” shouted Kirkpatrick. “What do you mean
by wildness, and what grounds had you for not expecting it?’ Jack did |
his best, but answer after answer was rejected as being the product of
inadequate thought. ‘Do you not see’, Kirkpatrick concluded, ‘that
your remark was meaningless ?’ |

6
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Under the tuition of ‘Kirk’ in the two years that followed, the boy
learnt to phrase all remarks as logical propositions and to defend his
opinions by argument. Not that ‘opinion’ was a term admissible in that
household. ‘I have’, Kirkpatrick would exclaim with raised hands,
‘no opinion on any subject whatsoever.’

Soon, Jack Lewis was learning to match his teacher’s mind with
dialects of his own, especially in his letters to a Belfast friend, Arthur
Greeves, who was prone to vague and illogical statements and who
in consequence found himself on the receiving end of Kirk-like
arguments. Greeves adhered to the religious beliefs of his childhood,
and when he mentioned this in a letter to Lewis there came back a
tirade. ‘I had thought that you were gradually being emancipated from
the old beliefs,” Lewis declared. ‘You know, I think, that I believe in
no religion. There is absolutely no proof for any of them, and from a
philosophical standpoint Christianity is not even the best. All religions,
that is all mythologies to give them their proper name, are merely man’s
own invention — Christ as much as Loki.” And Lewis offered his own
interpretation of Christianity: ‘After the death of a Hebrew prophet
Yesua (whose name we have corrupted into Jesus), he became regarded
as a god, a cult sprang up, which was afterwards connected with the
ancient Hebrew Jahweh-worship, and so Christianity came into being —
one mythology among many.’

This atheism was in fact not the result of Kirkpatrick’s teaching.
Knowledge of his tutor’s opinions and access to the rationalist books in
the house did encourage Jack, but he had begun to abandon religious
belief some years earlier, partly because he found it impossible to make
his prayers sincere, partly because he did not think that Christianity had

" much relation to the largely unhappy world around him, and partly

because the Bible did not appeal to him as a story. Or rather, it was when
reading pagan stories, especially the myths of the Norsemen, that he
experienced his most profound sensations of delight. He began to write
a tragedy about the Norse gods. It was in Greek form, under the title
‘Loki Bound’, and it was an attempt to express both the appeal of
Northern myth and his contempt for the Christian view of the universe;
for in the play Loki sets himself in opposition to Odin the creator of the
world, declaring that such creation was wanton cruelty. Lewis also
wrote short poems on this theme, picturing God as a brutish force
whose hatred has scarred men’s lives.

Yet his own life now was remarkably unscarred. Placid days suc-
ceeded one another. He read Homer under Kirkpatrick’s tuition, he
walked in the Surrey countryside, he wrote poetry, and he sent for
innumerable parcels of books from London shops. ‘How one does
want to read everything,” he remarked to Arthur Greeves, and soon
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there was little in English literature that he had not encountered.
For an atheist, he found delight in unlikely places. Of Malory’s
account of the Grail he remarked to Greeves, ‘Those mystic parts
are very good to read late at night when you are drowsy and tired and
get into a sort of “exalted” mood.” And when he discovered George
MacDonald’s ‘faery’ novel Phantastes on a station bookstall he declared
that reading it was ‘a great literary experience’. Meanwhile his progress
at academic work was good; indeed it was clear that he was suited for an
academic career — and for that only. ‘While admirably adapted for
excellence,” Kirkpatrick wrote to Lewis’s father, ‘and probably for
distinction in literary matters, he is adapted for nothing else. You
may make up your mind on that.’

At the end of 1916 Jack Lewis won a scholarship to University
College, Oxford.

*

It was the summer of 1917. Lewis’s first term as an Oxford under-
graduate had been interrupted, not unexpectedly, by his call-up papers,
and he was now a cadet in uniform. His battalion was quartered just
down the road, in Keble College. Cadets were billeted two to a set of
rooms, and the allocations were made in alphabetical order. As a result,
Lewis C. S. found himself sharing sleeping quarters with Moore E. F. C.
Many years later, Jack Lewis’s brother remarked in his diary, ‘Lewis
and Moore: it might just as easily have been Lewis and Sergeant
Muggins, or Lewis and Lord Molineux, and the very fact would have
been forgotten by now — but it was Lewis and Moore, and when the
clerk filled in the names he permanently and almost immediately altered
the course of several lives.’

Jack Lewis did not particularly care for his room-mate; he found
‘Paddy’ Moore rather childish. But Paddy’s mother, an Irishwoman
who had been separated from her husband for many years, was living
in lodgings close by, so as to be near her son; and when they met
she and Jack got on very well, so well that he was soon spending
week-ends in her company. Later, when he got a month’s leave, he
stayed for most of it with the Moores at their Bristol home, going home
to his father in Belfast only for the final few days. His father was sur-
prised and hurt at this division of Jack’s time.

Once or twice there had already been incipient romances in Jack’s
life. During his Surrey days he had been attracted to a Belgian refugee
girl who was staying in the neighbourhood, and had talked about her
in his letters to Arthur Greeves — ‘I don’t think I’ve ever been so bucked
about anything in my life, she’s an awfully decent sort.” Later, in his
first few months at Oxford, he had been very friendly with a young
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woman from Belfast, who was in the city with her mother. But before
any real romance could begin he met Mrs Janie Moore.

She was aged forty-five, Irish, and lively. She was poorly educated
and her conversation was largely illogical nonsense, so in this respect
she was a very odd friend for Jack; but something made him enjoy her
company. Perhaps it was in large part simply the fact that she made him
feel at home. He was never at ease at his real home in Belfast; his father
lived according to an enervating daily routine, and was also perpetually
inquisitive into his sons’ lives. This made Warnie and Jack draw apart
from their parent. Now, when Jack’s military training was over and he
was about to embark for the front line in France, he telegraphed to his
father asking him to come over to England and say goodbye. His
father, typically failing to understand the telegram, did not come. It was
little wonder that Jack turned to Mrs Moore for affection.

By the time that Jack left for France he and Mrs Moore were be-
having to each other like mother and son. As for the real son, Jack
once remarked (years later, to his brother) that Mrs Moore and Paddy
‘hadn’t got on at all well’. In the spring of 1918, Paddy was reported
missing in action, and when his death was officially confirmed Mrs
Moore wrote to Lewis’s father that Paddy had asked Jack ‘to look after
me if he did not come back’. This became the public explanation for
what followed, but probably Jack would have looked after her whether
Paddy had come back or not.

*

Jack Lewis’s time in the trenches was short, and though he found it
horrific he was not deeply shaken by the experience. He had, after all,
lived with the knowledge of the war for more than three years before
going out to the front line himself. It was something he knew he would
have to endure, and (unlike public school) nobody expected him to like
it. When he finally reached the front line he found that it was as bad as
he had anticipated, but no worse.

Certainly he would always remember what he described as ‘the horribly
smashed men still moving like half-crushed beetles, the sitting or stand-
ing corpses’. And just once he put something of this into his poetry:

‘What, brother, brother,
Who groaned?” — ‘I’m hit. I'm finished. Let me be.’
— ‘Put out your hand, then. Reach me. No, the other.’
- ‘Don’t touch. Fool! Damn you! Leave me.” — ‘I can’t see.
Where are you?’ Then more groans. “They’ve done for me.
I’ve no hands. Don’t come near me. No, but stay,
Don’t leave me . . . O my God! Is it near day?’
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(These lines are from his narrative poem Dymer, written not long after
the war.) Lewis himself was wounded by a shell a few months after
going into the front line. But when he came to write an autobiography
he devoted three heated chapters to the horrors of public school and
only part of one - entitled ‘Guns and Good Company’ — to his war
experiences. Two remarks about the war, in that book, sum up his
attitude. After recording his memories of the animal horror of the
trenches, he says: ‘It is too cut off from the rest of my experience and
often seems to have happened to someone else.” The other remark
describes his response to hearing for the first time the whine of a bullet:
‘At that moment there was something not exactly like fear, much less
like indifference: a little quavering signal that said, ‘““This is War.
This is what Homer wrote about.”’

*

When Jack Lewis was sent home wounded from the trenches in the
spring of 1918, Mrs Moore came to London to be near his hospital.
Later, he chose to convalesce in Bristol where she lived. After he had
recovered and had re-entered army life, she spent the rest of the war
following him from camp to camp, setting up temporary homes as near
to him as possible. And when in the autumn of 1918 the war ended and
he went back to Oxford as an undergraduate, she packed up her house
in Bristol and came too.

They found a furnished house in Warneford Road in east Oxford, and
shared the rent between them, Jack making use of an allowance from
his father and Mrs Moore depending chiefly on money from her
estranged husband, whom she called ‘the Beast’. Officially, Jack
was living in University College where he was an undergraduate
reading Classics, but in reality he spent as much time as possible in ‘our
hired house’, as he described it. ‘After lunch,” he told Arthur Greeves,
‘T work until tea, then work again until dinner. After that, a little more
work, talk and laziness and sometimes bridge, then bicycle back to
College at 11. I then light my fire and work or read till 12 o’clock when
I retire to sleep the sleep of the just.” This may have been his routine on
an ideal day, but more often his time at Warneford Road was occupied
with one of the innumerable domestic chores which Mrs Moore was in
the habit of devising for him: helping her to make jam and marmalade,
scrubbing the floors, washing up, walking the dog, mending broken
furniture, taking messages and doing shopping errands. It was not
that she did not try to do any of these things herself, but she was easily
exhausted - or at least Jack believed that she was — and, though they
were generally able to afford a maid, Mrs Moore was suspicious of
servants and did not like to trust the girl with these tasks. She used to
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say of Jack, ‘He is as good as an extra maid.” As for Jack, he developed
the ability to work at his desk in the middle of domestic mayhem.
Only a few minutes would pass in an afternoon at Warneford Road
without Mrs Moore’s strident voice summoning him to some job or
other; he would lay down his pen patiently, go and do what was wanted
(however trivial) and then come back and resume work as if nothing had
happened. He called this ‘the hopeless business of trying to save D. from
overwork’. ‘D.” was how he referred to Mrs Moore in his diary; to
other people he called her ‘Minto’. Both names are inexplicable.

Remarkably, this disturbed way of life did no harm to his studies.
Long before, in Surrey days, his tutor Kirkpatrick had reported to
Jack’s father, ‘He has read more classics than any boy I ever had —
or indeed I might add than any I ever heard of, unless it be an Addison
or Landor or Macaulay.” Kirkpatrick had also said of Jack’s enthusiasm
for his work, ‘He is a student who has no interest except in reading and
study. The very idea of urging him or stimulating him to increased
exertion makes me smile.” Nevertheless, given the distractions of life
with ‘Minto’, Jack Lewis did very well to take a First Class in Classical
Moderations in March 1920.

Meanwhile his friends and relatives were puzzling over his strange
involvement with Mrs Moore. It was easy to explain the mother—son
element in it by the losses of real mother and real son which they had
suffered. But was that all? Some people perhaps suspected a romantic-
sexual element in the liaison, and possibly this was what Jack’s father
had in mind when he referred to it as ‘Jack’s affair’. This sort of specu-
lation was, if anything, fostered by the silence of Jack himself, who
refused to discuss the matter with any of his close friends. On the only
" occasion Warnie Lewis asked his brother about the relationship he was
told to mind his own business. In particular Jack tried to keep his father
as much in the dark about it as possible, pretending to him that he was
living in ordinary ‘digs’ with other undergraduates, and disguising
a holiday spent with ‘Minto’ as a walking tour with a college friend.
None of this helped to make it seem entirely respectable.?

On the other hand nobody who knew Jack Lewis supposed seriously

1 Warnie Lewis was never able to explain the relationship. On 23 November 1948
he wrote in his diary, of a conversation with one of the maids at the Kilns: ‘T cut
the thing short, for I saw I was going to be asked the question I am so tired of, and
to which I shall never find the answer, viz. how anyone so nice as J. ever came to
make himself the slave of such a woman? It’s a very odd thing how impossible it is
to be believed when you are telling the truth. I have been asked the question by all
the Inklings, by Parkin [a friend from army days], by many of our “lady helps’ and
servants: and when I reply, perfectly truthfully, that I don’t know, and that J. and I
never discuss this side of his life, I always see that I am suspected of an honourable
reticence.’
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that Mrs Moore was his mistress. Certainly he discussed sex in his letters
to Arthur Greeves, but only in relation to masturbation, and this was
probably all that he meant by the rather veiled and arch references he
made (in the books he was later to write) to his sexual experience as a
young man. On the practical level, a sexual relationship with Mrs Moore
would have been difficult without servants’ gossip, let alone the fact
that another member of the household was Mrs Moore’s daughter
Maureen, who was eight years younger than Paddy and still a child.

After this strange ménage had been established in Oxford for a little
over a year, Jack was able to move out of college and make the home
with ‘Minto’ his official lodgings. But they were obliged to leave the
Warneford Road house, and there began a long search for a permanent
home in which they could use Mrs Moore’s own furniture. Unfurnished
houses at 2 moderate rent seemed impossible to find, and for two long
years they moved from one place to another, renting furnished rooms or
being lent the use of a house for a few weeks while the owner was away.
Between 1918 and 1923 they lived at nine different addresses, ‘most of
them vile’, as Jack remarked in his diary. At one time during this period
Mrs Moore told him that ‘she was quite convinced that she would
never again live in a house of her own’.

*

Until 1918 Jack Lewis had gone on writing poems that were deeply
pessimistic, flinging accusations at a cruel God. They were not particu-
larly good as poetry, so he was lucky to have a volume of them pub-
lished by Heinemann in 1918 under the title Spirits in Bondage. They
attracted almost no attention, and Lewis brought no reputation as a
poet when he came up to Oxford. Indeed, tastes were already changing,
and he discovered that many of his fellow undergraduates who were
interested in poetry admired T. S. Eliot and other exponents of modern
verse. ‘I’m afraid I shall never be an orthodox modern,” Lewis wrote to
Arthur Greeves in October 1918. ‘I like lines that will scan and do not
care for descriptions of sea-sickness.’

He was not alone in disliking modern verse: he soon made friends
with several other undergraduates who shared his views, and who (like
him) wanted to go on writing poetry uninfluenced by the new move-
ment. Among these was a young man at Wadham College, Owen
Barfield. He and Lewis and several others conceived the rather grand
idea of issuing a yearly collection of their verses; but this idea petered
out. However, they continued to read each other’s poetry with interest,
and to offer criticisms.

By the time that Lewis began to read for the second part of the
Classics course, ‘Greats’ (Ancient History and Philosophy), he had
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abandoned the pessimistic viewpoint of his early poems. He also de-
cided to turn his back on the sensations of delight that he had received
from Norse mythology, Malory, George MacDonald, and many other
books. Privately he still sometimes felt such sensations, though not so
often as before; but these he now labelled ‘aesthetic experience’ and
said that they were valuable but not really informative. As to the exis-
tence of God, he adopted the attitude that ‘it really made no difference
whatever whether there was such a person or no’. All this he called his
New Look. It certainly harmonised with the Oxford approach to
philosophy at the time; the ruthlessly analytical Logical Positivism had
not yet made its appearance, but there was a prevailing tone of scepti-
cism which Lewis gladly adopted.
In 1922 he took a First Class in ‘Greats’.

*

Shortly after this, he and Mrs Moore finally found a house that offered
a hope of permanence, ‘Hillsboro’, a villa in the Oxford suburb of
Headington which was available as an unfurnished letting. Out came
Mrs Moore’s furniture from store; Jack spent endless days painting and
laying linoleum; and they moved in. This, however, did not mean
domestic tranquillity, for ‘Minto’ still found more than enough for
Jack to do, partly thanks to her habit of quarrelling with servants.
Jack noted in his diary that the incompetence of one maid had become
‘the exclusive subject of conversation’ with Mrs Moore, remarking, ‘I
do not blame D. for this in the least, but of course it makes things very
miserable.’

Jack now hoped for a teaching appointment at Oxford. But there

" were no university jobs available in Philosophy, his strong subject in

‘Greats’; so, as his father was good-naturedly prepared to continue
financial support for a time, he decided to read English Language and
Literature, tackling the full course in just one year, a mere third of the
time that most undergraduates devoted to it. This meant learning
Anglo-Saxon and studying the principles of philology, besides reading
literature from the medieval period to the nineteenth century. He
was, of course, far from ignorant in this field already, but there was still
a lot of ground to cover, and it was amazing that he managed to do it
in the moments he could spare from domestic life. During the months
while he was racing through the English syllabus he was teaching Latin
to Mrs Moore’s daughter Maureen and to her music-mistress in lieu of
Maureen’s fees, tutoring a neighbour’s child in return for Maureen’s
lessons with its mother, and washing up after almost every meal.
For two weeks he was, by day and night, looking after Mrs Moore’s
brother, who was having a severe nervous breakdown in the house.
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He was also coping with a perpetual series of what he called ‘Minto’s
mare’s nests’ — imaginary crises of every conceivable kind - and with a
stream of visitors and paying guests. The most remarkable thing was
that he did this with almost unvarying good humour. This was perhaps
partly because he knew that the whole thing was very nearly his fault
anyway, and if he complained it could be justly retorted that the house-
hold owed its existence to him. But really it was his immense fund of
good nature that kept him going. He was already practised at coping
with domestic oddities, thanks to the strangeness of family life with his
father in Belfast; and in any case he was not a complainer by nature.
Far from it: he derived immense amusement from the odd visitors who
came to the house, to whom he and Mrs Moore gave nicknames: ‘the
Blackguard® for a grotesque French lodger, and ‘Smudge’ for the
inoffensive and rather indistinct music teacher. Only when the question
was raised of his brother Warnie coming to live with them did Jack
warn him openly of ‘the perpetual interruptions of family life — the
partial loss of liberty’. And even then he qualified it by adding: “This
sounds as if I were either sick of it myself or else trying to make you sick
of it: but neither is the case. 1 have definitely chosen and don’t regret the
choice. Whether I was right or wrong, wise or foolish, to have done so
originally, is now only an historical question: once having created
expectations, one naturally fulfils them.’

*

He was not very impressed by his first experiences when reading English
Language and Literature at Oxford. “The atmosphere of the English
school’, he wrote in his diary after attending a lecture, ‘is very different
from that of Greats. Women, Indians, and Americans predominate and
— I can’t say how — one feels a certain amateurishness in the talk and
look of the people.” He thought pootly of many of the lectures, and felt
no enthusiasm for the study of philological niceties such as glottal
stops and vowel shifts, of which he remarked, “Very good stuff in its
way, but why physiology should form part of the English school I
really don’t know.” He was comfortable, however, in the company of
the Martlets, the literary society of University College, which met to
listen to papers read by its members. Lewis often contributed mono-
graphs on his favourite authors. He gave a talk on William Morris
and another on Spenser. After the paper there would be a discussion,
which sometimes turned into intellectual pyrotechnics; for like Lewis
many of the Martlets were well read in philosophy. They enjoyed
showing off their command of logic, as did Lewis, for he believed that
his mind was well trained in argument. He was always in the forefront
of any dialectical battle that concluded a Martlets evening, and he also
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liked to go for brisk walks with fellow members, during which they
would continue an intricate argument from the previous Martlets
meeting. This kind of talk was often an intellectual duel for the sake
of the sport, and Lewis judged his and his opponent’s performance as
much on method as on content. ‘In spite of many well contested points
I was gravelled in the end,” he recorded after one such contest which was
conducted while he and a friend strode across the meadows on the
edge of Oxford, adding, “We were neither of us in really good dialectical
form.’

It was not only among the Martlets that he engaged in logical
argument. It was indeed a form of conversation that he sought wherever
it could be found, not least perhaps because it was a relief from Mrs
Moore’s illogical chatter; and he judged his acquaintances by their
capacity for it, despising men who talked only in anecdotes or merely
peddled facts. Nor did he care for men who were flippant or cynical.
To get on with Lewis you had to argue with feeling as well as with your
brain; you had to hold your opinions passionately and be prepared to
defend them with logic. Not surprisingly, few people came up to the
mark.

One who did was a fellow Irishman, Nevill Coghill, who like Lewis
was reading the English course in one year, having previously gradua-
ted in History. Each found the other a good companion for energetic
country walks, and while striding together over Hinksey Hill they
would talk excitedly about what they had been reading that week.
Coghill never forgot how on one such walk Lewis, who had just
encountered the Anglo-Saxon Batt/e of Maldon, boomed out some lines
from the end of the poem:

‘Hige sceal pe heardra, heorte pe cenre,
mod sceal pe mare, pe ure maegen lytlad.’

‘Will shall be the sterner, heart the bolder, spirit the greater as our
strength lessens.’

In the summer of 1923 Lewis was awarded a First Class in the
English School He now had three Firsts to his name, and wasdeter-
mined to get an academic job, but the days were over when a clever
young man could walk out of examinations into a college fellowship.
There was plenty of competition and few jobs. Certainly Lewis had a
wider choice than some men, for he could teach Philosophy as well as
English Literature, but even so there were not many opportunities.
For a year he could find nothing at all and, though his father generously
continued to pay an allowance despite his suspicions (or perhaps be-
cause of his ignorance) about Jack’s life with Mrs Moore, it was a
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worrying time. Jack occupied himself by reading and by writing
poetry. He was now at work on a long narrative poem which he
called Dymer, about a young man who escapes from a totalitarian society,
begets 2 monster on an unseen and mysterious bride, and is eventually
killed by the monster, which becomes a god. Lewis declared that he had
no idea what its meaning might be. ‘Everyone may allegorise or psycho-
analyse it as he pleases,” he said; and certainly one episode in the poem
does seem to relate closely to his own life at the time of its composition.
When Dymer wakes after his night of love in the dark room with the
unseen girl, he wanders out into the daylight and explores the mysterious
palace in which he has found her. After a few moments he returns to
seek her, but the way to the room is now blocked by the witch-like
shape of an old woman squatting on the threshold. Whichever way
Dymer takes through the corridors, still the way is barred by this
‘old, old matriarchal dreadfulness’, so that in the end he is forced to
leave the palace and abandon his lover, whom he never sees again.
When Lewis began to write Dymer in 1922 he had been living with Mrs
Moore for three years, and now that she had come into his life he took
no further romantic interest in girls of his own age.

Dymer was mote contemporary in tone than Lewis’s 1918 anthology,
being rather in the style of John Masefield. While Lewis was working
on it, he often showed the manuscript to his undergraduate friend Owen
Barfield. Barfield was generally very complimentary about the poem,
and when he showed his own verse to Lewis he received equal praise.

Barfield, too, graduated with a First in English, and then tried to
earn a living by contributing to London literary journals. Meanwhile
Nevill Coghill, was awarded a fellowship at Exeter College, where he
had been an undergraduate. Lewis himself continued to wait, applying
for several jobs without success. After a year the position improved
when he was given some part-time work teaching Philosophy at
University College for a don who was temporarily in America. Then
in the spring of 1925 a fellowship in English Language and Literature
was advertised at Magdalen College. Lewis applied, though without
much hope.

The weeks that followed were anxious. He continued to give tutorials
and lectures at University College, generally walking home afterwards
to save the bus fares. His afternoons spent striding across the Oxford-
shire countryside with friends like Coghill had made him a practised
walker, and the mere mile and a quarter from the town to Headington
was nothing to him. He could be seen on most days, coming down the
steps from the main entrance of his college, a heavily built young man
with a florid face and a flop of dark hair, dressed in baggy flannel
trousers and an old blazer with a University College badge, and wearing
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a battered hat and a shabby mackintosh if the weather was not warm.
‘Several Univ. people whom I don’t know passed me,” he noted one
morning. ‘One of them, noticing my blazer, must have asked another
who I was, for I heard him answer “Heavy Lewis”.’

On 22 May 1925 The Times announced that “The President and Fellows
of Magdalen College have elected to an official Fellowship in the College
as Tutor in English Language and Literature, for five years as from
next June 25, Mr Clive Staples Lewis.’

*

Lewis settled into his new college during the Long Vacation of 1925.
He had been allocated rooms in the eighteenth-century New Buildings,
with windows overlooking the tower and lawns on one side and the
Grove with its herd of deer on the other. Few people in Oxford had a
finer view. Lewis reported to his father that it was ‘beautiful beyond
compare’.
By the time the Michaelmas term began he had bought the few pieces
. of furniture necessary for his rooms, chéosing the very plainest because
" he did not think that such things mattered much. In fact he could have
. afforded a few extravagances, had they been to his taste, for he would
have a good income from the fellowship and plenty of security. The
appointment at Magdalen was nominally for five years only, but fellows
were almost always re-elected when that period was over. It would only
be necessary to keep on good terms with the other Magdalen dons and
to do his job fairly conscientiously to be secure for the rest of his
working days.
The snag was that one of these conditions — keeping on good terms
- with his colleagues — did not look as if it was going to be particularly
easy. Some of them seemed pleasant enough; he liked and admired
Frank Hardie, a don of about the same age as himself;! but he could
not come to the same opinion about many of the others. ‘I am beginning
to be rather disillusioned about my colleagues,’ he told his father. “There
is a good deal more intrigue and mutual back-scratching and even direct
lying than I ever suspected possible: and what worries me most of all is
that the decent men seem to be all the old ones (who will die) and the
rotters seem to be all the young ones (who will last my time).” Among
the older men were P. V. M. Benecke, the Ancient History tutor,
and J. A. Smith, the moral philosopher, both of them Victorians in
ideas as well as appearance. Lewis took to having his breakfast with

! The brother of Colin Hardie. In earlier accounts of Lewis’s life the two have
been confused. After one year at Magdalen, Frank Hardie moved to Corpus Christi
College, of which he eventually became President. Colin Hardie arrived at Magdalen
in 1936.
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them, partly as a way of avoiding the younger dons. To a couple of
these he responded with horrified fascination. Of one, the historian
H. M. D. Parker, he wrote in his diary: ‘He thinks of himself as a plain
man with no nonsense about him, and hopes that even his enemies
regard him as an honest fellow at bottom. The desire to be always
exercising this shrewd practical commonsense leads him to endless
discussions on everything that happens: he will draw anyone who listens
into a corner and stand there exchanging husky confidences about his
pupils and colleagues. He always implies that “we two (or three or
four) are the only people in College who understand this matter and
we must hold together”. The very same people against whom he
marshals his confidants on Wednesday will themselves be taken into
council on Thursday. He believes all that he says for the moment, but
being weak as water, takes a new colour from every group that he falls
into.” In sharp contrast was another of the younger dons at Magdalen,
T. D. (‘Harry’) Weldon, the Philosophy tutor, who was a militant
atheist and who soon became the leader of the more radical dons. Of
him, Lewis wrote: ‘He has great abilities, but would despise himself if |
he wasted them on disinterested undertakings. He would be capable of !
treachery and would think the victim a fool for being betrayed. He
preaches what he practises: tells you openly that anyone who believes
another is a fool, and holds that Hobbes alone saw the truth: tells me
I am an incurable romantic and is insolent to old men and servants.
He is very pale, this man, good-looking, and drinks a great deal without
getting drunk. I think he is the best of our younger fellows and I would
sign his death-warrant to-morrow, or he mine, without turning a hair.’
When term began, Lewis’s duties in Magdalen consisted of giving
an hour’s tutorial each week, together with any extra teaching he
thought necessary, to those undergraduates in the college who were ‘l
reading English In his first years as a tutor he rarely had more than half :
a dozen pupils; and as they came to him either singly or in pairs for [
their tutorials, this meant some six or eight hours of teaching a week. ’
In addition to this he gave courses of lectures to the University as a
whole, which meant another hour or two’s work each week, plus the
time taken to prepare the lectures. In some academic years he would !
also be required to serve as an examiner, which occupied a good deal
of time. But much of his day was still his own, to use as he liked for
private research, for helping Mrs Moore with domestic chores (which
he continued to do each afternoon), and for meeting his friends.
Lewis did not find the Magdalen undergraduates much more attrac-
tive than many of the dons. He told his father that in his opinion the
college was no more than ‘a country club for all the idlest “bloods” of
Eton and Charterhouse’, adding, ‘I really don’t know what gifts the
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public schools bestow on their nurslings, beyond the mere surface of
good manners: unless contempt of the things of the intellect, ex-
travagance, insolence, self-sufficiency, and sexual perversion are to be
called gifts.” Certainly there was a Magdalen tradition of recruiting
undergraduates from the smarter public schools; but here again, Lewis’s
own schooling had left him sensitive to such things, particularly to
homosexuality.

As to the undergraduates, this is how one Magdalen freshman respon-
ded to his surroundings in that Michaelmas term of 1925:

Balkan Sobranies in 2 wooden box,

The college arms upon the lid; Tokay

And sherry in the cupboard; on the shelves

The University Statntes bound in blue,

Crome Yellow, Prancing Nigger, Blunden, Keats . . .
Privacy after years of public school;

First college rooms, a kingdom of my own:
What words of mine can tell my gratitude ?

No wonder, looking back, I never worked.

The undergraduate who wrote these lines was among Lewis’s first
pupils that term, and they did not get on well. ‘Betjeman and Valentin
came for Old English,” Lewis wrote in his diary. ‘Betjeman appeared in
a pair of eccentric bedroom slippers and said he hoped I didn’t mind
them as he had a blister. He seemed so pleased with himself that I
couldn’t help saying that I should mind them very much myself but
that I had no objection to Ais wearing them — a view which I believe

surprised him. Both had been very idle over the O.E. and I told them
~ itwouldn’t do.’

John Betjeman found Magdalen a blessed relief after schooldays at
Marlborough, where he had endured just as much discomfort as Lewis
at Malvern. He was certainly prepared to pay a little desultory attention
to English literature, but he had not bargained for Old English (Anglo-
Saxon), nor for such a tutor. Lewis, who was going to be responsible
for teaching his pupils the whole English School syllabus from The
Battle of Maldon to Blake, had decided to do his best to make the early
part of the course palatable by organising evenings of ‘Beer and
Beowulf’ and by inventing mnemonics to teach his pupils the laws of
sound-changes. Betjeman, whose taste was for Swinburne, Firbank and
the Gothic Revival, could scarcely be expected to respond enthusiasti-
cally to Lewis chanting over the beer-jug:

Thus A& to E they soon were fetchin’,
Compare such forms as p/EC and pECCEAN.
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(The last word is pronounced approximately as zhetcher and so provides
a rhyme.) Betjeman absented himself from this ordeal whenever
possible, slipping away to friends who had an exotic country house at
Sezincote near Moreton-in-Marsh:

I cut tutorials with wild excuse,
For life was luncheons, luncheons all the way.

‘While in College,” Lewis wrote in his diary, I was rung up on the
telephone by Betjeman speaking from Moreton-in-Marsh, to say that
he hadn’t been able to read the Old English, as he was suspected for
measles and forbidden to read a book. Probably a lie, but what can one
do?’

When Betjeman was not lunching at Sezincote he could usually be
found at the George Restaurant in Oxford with Harold Acton and the
Etonian set from Christ Church, or at Wadham College in the group of
young men who gathered around Maurice Bowra. But if Bowra’s
hospitality and wit showed Betjeman that dons were sometimes pre-
pared to treat undergraduates as more than pupils, Betjeman found
nothing of this reflected in his relationship with his tutor. The instant
the tutorial hour was over, Lewis showed Betjeman to the door,
generally with a fierce admonition to work harder. It was not that Lewis
behaved in this way to all his pupils: he began to make friends with one
or two who liked brisk walks and whose ideas interested him. But most
undergraduates found him formal and fierce, and certainly he kept his
distance from those whose behaviour had overtones of homosexuality —
a fashionable mannerism among Oxford undergraduates at the time.
Lewis’s own attitude to homosexuality is hard to define; it was perhaps
a mixture of revulsion, due to his Ulster upbringing which encouraged !
an Old Testament severity towards sexual deviation, and fear, even J
suppression, due to the fact that his own feelings for his male friends w
were so warmly affectionate. At all events, while many of the ‘Georgoisie’
(as Betjeman named his friends) ate their dinners in loose-knotted
shantung ties and pastel shirts, Lewis seemed to be taking almost
exaggerated care to be shabby, with his regular uniform of dung-
coloured mackintosh and old cloth hat.

John Betjeman was sent down from Magdalen after only a few terms
for failing the obligatory University examination in Divinity. He sought
out Lewis ‘in his arid room’, but was told bluntly, ‘You’d have only
got a Third.’ |

Some years later, Betjeman turned the tables on his tutor. In his
volume of poems Continnal Dew (1937), he wrote in the preface that he
was ‘indebted to Mr C. S. Lewis for the fact on page 256’. The book
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consisted of only forty-five pages. And in one of the poems contained
in it, ‘A Hike on the Downs’ — which might indeed be a deliberate
parody of Lewis’s whole way of life - there is this stanza, supposedly
spoken by a young don:

‘Objectively, our Common Room

Is like a small Athenian State -
Except for Lewis: he’s all right

But do you think he’s guite first rate?

*

Betjeman and his set were enthusiastic about modern poetry. Lewis
was becoming less and less sympathetic to it. In fact he was now
thoroughly vehement about T. S. Eliot.

In the early months of 1926, while Betjeman was still his pupil, he
borrowed a volume of Eliot’s verse from him, and after studying it
began to organise an anti-Eliot campaign among his friends. It was to
take the form of a parody of modern verse which would be sent to the
Criterion, which Eliot edited, in the hope that it would be mistaken for
serious poetry and published as such. Lewis acquired several collabora-
tors: his Magdalen colleague Frank Hardie, his pupil Henry Yorke
(who had already published his first novel as ‘Henry Green’), and
Nevill Coghill. They wrote some appropriate verses and agreed to
send them to Eliot under the names of a brother and sister, Rollo and
Bridget Considine. ‘Bridget is the elder,” wrote Lewis in his diary, ‘and
they are united by an affection so tender as to be almost incestuous.
Bridget will presently write a letter to Eliot (if we get a foothold) telling
~ him about her own and her brother’s life. She is incredibly dowdy and
about thirty-five. We rolled about in laughter as we pictured a tea party
where the Considines should meet Eliot: Yorke would dress up for
Bridget and perhaps bring a baby. The poems are to be sent from
Vienna where Hardie has a friend. We think Vienna will decrease suspi-
cion and is a likely place for the Considines to live in. Hardie and Coghill
are in it for pure fun, I from burning indignation, Yorke chiefly for love
of mischief.” The venture gained momentum when Lewis’s acquaintance
William Force Stead, the American clergyman and man of letters who
knew Eliot and in 1927 baptised him a member of the Anglican Church,
was shown one of the parodies without being told that it was parody,
and expressed a serious enthusiasm for it. But this seemed to indicate
not so much that the parody was good poetry as that Stead was a
hopeless judge, and shortly after this the prank petered out.

*
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Lewis’s long narrative poem Dymer was now finished. It was offered to
Heinemann, who had published his 1918 volume of verse, and Lewis
was badly shaken when they rejected it. He asked Nevill Coghill for an
opinion of the poem. Coghill was quite enthusiastic, liking Dymer
enough to pass it to a friend who worked for J. M. Dent; and he and
Lewis were delighted when Dent’s expressed admiration and agreed to
publish it. When it was issued in 1926 it earned some good reviews.
But almost nobody bought it, and Lewis now doubted whether
he would achieve success as a poet. He still believed that poetry was
his ‘only real line’, but though he went on writing verse it took up a
smaller part of his attention. Another factor in this was that old friends
from undergraduate days, such as Owen Barfield, were no longer at hand
to give advice and criticism. Indeed there were many ways in which
Lewis felt the need for more companionship. In a letter to another
friend from undergraduate days who had now left the University,
A. K. Hamilton Jenkin, Lewis described the idyllic setting of his college
rooms and went on: ‘I wish there was anyone here childish enough (or
permanent enough, not the slave of his particular and outward age)
to share it with me. Is it that no man makes real friends after he has
passed the undergraduate age? Because I get no forr’arder, since the
old days. I go to Barfield for sheer wisdom and a sort of richness of
spirit. I go to you for some smaller and yet more intimate connexion
with the feel of Things. But the question I am asking is why I meet no
such men now. Is it that ] am blind? Some of the older men are
delightful: the younger fellows are none of them men of understanding.
Oh for the people who speak one’s own language.’

*

Professors and college tutors at Oxford do not necessarily meet often
in the course of duty, even if they are members of the same faculty.
It was not until Tuesday 11 May 1926, after he had been in residence at
Magdalen for two terms, that Lewis had a chance to talk at any length
to the new Professor of Anglo-Saxon, who had started work in the
University at the same time as himself. On that day he went to an
‘English Tea’ at Merton College for a discussion of faculty business.

At the tea there was some discussion of the General Strike, but not
much was said about it, for Oxford had scarcely been affected. Then
came some business involving the lecture lists. After that (Lewis
recorded in his diary) “Tolkien managed to get the discussion round to
the proposed English Prelim. I had a talk with him afterwards. He is a *
smooth, pale, fluent little chap — can’t read Spenser because of the
forms — thinks the language is the real thing in the school — thinks all
literature is written for the amusement of men between thirty and forty —
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John Ronald Reuel Tolkien was aged thirty-four,. young by the stan-
dard of Oxford professors. He had been an Oxford undergraduate
between 1911 and 1915, reading Classical Moderations and then
English, specialising in the ‘language’ side of the course; that is,
Anglo-Saxon, Middle English, and philology. After marrying, serving
in France during the war, and working briefly in Oxford on the New
English Dictionary, he had been appointed Reader in English Language
at Leeds University. While teaching in Leeds he had built up a ‘langu-
age’ side to the English syllabus that was notable for its imagination
and liveliness. Now that he was back in Oxford, he was determined to
remodel the Oxford English School’s ‘language’ side on the lines that
had been successful in Leeds.

He put his proposals to the Faculty not long after Lewis’s first con-
versation with him. Lewis was among those who voted against him.

*

In declaring to Lewis that ‘the language is the real thing in the school’, 1
Tolkien was in fact reviving an old Oxford quarrel, which had split the ,
Honour School of English Language and Literature ever since its .
foundation at the end of the nineteenth century. "

It was a quarrel about what a university course in ‘English’ should
consist of. One faction believed that it ought to be based on ancient and '
medieval texts and their language, with at most only a brief excursion
into ‘modern’ literature — by ‘modern’ they meant anything later than
Chaucer. These people wanted an English course that was as severe a }
discipline as a study of the classics. On the other side were those who
thought the most important thing was to study the whole range of
English literature up to the present day.

The two factions had different ancestors. The people who were in
favour of ancient and medieval studies and philology (all known fam-
iliarly as ‘language’, though a good deal more than linguistics was
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involved) were the cultural descendants of the traditional Oxford
classical scholarship, and more recently of nineteenth-century compara-
tive philologists such as Max Miiller. The ‘literature’ people (those in
favour of the study of post-Chaucerian writers) were in general a new
breed of teachers and literary critics who believed that the study of
recent vernacular literature was just as important as reading Latin and
Greek or other ancient writings. Indeed many of these people thought
that, in a time of broadening educational opportunities, recent literature
had a far greater future than ‘dead’ languages as an academic
discipline. Some of them (more notably at Cambridge than at Oxford)
were also beginning to form the idea that by reading English literature
a student could in some way improve his character as well as his know-
ledge. It was this view which Tolkien attacked so vehemently when he
told Lewis that he abominated ‘liberal studies’.

There were several reasons why Tolkien took this attitude. First, he
himself had never studied post-Chaucerian literature more than
cursorily, for ‘English’ had scarcely been taught at his school (King
Edward’s, Birmingham), and as an undergraduate he had concentrated
on the ‘language’ side of the English course. Moreover, although he had
many favourites among later writers, he took an impish delight in
challenging established values, saying that he found The Faerie Queene
unreadable because of Spenser’s idiosyncratic treatment of the language,
and declaring that Shakespeare had been unjustifiably deified. But a
deeper and more important reason was that his own mind and imagina-
tion had been captivated since schooldays by early English poems such
as Beownlf, Sir Gawain and the Green Knight, and Pear/, and by the Old
Icelandic Volsungasaga and Elder Edda. These were all the literature that
he needed.

Lewis’s view was rather different. For him the great works of post-
Chaucerian literature had, after all, been a source of joy since boyhood.
Spenser was a particular favourite with him. He knew comparatively
little Anglo-Saxon literature, and though he was deeply attached to
Norse mythology he did not know more than a few words of Old
Icelandic itself. So the notion that the earliest part of the course was of
special importance - or, as Tolkien put it, that ‘the language is the real
thing’ — seemed an exaggeration. There was thus every reason for him
to vote against Tolkien.

On the other hand the changes proposed by Tolkien were quite
logical. At that time the Oxford syllabus was, in his view, gravely
deficient in that it did not encourage a /iterary approach to early and
medieval writings; and Tolkien did believe passionately that Anglo-
Saxon and Middle-English prose and poetry should be treated as
literature and not merely as a quarry for ‘gobbets’ (passages set in
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examinations) and for teaching the rules of sound-changes. He was
annoyed that students were required by the syllabus to learn off pat
such linguistic rules as Grimm’s and Verner’s Laws, but did not have to
read any Old or Middle-English literature other than short pieces in
anthologies. He thought it absurd, in other words, that Lewis’s
pupils were having to learn rules by rote (“Thus /& to E they soon were
fetchin’ ’) while they scarcely knew any of the literature to which these
rules applied. Lewis in fact had realised the absurdity of this situation.
Hence his ‘Beer and Beowulf’ evenings, in which his pupils actually
did some reading beyond the syllabus.

This state of affairs applied to the men and women who chose the
course which specialised in post-Chaucerian literature — in fact about
ninety per cent of the undergraduates reading English Nor were con-
ditions much better for the few who opted for early and medieval studies,
for they had to spend a good deal of time — wasted time, thought Tolkien
—away from their special field, reading Shakespeare and Milton. Tolkien
was determined to end this, and to get the Faculty to accept a re-
modelled syllabus, in which everyone would be expected to read widely
in early English literature, while the early and medieval specialists
could pursue their chosen work without having to turn aside and study
later writers.

Few people in the Faculty quarrelled with these notions as such.
The trouble was that in order to make room for a more thorough
study of the early period some other part of the syllabus would have
to be abandoned or made optional. Tolkien recommended, in an article
in the Oxford Magagine, ‘jettisoning certainly the nineteenth century
(unless parts of it could appear as an “additional subject”)’, and sugges-
ted that the compulsory papers should stop at 1830.

The notion of improving the study of ancient literature by curtailing
the reading of modern writers had a certain appeal at Oxford. The
English Faculty had always been embarrassed by those in the University
— and there were many — who alleged that undergraduates could read
English literature in their baths, and did not need dons to teach it to
them any more than they needed nursemaids to wipe their noses.
(Lewis himself shared this view.) The study of recent writers was
particularly open to this charge; so there was some attraction in
amputating the nineteenth century from the syllabus, particularly if it
was to give place to what was indubitably a more scholatly pursuit in
Oxford’s eyes, the reading of Anglo-Saxon and Middle English. This is
perhaps why, though Tolkien’s proposal to finish the syllabus at 1830
was strongly resisted by many of the ‘literature’ dons, it was not
quashed, but became the subject of considerable argument in the English
Faculty during the months following Tolkien’s first meeting with
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Lewis; years, indeed, rather than months, for it was not until 1931 that
the issue was settled.

-

At first, Lewis was among the opponents of Tolkien’s proposals. But
soon he began to come round to Tolkien’s side in the English School
faction fight. This was due in the beginning to the Coalbiters.

Tolkien had decided to form a club among the dons to read Icelandic
sagas and myths. Among his proposals for syllabus reform was the
suggestion that Old Icelandic, also known as Old Norse, should be
given a more prominent place among early and medieval studies, at
least for the specialists; and he thought that the best way to proselytise
would be to show his colleagues how enjoyable the reading of Icelandic
can be. So the Coalbiters came into existence.

Their Icelandic name was Ko/bitar, a jesting term meaning ‘men who
lounge so close to the fire in winter that they bite the coal’. Tolkien
founded the club in the spring term of 1926. Its first members included
several men with a reasonable knowledge of Icelandic: R. M. Dawkins,
the Professor of Byzantine and Modern Greek; C. T. Onions of the
Dictionary; G. E. K. Braunholtz, the Professor of Comparative
Philology; and John Fraser, the Celtic Professor. But another founder-
member was Nevill Coghill, who knew no Icelandic; and soon he was
joined by others who were similarly ignorant and were merely enthu-
siastic beginners. These included John Bryson, the English tutor at
Balliol College; George Gordon, the Professor of English Literature
and later President of Magdalen (who had been Tolkien’s head of
department at Leeds); and two Magdalen dons, Bruce McFarlane, the
historian, and C. S. Lewis.

The suggestion that Lewis be invited to join may have come from
John Bryson, a fellow Ulsterman, or from George Gordon, who had
taught Lewis as an undergraduate and had been influential in getting
him the Magdalen fellowship (Gordon was a great intriguer and cam-
paigner: he had also had a hand in Tolkien’s election as Professor of
Anglo-Saxon). Or maybe it was Tolkien himself who discovered that
Lewis was keen to join the club. At all events by January 1927 Lewis
was attending the Ko/bitar, and was finding it invigorating.

Like Coghill and several of the others he could not, when he first
joined, read more than a few words of Icelandic without a dictionary.
But this did not matter. During the evening, those present would take
turns to translate from the text they were reading. Tolkien, who was
of course expert in the language and knew the text well, would im-
provise a perfect translation of perhaps a dozen pages. Then Dawkins
and others who had a working knowledge of Icelandic would translate
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perhaps a page each. Then the beginners — Lewis, Coghill, Bryson and
the others — would work their way through no more than a paragraph \
or two, and might have to call on Tolkien for help in a difficult passage. ‘
The learners certainly found it hard going; as John Bryson remarked,
‘When we were enrolled we never realised that it was going to be such a
business.” He recalled that on one occasion ‘a certain scholar, who must
remain nameless, was actually caught using a printed “crib” under the
table as he translated his passage apparently impromptu. He was not
invited back again!’ But most of them took it seriously, especially
Lewis.

For someone who had been devoted to Norse myths and legends
since adolescence it was exhilarating to be reading them in the original
language. ‘Spent the morning partly on the Edda,” Lewis wrote in his
diary in February 1927: the Coalbiters were working their way through
the Younger Edda, which contains a version of the great Norse myths.
‘Hammered my way through a couple of pages in about an hour, but I
am making some headway. It is an exciting experience when I remember
my first passion for things Norse under the initiation of Longfellow.
It seemed impossible then that I should ever come to read these things
in the original. The old authentic thrill came back to me once or twice
this morning: the mere names of god and giant catching my eye as I
turned the pages of Zoega’s dictionary were enough.’

The Coalbiters met once every few weeks in term-time, progressing
through the sagas towards their eventual goal of the Elder Edda.
But not until three years had passed did Lewis begin to realise that the
thrill he received from Norse mythology was shared by Tolkien.

On 3 December 1929 Lewis wrote to Arthur Greeves: ‘One week I
was up till 2.30 on Monday, talking to the Anglc Saxon professor Tol-
kien, who came back with me to College from a society and sat dis-
coursing of the gods and giants of Asgard for three hours, then .
departing in the wind and rain — who could turn him out, for the fire '
was bright and the talk good.’ I

|

It was the beginning of a friendship: the moment, as Lewis once
remarked, when someone who has till then believed his feelings to be
unique cries out, ‘What? You too? I thought I was the only one.’

*

Tolkien entirely shared Lewis’s love for ‘Northernness’. He too had
first discovered the taste in childhood! when he found in a book of

! Tolkien was an orphan. His father had died when he was four and his mother
when he was twelve. For a brief summary of his early life see Appendix A. A full
account is given in the present writer’s J. R. R. Tolkien: a biography (1977).
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fairy stories the tale of Sigurd the Vélsung who slew the dragon Fafnir.
Reading it, the young Tolkien fell under the spell of what he called ‘the
nameless North’. He ‘desired dragons with a profound desire’. At
school in Birmingham he taught himself the Norse language and began
to read the myths and sagas in their original words. Like Lewis, he fell
under the spell of William Morris. And, just as Lewis during adolescence
had begun to write his own Norse-style poetry and drama, Tolkien at
about the age of eighteen conceived the idea of recreating the ‘Northern-
ness’ that delighted him by writing a cycle of myth and legend. But
it was a far more ambitious task than anything Lewis attempted, for
whereas Lewis had merely written a pastiche of existing Norse stories,
Tolkien began to create a whole new mythology out of his imagination.
And while Lewis soon passed on from his adolescent ‘Northern’
writings to other kinds of poetry, Tolkien continued to work
at his cycle year after year. It remained the centre of his imaginative
life.

During the First World War he began to write in prose form the tales
which were the principal elements of his cycle, and by the time he
moved from Leeds to Oxford in 1925 these tales had long since been
sketched out. But he did not organise them into an entirely continuous
or consistent narrative, partly because his attention was taken up with a
series of invented languages which were closely related to the myth-
ology, being spoken by ‘elvish’ peoples; in fact these languages and
the need to provide a ‘history’ for them had been a major motive for
beginning the whole project. Tolkien also delayed drawing up a
finished version of The Silmarillion, as he came to call his cycle, because
he wanted to recast two of the principal stories into verse. Like Lewis
he regarded himself chiefly as a poet. During his time at Leeds he began
to write two long narrative poems, one telling the story of Turin Turam-
bar the dragon-slayer and the other recounting the romantic tale of
Beren and Luthien, the mortal man and the elven maid whom he loves,
and for whose sake he goes on a terrible quest.

Tolkien kept this occupation a very private matter, rarely mentioning
it to anyone. In 1925 he did send parts of the two poems to a retired
schoolmaster who had once taught him, and he was disappointed when
they were criticised rather severely. For a long time afterwards he
consulted nobody

It was early in December 1929, a few days after their late-night
conversation about the Norse gods and giants, that he decided to show
the Beren and Luthien poem to Lewis. It was very long and still
unfinished; its title was “The Gest of Beren and Luthien’, and it was in
thyming couplets. Here is part of the description, in the version Tolkien
showed to Lewis, of the ‘elder days’ of the elven kingdom of Doriath:
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There once, and long and long ago,
before the sun and moon we know
were lit to sail above the world,

when first the shaggy woods unfurled,
and shadowy shapes did stare and roam
beneath the dark and starry dome

that hung above the dawn of Earth,
the silences with silver mirth

were shaken, and the rocks were ringing —
the birds of Melian were singing,

the first to sing in mortal lands.

On 7 December 1929 Lewis wrote to Tolkien:

My dear Tolkien,

Just a line to say that I sat up late last night and have read the gesze
as far as to where Beren and his gnomish allies defeat the patrol of the
orcs above the sources of the Narog and disguise themselves in the
reaf. I can quite honestly say that it is ages since I have had an evening
of such delight: and the personal interest of reading a friend’s work
had very little to do with it — I should have enjoyed it just as well if
I'd picked it up in a bookshop, by an unknown author. The two
things that come out clearly are the sense of reality in the background
and the mythical value: the essence of a myth being that it should
have no taint of allegory to the maker and yet should sxggest incipient
allegories to the reader. So much at the first flush. Detailed criticisms
(including grumbles at individual lines) will follow.

Yours,
C. S. Lewis.

When Lewis’s ‘detailed criticisms’ of the poem arrived, Tolkien found
that Lewis had, in jest, annotated its text as if it were a celebrated piece
of ancient literature, already heavily studied by scholars with such names
as ‘Pumpernickel’, ‘Peabody’, ‘Bentley’, and ‘Schick’; he alleged that
any weaknesses in Tolkien’s verses were the result of scribal errors or
corruptions in the manuscript. Sometimes Lewis actually suggested
entirely new passages to replace lines he thought poor, and here too he
ascribed his own versions to supposedly historical sources. For example,
he suggested that the lines about the ‘elder days’ quoted above could be
replaced by the following stanza of his own, which he described as ‘the
so called Poema Historiale, probably contemporary with the earliest MSS
of the geste’:
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There was a time before the ancient sun
And swinging wheels of heaven had learned to run
{ More certainly than dreams; for dreams themselves
! Had bodies then and filled the world with elves.
The starveling lusts whose walk is now confined
‘ To darkness and the cellarage of the mind,
And shudderings and despairs and shapes of sin
Then walked at large and were not cooped within.
Thought cast a shadow: brutes could speak: and men
Get children on a star. For spirit then
Threaded a fluid world and dreamed it new
Each moment. Nothing was false or new.

Lines like these showed how greatly Lewis’s poetic imagination differed
from Tolkien’s. Tolkien wrote unaffectedly and simply, sometimes
lapsing into slack diction or banality but often producing lines that were
terse and dramatic; his unadorned style showed no particular ‘influence’.
Lewis’s lines — and indeed all his poems — were more complex philo-
sophically and stylistically, and more sure in diction and metre, but they
often hovered on the borders of pastiche. Perhaps it was Lewis’s
| enormous knowledge of English poetry through the centuries that
encouraged him to copy earlier models rather than to find a style of
his own; at all events this fondness for pastiche was arguably the major
. reason why his poetry was in the end a failure.
| Tolkien did not agree with all Lewis’s emendations of his poem.
When Lewis suggested that Tolkien’s couplet ‘Hateful thou art, O Land
of Trees!/My flute shall fingers no more seize’ would be better as ‘Oh
hateful land of trees, be mute!/My fingers, now forget the flute’,
Tolkien scribbled in the margin, ‘Frightful 18th century!!!” Worse still,
where Tolkien’s lines describing the three great and sacred elvish
1 jewels had read ‘The peerless Silmarils; and three/alone he made’,
Lewis suggested that this would be better as “The Silmarils, the shiners
three’. Tolkien, upon reading this, contemptuously underlined the last
three words and scribbled a large exclamation mark beside them. But
he was greatly encouraged by Lewis’s enthusiasm, and took considerable
notice of his criticisms, marking for revision almost all the lines that
Lewis thought were inadequate, and in a few cases actually adopting
Lewis’s proposed emendations, including several whole lines. Eventu-
ally, indeed, he came to rewrite the whole poem, renaming it “The Lay
of Leithian’; though this was chiefly because of a wish to harmonise it
with later developments in The Silmarillion.
Tolkien now began to read more of The Si/marillion aloud to Lewis,
having noticed that he had a fondness for being read to. So Lewis was
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permitted to explore the vast imaginary terrain of ‘Middle-earth’, aided
by the maps Tolkien had drawn to accompany the stories. Lewis was
delighted, for Tolkien’s poems and prose tales reminded him in many
ways of the romantic writings of Malory and William Mortis in which
he and Arthur Greeves had revelled during adolescence. At the end of
January 1930 he wrote to Greeves: ‘T'olkien is the man I spoke of when
we were last together — the author of the voluminous metrical romances
and of the maps, companions to them, showing the mountains of Dread
and Nargothrond the City of the Orcs. In fact he 7s, in one part of him,
what we were.’

It was not a very accurate description of Tolkien’s work. The stories
were by no means all ‘romances’, and the majority were in prose and not
‘metrical’, while Nargothrond was a city not of orcs but of elves. Yet
if Lewis was not precise in these details he was as enthusiastic as
Tolkien could ever have hoped. And this enthusiasm proved to be
crucial. “The unpayable debt that I owe to him’, Tolkien wrote of Lewis
years later, ‘was not “influence’ as it is ordinarily understood, but sheer
encouragement. He was for long my only audience. Only from him did
I ever get the idea that my “‘stuff”’ could be more than a private hobby.’
His growing friendship with Lewis was also deeply important to him
for reasons quite apart from his literary work. His marriage, never easy,
had begun to go through a long period of extreme difficulty caused
largely by his wife’s resentment of his Roman Catholicism, and by other
factors that went back to the broken childhoods they had both endured
in Birmingham. By 1929 the Tolkiens were bringing up four children
at their north Oxford house, but this if anything increased rather than
lessened the strains of their marriage. It was thus with much feeling
that Tolkien wrote in his diary, ‘Friendship with Lewis compensates
for much.’
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The friendship was not quite so important to Lewis as it was to Tolkien.
Late in 1931 Lewis, writing to Arthur Greeves, described Tolkien
as ‘one of my friends of the second class’. In the first class, as
he explained in the same letter, were Greeves himself and Owen
Barfield.

To anycne studying Lewis’s life, Arthur Greeves is constantly present
in the background: a shadowy figure who actually played no part in
the action but was the constant recipient of confidences and reflections
from Lewis. There is in fact little to be said about him. His family were
neighbours of the Lewises in Belfast. Arthur himself was slightly older
than Jack Lewis but distinctly less mature: rather childlike, in fact,
brought up in perpetual anxiety about his health and, because of his poor
constitution and plentiful family funds, soon abandoning any attempt to
earn his living. He was so different from Lewis that the friendship seems
rather surprising, yet they corresponded regularly, Lewis using Greeves
as a mixture of father-confessor and spiritual pupil. With Arthur Greeves
he discussed, in adolescent days, questions relating to sex — Greeves later
scored out these passages in the letters — and to Greeves he was also
something like frank on the topic of Mrs Moore. In fact Greeves burnt
several pages which may have contained a full account of Lewis’s
relationship with her. On the other hand he often lectured Greeves on
weak spelling or poor morale, taking a condescending line with his
friend. It was altogether an odd and distinctly schoolboyish correspon-
dence.

Lewis’s friendship with Owen Barfield was of a very different nature,
for he regarded Barfield as in every way an intellectual equal and in some
respects superior to himself. Of smaller and lighter build than Lewis,
Barfield was lithe and nimble — he thought at one time of earning his
living as a dancer — and though almost equally adept at logical argument
he had none of Lewis’s rather heavy-handed dogmatism.

Lewis and Barfield often took holidays together, and from 1927
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onwards they went on a walking tour with a couple of friends almost
every spring.

*

It was an idyllic way to spend three or four days. Footpaths were plent-
iful, motor traffic rarely disturbed the quiet of the countryside, roads
were often unmetalled and comfortable to the feet, inns were numerous
and cheap, so that reservations for the night were not often necessary,
and pots of tea and even full meals could be bought in most villages
for the smallest sums. Much of rural England was in fact still as it had
been in the nineteenth century.

In April 1927 Lewis and Barfield, together with two friends from
undergraduate days, Cecil Harwood and W. O. Field (known as ‘Woff’
from his initials), walked along the Berkshire and Wiltshire downs,
through Marlborough and Devizes, and then across the edge of
Salisbury Plain to Warminster. A year later their walking tour was
across the Cotswolds, and in 1929 they made a four day journey from
Salisbury to Lyme Regis. But though the route was different every year
their habits were almost unvarying. They did not attempt to cover
vast distances each day, in the manner of fanatical hikers — Lewis said he
disliked the word ‘hiking’ because it was unnecessarily self-conscious
for something so simple as going for a walk — but they certainly set a
good pace, and would reckon to do perhaps twenty miles a day, maybe
a little more on easy country or rather less if the going was rough. Lewis
refused to allow the party to take packed meals, insisting on plenty of
stops at pubs. He and his friends always made a mid-morning halt for
beer or draught cider, and there was more beer at lunch time as an
accompaniment to bread and cheese. Lunch was always concluded by
a pot of tea, and more tea was drunk at an inn or cottage in mid-after-
noon. Indeed Lewis cared for his tea just as much as for his beer, if not
more so. Meals were simple but usually excellent. On Salisbury Plain
in 1929 they were ‘given tea by a postmistress, with boiled eggs and
bread and jam ad lib., for which she wanted to take only sixpence’, and
for supper that night at Warminster they had ‘ham and eggs, cider,
bread, cheese, marmalade and tea’.

Sometimes things went wrong. Of the Cotswolds trip in 1928 Lewis
reported to his brother: “This time we committed the folly of selecting
a billeting area for the night instead of one good town: i.e. we said
“Well here are four villages within a mile of one another and the map
marks an inn in each so we shall be sure to get somewhere.” Your
imagination can suggest what this results in by about eight o’clock of an
evening, after twenty miles of walking, when one is just turning away
from the first unsuccessful attempt and a thin cold rain is beginning to
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fall. Yet these hardships had their compensations: thin at the time, but
very rich in memory. One never knows the snugness and beauty of an
English village twilight so well as in the homelessness of such a moment:
when the lights are beginning to show up in the cottage windows and
one sees the natives clumping past to the pub - clouds meanwhile piling
up “to weather’” Our particular village was in a deep narrow valley
with woods all round it and a rushing stream that grew louder as the
night came on. Then comes the time when you have to strike a light
(with difficulties) in order to read the maps: and when the match fizzles
out, you realise for the first time how dark it really is: and as you go
away, the village fixes itself in your mind - for enjoyment ten, twenty,
or thirty years hence — as a place of impossible peace and dreaminess.’

Occasionally — very occasionally indeed — Lewis and his friends
would abandon a walk because of bad weather. But nothing short of a
continuous downpour would stop them. Lewis himself was particularly
determined to carry on through all but impossible conditions, main-
taining stoutly that every kind of weather has its attractions. On
Exmoor in 1930 the companions woke up in the morning to find a
thick fog. ‘Some of the others were inclined to swear at it,” wrote Lewis,
‘but I (and I soon converted Barfield) rejoiced to meet the moor at its
grimmest. In the afternoon the fog thickened but we continued in spite
of it to ascend Dunkery Beacon as we had originally intended. There
was of course not a particle of view to be seen.’

He was similarly determined to enjoy every kind of landscape,
however dull it might seem to other people. His brother Warnie recor-
ded of a journey they made near Plymouth in 1933: “We had a long,
tiresome, and very hot walk of about ten miles in hot sunken lanes, from
which one occasionally got a glimpse of a dull, commonplace country-
side, peppered with bungalows. J. and I argued briskly about the
country we had walked through, ]. contending that not to like any
sort of country argues a fault in oneself: which seems to me absurd.
He also said that my description of what we had seen — “lacking in
distinction” — was “almost blasphemous”. But I suspect that he was
talking for victory.’

There was a certain amount of this ‘talking for victory’ on the walking
holidays, for Lewis liked to argue with his companions as they walked.
They were all of them well matched. Lewis, writing to ‘Woff’ Field,
defined their characteristics as ‘Owen’s dark, labyrinthine pertinacious
arguments, my bow-wow dogmatism, Cecil’s unmoved tranquillity,
your needle-like or greyhound keenness’. But too much serious talk was
discouraged. One year when Lewis’s pupil Griffiths (later Dom Bede
Griffiths) joined them, he offended protocol by engaging Batfield in a
lengthy and profoundly serious theological battle. Equilibrium was
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badly upset, nor was it restored until the party had him cracking jokes
along with the rest of them. The kind of day they really liked was one
such as in Dorset when they ‘got through the serious arguments in the
ten miles before lunch and came down to mere fooling and school-boy
jokes as the shadows lengthened.’

Lewis and Barfield were at this time engaged in a battle of ideas.
Barfield had for several years been a disciple of Rudolf Steiner’s
Anthroposophy, a form of religious philosophy which offers a very
idiosyncratic account of the nature of the world and of the relationship
between God and Man.! Lewis was at first alarmed at his friend’s
enthusiasm for Steiner’s teachings, with their occasional use of the
word ‘occult’ and their inclusion of such doctrines.as a belief in reincar-
nation. But he discovered that at close quarters Anthroposophy radiated,
at least in his opinion, what he called ‘a re-assuring Germanic dullness
which would soon deter those who were looking for thrills’. However,
he was still disturbed that Barfield should adopt any kind of super-

11t is entirely unfair to Steiner and his followers to attempt to define Anthropo-
sophy in one paragraph. Nevertheless here is a brief and highly simplified outline of
its principal doctrines. (a) Human thought is part of a larger extrapersonal process.
“The idea which Plato conceived and the like idea which I conceive are not two
ideas. It is one and the same idea . . . In the higher sense Plato’s head and mine
interpenetrate each other; all heads interpenetrate which grasp one and the same
idea . ... and the heads all go to one and the same place in order to have this idea in
them’ (Rudolf Steiner, Mpystics of the Renaissance, New York, 1911, pp. 27-8).
(Compare Charles Williams’s ‘Co-inherence’ which has certain similarities.) (b)
The Darwinian view of physical evolution leading ultimately to human conscious-
ness is wrong. Consciousness has evolved in quite a different way, through identifi-
able stages: (i) ‘Original participation’ in which there was an extrasensory link
between man and the power that created him; (ii) the age of the ‘Intellectual soul’
(the Graeco-Roman period) in which conceptual thinking began and developed,
leading to the stage where human thought was completely subjective; (iii) the
age of the ‘Consciousness soul’, in which we still are at present; the human micro-
cosm is now completely cut off from the macrocosm; this may lead to a too literal
acceptance of the world as it appears to us, whereas what is needed is a movement
towards (iv) ‘Final participation’ in which man regains his at-one-ment with the
principle of creation, only now in full self-consciousness as a self-contained Ego.
(c) This ‘final participation’ is to be achieved by man becoming more fully aware
of the workings of the imagination — more specifically by turning his attention to
direct inspiration and inner revelation or intuition. (d) Anthroposophy does not of
itself demand any specific religious observances; Steiner interpreted Christianity
in his own fashion, but did not in any way deny its fundamental truth, and many
Anthroposophists are practising Christians of one denomination or another. For
further discussions of Steiner’s teaching see, of course, the works of Owen Barfield,
especially Romanticism Comes of Age and Saving the Appearances.
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naturalism, for he himself was trying to be utterly rational in his
philosophical outlook and to exclude any notion of the ‘other’ from
his view of the universe. He was prepared to admit the existence of the
imaginative thrill or romantic longing which he had experienced since
childhood, and which he called ‘Joy’; but he refused to admit that it had
anything to do with objective truth. He declared to Barfield: ‘Imagin-
ative vision cannot be invoked as a source of certainty — for any one
judgment against another.” In other words, it was splendid to have
sensations of delight when you saw a sunset or read a poem, but this
told you nothing objective about the world. The imaginative must be
kept strictly apart from the rational.

Barfield disagreed utterly. Besides following Steiner’s teachings, he
had for many years admired and studied Coleridge’s writings on the
Imagination; and he began to argue this point with Lewis, both on the
walking tours and in a correspondence that they soon named ‘The
Great War’. In particular, Barfield tried to persuade Lewis that purely
rational argument of the kind that he had used since he was tutored by
Kirkpatrick often depended on artificial terms and had little to do
with the actual business of life. Barfield also did his best to convince
Lewis that imagination and aesthetic experience did lead, if not auto-
matically to objective truth, then at least to a better understanding of
the world.

Lewis did not accept all Barfield’s points. But as a result of the
‘Great War’ he ceased to separate his emotional experiences from his
intellectual process, and came to regard ‘Joy’ and poetic vision, in
their way, as truthful as rational argument and objective fact.

*

If Greeves and Barfield were one degree higher than Tolkien in Lewis’s
hierarchy of friends, his brother Warnie was above even them.
| After leaving school, Warnie had become an army cadet, and served
in the Royal Army Service Corps for the entire First World War.
After the war he remained in the army as a regular officer, serving in
England and overseas, and using the Lewis family house in Belfast as a
home base — for like Jack he had remained unmarried. In 1929 their
father died, and the Belfast house was sold. As a result, Warnie needed
1 another home, especially as he was approaching his middle thirties and
planned to leave the army soon on retirement pay, which, together
with small private means, would be sufficient to keep him. Jack and
Mrs Moore invited him to make his home with them, and Warnie
accepted readily, though privately there were feelings of caution on
both sides. Warnie knew that ‘Minto’ could be very demanding, while
she and Jack felt in their turn that it was a sacrifice of their privacy.
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But the two brothers were chiefly delighted at the prospect of each
other’s company.

Warnie and Jack were fairly similar physically, both being heavily
built with broad faces, though Warnie was more thickset and was
tanned from his years abroad. They dressed similarly in baggy flannel
trousers and tweed jackets, and they shared a liking for pipe tobacco
and beer and country walks. Warnie’s formal education had stopped
far short of Jack’s, but he kept up his reading and was widely know-
ledgeable in English literature and even more so in French history,
particularly of the seventeenth century. In English literature he regarded
himself as a mere amateur, but his sheer enthusiasm, uncomplicated by
any preconceived notions of what he ought or ought not to like, made
him a discerning critic. Jack much appreciated this quality in his
brother. After receiving a letter from Warnie on service abroad,
enthusing about The Faerie Queene, he wrote to him: ‘I wonder can you
imagine how reassuring your bit about Spenser is to me who spend my
time trying to get unwilling hobble-de-hoys to read poetry at all?
One begins to wonder whether literature is not, after all, a failure.
Then comes your account of the Faerzie Queene on your office table,
and one remembers that all the professed “students of literature” don’t
matter a rap.” In the next few years Jack Lewis was to develop a
persona as the ‘plain man’ of literary criticism. Perhaps that role was
influenced by the unaffectedly ‘plain’ qualities of his brother’s taste.

Not that Warnie Lewis was in any sense intellectually crude. But there
was something ‘simple’ about him in the best and most positive sense
of the word. ‘Dear Warnie,” Jack remarked to Arthur Greeves, ‘he’s one
of the simplest souls I know in a way: certainly one of the best at getting
simple pleasures.’

It was largely this quality of getting the best out of ordinary life that
made Warnie Lewis a first-rate diarist. He kept a record of daily events
intermittently throughout his adult years. Here, for example, is his
entry for 21 December 1932, shortly after he had come from foreign
service and had at last retired from the army:

To-day, I got up early, and went to the hall door where I found The
Times containing the announcement which I have been dreaming
of for years — ‘Capt. W. H. Lewis retires on ret. pay (Dec. 21)’. And
so, after eighteen years, two months, and twenty days, my sentence
comes to an end, and I am able to say, like Wordsworth, that I have

shaken off
The heavy weight of many a weary day
Not mine, and such as were not made for me.
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But so far from grousing, I am deeply, and I hope devoutly thankful.
It has been a good bargain: how many men are there, who, before they
are forty, can struggle free, and begin the business of living ?

In 1930 the Lewis-Moore ménage moved to the Kilns, a house at
the foot of Shotover Hill not far outside Oxford city and on the edge
of the village of Headington Quarry. The house was named after the
brick kilns that stood nearby; the garden was the size of a small park,
with eight acres of land rising steeply up a wooded hillside, and broken
by a lake which could be used for bathing and even punting. Chiefly
thanks to funds from the sale of the Belfast house, the Lewis brothers
and Mrs Moore were able to raise the sum asked for the property, and
it became their home late in 1930. After settling in with Jack and ‘Minto’,
Warnie took stock of his new life, of the house in its idyllic setting, of
the undeniable domestic tensions, and also of the pleasant daily routine
that he envisaged. ‘I reviewed the pros and cons’, he wrote in his diary,
‘and came to the conclusion that on balance, I prefer the Kilns at its
worst to army life at its best: the only doubtful part being “Have I
seen the Kilns at its worst?”’

*

By the beginning of September 1931 eleven years had passed since Jack
Lewis had stopped being a dogmatic atheist.

As long ago as 1920 his study of philosophy had led him ‘to postulate
some sort of God as the least objectionable theory’, though he added,
‘of course we £now nothing’. The notion of an ultimate truth made sense
to him because, as he remarked in 1924 when commenting on Bertrand
Russell’s free-thinking idealism, ‘our ideas are after all a natural product’,
and there must be some objective standard, some ultimate fact to
explain them. On the other hand ‘God’ still seemed a crude and nursery-
like word, and for several years Lewis used other terms to describe his
notion of fundamental truth. During this time he was, like most of
those who studied philosophy at Oxford in the early nineteen-twenties,
still accepting the work of Hegel and his disciples, and as a result he
chose Hegelian expressions such as ‘the Absolute Mind’ or just ‘the
Absolute’.

But when he spent the year 1924-5 teaching Philosophy at University
College he discovered that this ‘watered Hegelianism’ was inadequate
for tutorial purposes. The notion of an unspecified Absolute simply
could not be made clear to his pupils. So he resorted to referring to
fundamental truth as ‘the Spirit’, distinguishing this (though not really
explaining how) from ‘the God of popular religion’, and emphasising
that there was no possibility of being in a personal relationship with this
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Spirit. Meanwhile he adopted a benevolent but condescending attitude
to Christianity, which he said was a myth conveying as much of the
truth as simple minds could grasp.

This was all very well, but among those ‘simple minds’ were men
whose thinking he profoundly admired in other respects: Malory,
Spenser, Milton, Donne and Herbert, Johnson, and the author whose
romance Phantastes he had discovered in adolescence, George Mac-
Donald. It was annoying to love the writings of these men without being
able to accept the central premise of their thought, Christianity. More-
over, many of his friends were Christians. Tolkien was a Catholic, and
Greeves and Coghill were Anglicans, while Barfield, though an Anthro-
posophist, accepted the principal ideas of Christianity. So, in the com-
pany of those whom he most liked, Lewis was the outsider.

His ideas changed again when, as a result of their ‘Great War’,
Barfield managed to persuade him to accept the experience of ‘Joy’ as
relevant to his thinking, and not to dismiss it as merely subjective
emotional sensation. ‘Joy was not a deception,” he now decided. ‘Its
visitations were rather the moments of clearest consciousness we had.’

He was going through this stage during 1926 and 1927, and the
admission of something as irrational as Joy into his ruthlessly logical
thinking threw him into confusion. ‘All my ideas are in a crumbling
state at present,” he wrote in his diary in May 1926. He realised that he
had let his rational side dominate his emotions too long, remarking in
the diary, ‘One needn’t be asking questions and giving judgments a//
the time.” But while this realisation was refreshing, he recorded (in
January 1927) that he was frightened of what he called ‘the danger of
falling back into the most childish superstitions’, by which he presum-
ably meant belief in God and Christianity. He still had immense
resistance to the idea of returning to anything so nursery-like.

Three weeks after this he stopped keeping a diary and never resumed,
declaring that it was a foolish waste of time. It was also perhaps because
he was unwilling to make public (he often read his diary to Mrs Moore
and showed it to Warnie, so it was really a public document) the
sensations of the supernatural which he was now experiencing; for he
had begun to feel that it was not he himself who was taking the initiative
but something outside him. As he expressed it to Owen Barfield, the
‘Spirit’ was ‘showing an alarming tendency to become much more
personal and is taking the offensive’. One day while going up Heading-
ton Hill on a bus he ‘became aware that I was holding something at
bay, or shutting something out’. There was a choice to open the door or
keep it shut. Next moment he found that he had chosen to open it. From
this, which happened in 1927 or 1928, it was only a matter of time before
he ‘admitted that God was God’, a step that he finally took in the
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summer of 1929. It was then that he ‘gave in and knelt and prayed’. But
even so he had done no more than accept Theism, a simple belief in God.
He was not able to perceive the relevance of Christ’s death and resur-
rection, and he told a friend, Jenkin: ‘My outlook is now definitely
religious. It is not precisely Christianity, though it may turn out that
way in the end.’

*

Apart from the last stage, when he had admitted some kind of super-
natural experience, Lewis had reached this position entirely through
logical argument. Even his acceptance of ‘Joy’ as a factor had only been
conceded after elaborate reasoning by Barfield. But now he began to
realise that reasoning would not take him any further. The acceptance
of God did not lead him automatically to the acceptance of Christianity.
He was becoming certain that he wanted to accept it: he examined other
religions, but found none that was acceptable; meanwhile his present
state of simple Theism was inadequate. On the other hand he did not
know how he could argue himself into specifically Christian beliefs.
Even if he were to accept the historicity of the Christian story — and he
could see no particular barrier to it — he could not understand how the
death and resurrection of Christ were relevant to humanity.

*

By the time that Lewis had come to believe in God (but not yet in
Christ), Owen Barfield had done something for him that would later
bear fruit. He had shown Lewis that Myth has a central place in the
whole of language and literature.

Barfield’s arguments were printed in Poetic Diction, a short book by
him that appeared in 1928 — though by that time Lewis knew its ideas
well. Barfield examined the history of words, and came to the conclusion
that mythology, far from being (as the philologist Max Miiller called it)
‘a disease of language’, is closely associated with the very origin of all
speech and literature. In the dawn of language, said Barfield, speakers
did not make a distinction between the ‘literal’ and the ‘metaphorical’,
but used words in what might be called a ‘mythological’ manner. For
example, nowadays when we translate the Latin spiritus we have to
render it either as ‘spirit” or as ‘breath’ or as ‘wind’ depending on the
context. But early users of language would not have made any such
distinction between these meanings. To them a word like spiritus
meant something like ‘spirit-breath-wind’. When the wind blew, it was
not merely ‘like’ someone breathing: it was the breath of a god. And
when an early speaker talked about his soul as spiritus he did not merely
mean that it was ‘like’ a breath: it was to him just that, the breath of life.
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Mythological stories were simply the same thing in narrative form. In
a world where every word carried some implication of the animate, and
where nothing could be purely ‘abstract’ or “‘literal’, it was natural
to tell tales about the gods who ruled the elements and walked the
earth. '

This, in greatly simplified form, is what Barfield argued in Poetic
Diction. He was not the only person to come to this conclusion: for
example in Germany, Ernst Cassirer had said much the same thing
independently. But it was said with particular force by Barfield, and his
book impressed not just Lewis but also Tolkien. Not long after the
book’s publication, Lewis reported to Barfield: “You might like to know
that when Tolkien dined with me the other night he said 4 propos of
something quite different that your conception of the ancient semantic
unity had modified his whole outlook and that he was always just going
to say something in a lecture when your conception stopped him in time.
“It is one of those things,” he said “that when you’ve once seen it there
are all sorts of things you can never say again.” > Perhaps it was as a
result of reading Barfield’s book that Tolkien made an inversion of
Miiller’s remark. ‘Languages’, he declared, ‘are a disease of mythology.’

So it was that by 1931 Lewis had come to understand that mythology
has an important position in the history of thinking. It was a realisation
that helped him across his last philosophical hurdle.

*

On Saturday 19 September 1931 Lewis invited two friends to dine with
him in Magdalen. One was Tolkien. The other was Hugo Dyson.

Henry Victor Dyson Dyson, always known as ‘Hugo’, lectured in
English Literature at Reading University. He was a couple of years older
than Lewis. He had been severely wounded in the First World War, had
read English at Oxford, and was a practising member of the Church of
England. He was also exuberant and witty. Lewis had been introduced
to him in July 1930 by Nevill Coghill, and ‘liked him so much that I
determined to get to know him better’. On further acquaintance he
found Dyson to be ‘a man who really loves truth: a philosopher and a
religious man; who makes his critical and literary activities depend on
the former — none of your dammed dilettanti’.

On this Saturday night in 1931, after they had dined, Lewis took his
guests on a walk through the Magdalen grounds. They strolled along
Addison’s Walk (the path which runs beside several streams of
the River Cherwell) and here they began to discuss metaphor and
myth.

Lewis had never underestimated the power of myth. Far from it, for
one of his earliest loves had been the Norse myth of the dying god
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Balder. Now, Barfield had shown him the crucial role that mythology
had played in the history of language and literature. But he still did not
believe in the myths that delighted him. Beautiful and moving though
such stories might be, they were (he said) ultimately untrue. As he
expressed it to Tolkien, myths are ‘lies and therefore worthless, even
though breathed through silver’.

No, said Tolkien. They are not lies.

Just then (Lewis afterwards recalled) there was ‘a rush of wind which
came so suddenly on the still, warm evening and sent so many leaves
pattering down that we thought it was raining. We held our breath.’

When Tolkien resumed, he took his argument from the very thing
that they were watching.

You look at trees, he said, and call them ‘trees’, and probably you do
not think twice about the word. You call a star a ‘star’, and think nothing
more of it. But you must remember that these words, ‘tree’, ‘star’, were
(in their original forms) names given to these objects by people with
very different views from yours. To you, a tree is simply a vegetable
organism, and a star simply a ball of inanimate matter moving along a
mathematical course. But the first men to talk of ‘trees’ and ‘stars’ saw
things very differently. To them, the world was alive with mythological
beings. They saw the stars as living silver, bursting into flame in answer
to the eternal music. They saw the sky as a jewelled tent, and the earth
as the womb whence all living things have come. To them, the whole
of creation was ‘myth-woven and elf-patterned’.

This was not a new notion to Lewis, for Tolkien was, in his own
manner, expressing what Barfield had said in Poetic Diction. Not, said
Lewis, did it effectively answer his point that myths are lies.

But, replied Tolkien, man is not ultimately a liar. He may pervert his
thoughts into lies, but he comes from God, and it is from God that he
draws his ultimate ideals. Lewis agreed: he had, indeed, accepted some-
thing like this notion for many years. Therefore, Tolkien continued, not
merely the abstract thoughts of man but also his imaginative inventions
must originate with God, and must in consequence reflect something
of eternal truth. In making a myth, in practising ‘mythopoeia’ and
peopling the world with elves and dragons and goblins, a storyteller,
or ‘sub-creator’ as Tolkien liked to call such a person,! is actually
fulfilling God’s purpose, and reflecting a splintered fragment of the
true light. Pagan myths are therefore never just ‘lies’: there is always
something of the truth in them.

! ‘Sub-creator’ in that he is under God, the prime Creator. For Tolkien’s exposi-
tion of this term, and for a full account of his views about the truth of myth, see his
essay ‘On Fairy-Stories’, which is printed in Essays Presented to Charles Williams (ed.
C. S. Lewis) and in Tolkien’s own Tree and Leaf.
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They talked on, until Lewis was convinced by the force of Tolkien’s
argument. But he had another question to put to his friends, and as it
was late they decided to go indoors to Lewis’s rooms on Staircase III of
New Buildings. There, he recorded, ‘we continued on Christianity’.

*

Lewis had a particular reason for holding back from Christianity. He
did not think it was necessarily untrue: indeed he had examined the
historicity of the Gospels, and had come to the conclusion that he was
‘nearly certain that it really happened’. What was still preventing him
from becoming a Christian was the fact that he found it irrelevant.

As he himself put it, he could not see ‘how the life and death of
Someone Else (whoever he was) two thousand years ago could help us
here and now — except in so far as his example could help us’. And he
knew that Christ’s example as a man and a teacher was not the centre of
the Christian story. ‘Right in the centre,” he said, ‘in the Gospels and in
St Paul, you keep on getting something quite different and very
mysterious, expressed in those phrases I have so often ridiculed -
“propitiation” — ““sacrifice” — ““the blood of the Lamb””.” He had ridiculed
them because they seemed not only silly and shocking but meaningless.
What was the point of it all? How could the death and resurrection
of Christ have ‘saved the world’?

Tolkien answered him immediately. Indeed, he said, the solution was
actually a development of what he had been saying earlier. Had he not
shown how pagan myths were, in fact, God expressing himself through
the minds of poets, and using the images of their ‘mythopoeia’ to express
fragments of his eternal truth? Well then, Christianity (he said) is
exactly the same thing — with the enormous difference that the poet who
invented it was God Himself, and the images He used were real men
and actual history.

Do you mean, asked Lewis, that the death and resurrection of Christ
is the old ‘dying god’ story all over again?

Yes, Tolkien answered, except that here is a rea/ Dying God, with a
precise location in history and definite historical consequences. The old
myth has become a fact. But it still retains the character of a myth. So
that in asking what it ‘meant’, Lewis was really being rather absurd. Did
he ask what the story of Balder or Adonis or any of the other dying gods
in pagan myth ‘meant’? No, of course not. He enjoyed these stories,
‘tasted’ them, and got something from them that he could not get from
abstract argument. Could he not transfer that attitude, that appreciation
of story, to the life and death of Christ? Could he not treat it as a stoty,
be fully aware that he could draw nourishment from it which he could
never find in a list of abstract truths ? Could he not realise that it is a
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Actually it was not quite so easy or so sudden as that. Arthur Greeves
wrote to Lewis saying he was delighted that his friend had at last
accepted Christianity. After reading this letter from Greeves, Lewis
began to feel that ‘perhaps I had said too much’. He told Greeves
cautiously: ‘Perhaps I was not nearly as clear on the subject as I had
led you to think. But I certainly have moved # bi¢, even if it tutns out
to be a less bit than I thought.’

He had in fact reached the point where rational argument failed, and
it became a matter of belief rather than of logical proof. Tolkien and
Dyson’s argument about Christianity as ‘a true myth which is never-
theless 2 myth’ had a lot of imaginative force, but it was a questionable
proposition in terms of strict logic.

Lewis could not go on thinking it over for ever. He realised that some
sort of ‘leap of faith’ was necessary to get him over the final hurdle.
“There must’, he said, ‘perhaps always be just enough lack of demon-
strative certainty to make free choice possible, for what could we do
but accept if the faith were like the multiplication table ?’

So he became a Christian. He made his Communion for the first time
since childhood days on Christmas Day 1931, in his parish church at
Headington Quarry. But he did not forget to maintain in his mind the
distinction between the two questions: the existence of God, which he
believed he could prove by logical argument, and the truth of Chris-
tianity, which he realised was not subject to rational proof. Indeed his
doubts about the Christian story never entirely ceased. There were, he
remarked, many moments at which he felt ‘How could I — I of all
people — ever have come to believe this cock and bull story ?* But this,
he felt, was better than the error of taking it all for granted. Nor was he
utterly alarmed at the notion that Christianity might after all be untrue.
‘Even assuming (which I most constantly deny)’, he said, ‘that the
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doctrines of historic Christianity are merely mythical, it is the myth
which is the vital and nourishing element in the whole concern.!

*

One reason for Lewis’s holding back from conversion for so long was
his inability to find the Gospel story attractive. It evoked none of the
imaginative response that was aroused in him by pagan myths. As he
told Greeves, ‘the spontaneous appeal of the Christian story is so much
less to me than that of Paganism’. This was perhaps one reason why
he now began to create his own fictional setting for Christianity.

He had already made two attempts to write an account of his con-
version. The first, in prose, had been begun while he was a Theist but
not yet a Christian, and it was soon abandoned. In the spring of 1932,
shortly after returning to the practice of Christianity, he tried again,
this time in verse. But again he quickly abandoned the project. Then,
in August of the same year, he suddenly found the right method.

He had been at work for some time on a projected book about the
allegorical love-poetry of the Middle Ages, and in consequence he had
made a thorough study of the workings of allegory. Though Bunyan’s
Pilgrim’s Progress was outside the scope of his project, he had known
and loved it since childhood, and now its example rose before him.
While staying with Arthur Greeves in Belfast he began to write what
he called The Pilgrim’s Regress: An Allegorical Apology for Christianity,
Reason, and Romanticism. As he himself said of Bunyan’s book, ‘Now,
as never before, the whole man was engaged’. In a fortnight this witty
and often moving allegory of a modern pilgrim’s journey to Christianity
was finished.

The writing of stories in prose came almost incredibly easy to Lewis.
‘It’s such fun after sweating over verse,” he said, ‘like free-wheeling.’
He worked fast, managed to write almost everything in one draft, and
never made more than minimal revisions. This was in marked contrast
to Tolkien who, though he wrote fast, took endless pains over revision

! For a full exposition of Lewis’s views on the Christian story as myth-that-is-true,
see his article ‘Myth became Fact’, printed in the collection of his essays entitled
Undeceptions, which is known in America as God in the Dock. Owen Barfield remarks,
in a letter to the present writer: “The proposition, that in the Incarnation and
Resurrection, “myth became fact”, is simply taken for granted by every Anthropo-
sophist, and had been so for years before Lewis’s essay. It would be an accurate
sub-title for Rudolf Steiner’s book Christianity as Mythical Fact, published in
German in 1902.”

G. K. Chesterton expounds the view that pagan mythologies express in crude form
some fragment of divine truth in the fifth chapter of The Everlasting Man. Austin
Farrer explores the notion of Christianity as a ‘true myth’ in his essay ‘Can Myth be
Fact ?’, printed in Interpretation and Belief (1976).
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and regarded it as a continuing process that was not necessarily com-
plete when the book was published. The two men were also very
different in their attitudes to the manuscripts of their work. Tolkien
invariably kept all his drafts and his notes; Lewis just as invariably
tore his up as soon as the book reached print. He also tore up other
people’s. Tolkien recalled: ‘He was indeed accustomed at intervals to
throw away papers and books — and at such times he destroyed those
that belonged to other people. He “lost” not only official documents
sent to him by me, but sole MSS. of at least two stories.’

The most important fact about The Pilgrin’’s Regress is one that can
easily be missed because it is so obvious. Less than a year after he had
become a Christian, Lewis already felt capable of telling other people
about his own experiences, capable of being an ‘apologist’, a defender
of Christianity by argument. There was to be no novitiate, no period
in which he would wait for his understanding of his religion to mature
and deepen. He must begin right away. ;

Nor was the book just to be a defence of Christianity. In it he also
championed the two things which he believed had helped him along
the road to belief: Reason, and ‘Romanticism’, by which he specifically
meant the search for ‘Joy’. And in defending these two things he
launched, in The Pilgrim’s Regress, a forceful and often bitter attack
against almost every other form of thinking current in his time. For
in describing the snares which the pilgrim encounters on his journey,
Lewis enumerates not only traditional intellectual or emotional dangers
(Ignorantia, Superbia, Orgiastica, Occultica, and so on) but also brings
more contemporary enemies into the tale. At least, to him they were
enemies.

Lewis had conceived a profound dislike not merely for T. S. Eliot’s
poetry but for the whole modernist movement in the arts. In The
Pilgrint’s Regress his hero lands in the middle of ‘the Clevers’, allegorical
figures representing what Lewis thought were the objectionable features
of the nineteen-twenties art forms. In a later edition of the book he
added running headlines identifying the various members of the Clevers
as “The poetry of the Silly Twenties’, “The swamp-literature of the Dirty
Twenties’, and “The gibberish-literature of the Lunatic T'wenties’. And
it is not only the arts that come under attack in the book. Freudianism
and Marxism are among the many other dangers that the pilgrim en-
counters, and Lewis’s feelings towards the whole era are summed up
at the moment in the story when Reason attacks and slays the Zeifgeist
or Spirit of the Age.

After the pilgrim has escaped from ‘darkest Zeitgeistheim’ he spends
the night at the house of ‘Mr Sensible’, a learned but utterly shallow
dilettante who undoubtedly represents Lewis’s view of many of his
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3 (a) J.R. R. Tolkien, circa 1935.

3 (b) C.S. Lewis, circa 1935.
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Oxford colleagues — well-read men, able to produce witty aphorisms
for every occasion, but adhering to no religion or philosophy and living
a shallow life; the kind of man in fact that Lewis was thinking of when
he said that, in contrast, Hugo Dyson was ‘none of your damned
dilettanti’. Then, from the house of Mr Sensible, the pilgrim John
journeys into sterner regions of the mind; and here the book launches
an attack on another of Lewis’s enemies.

Sheltering in a hut and attempting to survive by extreme asceticism
are three Pale Men, ‘Humanist’, ‘Neo-Classical’, and ‘Neo-Angular’.
The first two profess no religion, but Neo-Angular is a believer in ‘the
Landlord’, the figure that stands for God in the allegory. His practice
of religion, however, is a very different thing from the orthodoxy which
John eventually embraces. My ethics are based on dogma, not on feel-
ing,’ he tells John, and he disapproves of John’s search for ‘the Island’,
the allegorical representation of ‘Joy’, telling him that it is the wrong
reason for the pilgrimage. He also declares that John should not speak
directly to ‘Mother Kirk’ (the Church) but should ‘learn from your
superiors the dogmata in which her deliverances have been codified for
general use’. Lewis explained this part of the allegory in a letter to a
friend: “What I am attacking in Neo-Angular is a set of people who
seem to me to be trying to make of Christianity itself one more high-
brow, Chelsea, bourgeois-baiting fad. T. S. Eliot is the single man who
sums up the thing I am fighting against.”

Eliot’s conversion to Christianity had by this time become a matter
of public knowledge, but it had not endeared him to Lewis, who felt
that Eliot’s form of religion was ‘High and Dry’, not merely sectarian
in its Anglo-Catholicism but also emotionally barren and counter-

.romantic. So in The Pilgrim’s Regress a character dismisses the fact that

Neo-Angular is a Christian by suggesting that he may be only ‘poacher
turned gamekeeper’.

The book’s title is explained in the last section. John the pilgrim,
after crossing by Mother Kirk’s aid the chasm of original sin, has no
sooner become regenerate as a Christian than he is told to retrace his
steps. This he does, passing once more through the regions of the mind
and seeing them for the delusions they really were. He comes at last
to his childhood home of Puritania, and it is from the gate of his parents’
cottage that he finally climbs the foothills towards the mountain where
stands the Landlord’s Castle, the City of God. He has come at last to
true ‘Joy’, and has found it in — of all places - the religion of his
childhood.

This element of revisiting childhood, combined with the attack on
contemporary ideas, did not escape the notice of the critics. “Though
Mr Lewis’s parable claims to reassert romanticism,” remarked The Times
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Literary Supplement reviewer when the story was published in 1933, ‘it
is the romanticism of homesickness for the past, not of adventure
towards the future, a “Regress” as he candidly avows.’

Among Lewis’s friends there was one who gradually began to think
that the book’s title was particularly significant, though in rather a
different way. Tolkien admired The Pilgrim’s Regress, but many years
later he wrote of it: ‘It was not for some time that I realized that there
was more in the title Pilgriw’s Regress than I had understood (or the
author either, maybe). Lewis would regress. He would not re-enter
Christianity by a new door, but by the old one: at least in the sense that
in taking it up again he would also take up, or reawaken, the prejudices
so sedulously planted in boyhood. He would become again a Northern
Ireland protestant.’

*

Was Lewis an Ulster Protestant? In Sarprised by Joy he denies that he
had been brought up in any particularly puritanical form of religion,
and he was very angry when a Catholic publisher who reissued The
Pilgrin’s Regress identified ‘Puritania’ with Ulster. “My father’, declared
Lewis, ‘was, by nineteenth-century and Church of Ireland standards,
rather “high”.” However, his diary of life at Wynyard School, written
when he was ten years old, gives a rather different impression:

We were obliged to go to St John’s (Watford), a church which
wanted to be Roman Catholic, but was afraid to say so. A kind of
church abhorred by respectful [sic] Irish Protestants. In this abomin-
able place of Romish hypocrites and English liars, the people cross
themselves, bow to the Lord’s Table (which they have the vanity to
call an altar), and pray to the Virgin.

Twenty-two years later when Lewis resumed the practice of religion
he was still rather evangelical in his approach, making his Communion
only at major festivals and generally preferring to attend Matins. After
a time he increased his frequency of Communion to monthly intervals.
Eventually he adopted the habit of communicating weekly and on
major saints’ days. Indeed as the years passed he became distinctly more
‘Catholic’ in his practices. He began to make regular confessions, and
came to believe in the importance of prayers for departed souls. Yet
these things did not play a large part in his religious thought, or at least
not in his Christian writings, where he rarely discussed them. Indeed, he
tried to avoid anything that would classify him as ‘Anglo-Catholic’ or
‘Evangelical’. He hated such terms and maintained that to say that you
were High Church or Low Church was to be wickedly schismatical.
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For him, the real distinction lay elsewhere, not between High and
Low at all but between religious belief that was orthodox and super-
natural on the one hand, and ‘liberal’ and ‘demythologised’ on the other.
He had been on a long journey before he arrived at Christianity, and
now that he had arrived he was determined to accept the traditional
doctrines of the Church; he wanted not to argue about them or to re-
interpret them but to defend them. As a result he was highly critical
of the ‘broad church’ as he called it, the liberalism which he believed
to be the canker in modern Christianity. Among the targets for attack
in The Pilgrim’s Regress is ‘Mr Broad’, who though a ‘Steward’ (a clergy-
man) doubts the necessity of actual conversion. ‘I wouldn’t for the
world hold you back,’ he tells John. ‘At the same time there is a very
real danger at your age of trying to make these things too definite.
These great truths need reinterpretation in every age.” Lewis thought
he saw this attitude growing in the contemporary church, and he took
a stand firmly in opposition. For him, the great truths did 7o# need re-
interpretation. They needed to be championed, to be defended as much
against ‘liberalisers’ as against unbelievers. In this attitude he was in
agreement with two ultra-orthodox defenders of the faith, G. K.
Chesterton, whose apologetic writings had been an influence on him
during his conversion, and Tolkien.

Tolkien was a devout Roman Catholic. He had hoped that Lewis
too might become a Catholic, and he was disappointed that he had
returned to membership of the Church of England (the equivalent of
the Church of Ireland in which Lewis had been baptised). Tolkien was
strongly unsympathetic towards the Church of England, not least
because during his childhood his own mother, a Catholic convert, had
‘been treated harshly by relatives who belonged to it — indeed he be-
lieved that this ‘persecution’ had hastened her death. As a result he was
particularly sensitive to any shade of anti-Catholic prejudice.

Unfortunately Lewis retained more than a trace of the Belfast
Protestant attitude to Catholics. In unguarded moments he and his
brother Warnie might refer to Irish Catholics as ‘bog-trotters’ or ‘bog-
rats’, and, though they usually avoided such crude remarks in Tolkien’s
presence, there were moments of tension. ‘We were coming down the
steps from Magdalen hall,” Tolkien recalled, ‘long ago in the days of
1 our unclouded association, before there was anything, as it seemed,

that must be withheld or passed over in silence. I said that I had a special
devotion to St John. Lewis stiffened, his head went back, and he said
in the brusque harsh tones which I was later to hear him use again
when dismissing something he disapproved of: “I can’t imagine any
two persons more dissimilar.” We stumped along the cloisters, and 1
followed feeling like a shabby little Catholic caught by the eye of an
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“Evangelical clergyman of good family”? taking holy water at the door
of a church. A door had slammed. Never now should I be able to say
in his presence:

Bot Crystes mersy and Mary and Jon,
Thise arn the grounde of alle my blysse

— The Pearl, 383-4; a poem that Lewis disliked? — and suppose that I
was sharing anything of my vision of a great rood-screen through which
one could see the Holy of Holies.’

Tolkien wrote this thirty years later, when other events had soured
his recollections. In the early days of the friendship such moments were
rare, and for the most part he was profoundly grateful for Lewis’s
conversion. In October 1933 he wrote in his diary that friendship with
Lewis, ‘besides giving constant pleasure and comfort, has done me
much good from the contact with a2 man at once honest, brave, in-
tellectual — a scholar, a poet, and a philosopher - and a lover, at least
after a long pilgrimage, of Our Lord’.

*

‘On Saturday last, I started to say my prayers again after having dis-
continued doing so for more years than I care to remember: this was
no sudden impulse, but the result of a conviction of the truth of
Christianity which has been growing on me for a considerable time.’

This was written not by Jack Lewis but by his brother Warnie.
During the months when Jack was returning to Christianity, Warnie
too was resuming the religious beliefs and practices of his childhood.
Like Jack he had in boyhood drifted away from the Church. Now in
1931 his return to Christianity was different in manner from his
brother’s. He indulged in few philosophical speculations, merely
recording in his diary that his new-found belief was ‘a conviction for
which I admit I should be hard put to find a logical proof, but which
rests on the inherent improbability of the whole of existence being ,
fortuitous, and the inability of the materialists to provide any convinc- '
ing explanation of the origin of life’.

While he was at home at the Kilns early in 1931, Warnie went to
Matins at the local church with Jack. But the brothers scarcely discussed
their changing views, and soon afterwards Warnie was posted to

! Lewis’s own term (intended a little sarcastically) for his own grandfather, in
Letters to Malcolm, Chiefly on Prayer, Chapter 2. It ought to be added that in the next
chapter of that book Lewis says that.he has no objection to devotions to saints,
though he adds ‘I am not thinking of adopting the practice myself.’

2 But Lewis does quote from The Pear/ at the head of Chapter 8 of Surprised by Joy.
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Shanghai for his final months of army service. It was there, and without
any knowledge that his brother was doing the same, that he made his
Communion for the first time for many years on Christmas Day 1931.
A few weeks later a letter from Jack reported that he too had made his
Communion on that day. ‘I am delighted,” Warnie wrote in his diary.
‘Had he not done so I, with my altered views, would have found —
hardly a barrier between us, but a lack of complete identity of interest
which I should have regretted.” Jack, when he learnt of Warnie’s full
return to Christianity, made the same comment: ‘What a mercy that the
change in his views (I mean as regards religion) should have happened
in time to meet mine — it would be awkward if one of us were still in
the old state of mind.’

The brothers’ new ‘identity of interest’ was reflected when, after
Warnie’s retirement from the army and his return to the Kilns as a
permanent member of the household, the two of them almost im-
mediately set off on a walking tour, their first together, up the Wye
Valley. Warnie, despite his army training, was nervous about carrying
a heavy pack for twenty miles or more a day, but he was soon being
pleasantly surprised at the ease of it all, and at the end of their journey
he judged it to be one of the best holidays he had ever had. This was in
January 1933, and for many years afterwards a January walking tour
was a regular fixture for the two brothers, quite independent of Jack’s
annual walk with Barfield and the other friends of that set, which usually
took place just after Easter. Warnie and Jack were at their happiest on
these walks, talking about anything from beer to theology. ‘We dis-
cussed’, Warnie noted in January 1935 when he and Jack were walking
in the Chilterns, ‘how useful it would be if there were a beer map of
‘England, showing the areas controlled by each Beer Baron.” Another
day they argued about the nature of personal immortality. Warnie was
less well-read than Jack, but with his speculative imagination and his
common sense he was an excellent companion for his brother.

At home too they spent a lot of time together. In term, Jack now
slept in his college rooms, partly so that he could go to chapel early
in the morning and begin work immediately after breakfast. (Mrs
Moore declared herself to be an atheist and was inclined to mock at the
brothers’ return to Christianity.) But in the afternoons Jack came out
to the Kilns, where he and Warnie took the family dogs for a walk, or
worked in the garden, rebuilding paths and planting saplings, which
they called ‘public works”. Warnie had a bedroom at the Kilns, but he
kept most of his books in Magdalen, in one of his brother’s two sitting-
rooms; and he usually spent the morning there, sorting out and typing
transcripts of the Lewis family papers, a task that took him several years.
In fact it became his chief occupation, for his army pension together
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with small private means meant that he did not need to take a paid job.
He was able to spend much of his time going to concerts, and reading,
which he did a great deal. He also got to know Jack’s friends when
they dropped in at Magdalen.

He was typing one morning in February 1933 when (he wrote in his
diary) ‘in came J’s friend Dyson from Reading — a man who gives the
impression of being made of quick silver: he pours himself into a room
on a cataract of words and gestures, and you are caught up in the
stream — but after the first plunge, it is exhilarating. I was swept along
by him to the Mitre Tap in the Turl (a distinct discovery this, by the
way) where we had two glasses of Bristol Milk apiece and discussed
China, Japan, staff officers, Dickens, house property as an investment,
and, most utterly unexpected, “Your favourite reading’s Orlando
Farioso isn’t it?” (deprecatory gesture as I got ready to deny this).
“Sorry! Sorry! my mistake.” As we left the pub, a boy came into the
yard and fell on the cobbles. Dyson (appealingly): “Don’t do that my
boy: it hurts you and distresses us.””’

Hugo Dyson, on his visits to Oxford from Reading, became a
frequent and most welcome interrupter of Warnie Lewis’s mornings:
‘At about half past eleven when I was at work in the front room in
College, in burst Dyson in his most exuberant mood. He began by
saying that it was such a cold morning that we would have to adjourn
almost immediately to get some brandy. I pointed out to him that if he
was prepared to accept whiskey as an alternative, it was available in the
room. Having sniffed it he observed ““it would be unpardonable rude-
ness to your brother to leave any of this” and emptied the remains of
the decanter into the glass. After talking very loudly and amusingly for
some quarter of an hour, he remarked airily “I suppose we can’t be heard
in the next room?”’ then having listened for a moment, “Oh, it’s all
right, it’s the pupil talking — your brother won’t want to listen to him
anyway”. He next persuaded me to walk round to Blackwell’s with him,
and here he was the centre of attraction to a crowd of undergraduates.
Walking up to the counter he said: “I want a second hand so-and-so’s
Shakespeare; have you got one ?”” The assistant: “Not a second handone,
sir, ’'m afraid.” Dyson (impatiently): “Well, take a copy and rub it on
the floor, and sell it to me as shop soiled.”’

*

Tolkien too was a regular caller while Warnie Lewis was at work in
Magdalen. He and Jack were in the habit of spending an hour together
on Monday mornings, generally concluding their conversation with a
pint of beer in the Eastgate Hotel opposite the college. “This is one of
the pleasantest spots in the week,” remarked Jack. ‘Sometimes we talk
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English School politics; sometimes we criticize one another’s poems;
other days we drift into theology or “the state of the nation”; rarely
we fly no higher than bawdy or puns.’

By ‘bawdy’ Lewis meant not obscene stories but rather old-fashioned
barrack-room jokes and songs and puns. For example, he greatly
relished one of his pupils’ perfectly serious description of courtly love
as ‘a vast medieval erection’, and in meetings of the Coalbiters he and
the other members of that club listened with delight to scurrilous jests
composed in Icelandic by Tolkien, who was a past master of bawdy in
several languages. Lewis believed that to be acceptable, bawdy ‘must
have nothing cruel about it. It must not approach anything near the
pornographic. Within these limits I think it is a good and wholesome
genre.

As to ‘English School politics’, these became less turbulent after
1931 when — chiefly thanks to Lewis’s part in the campaign —Tolkien’s
syllabus reforms were accepted by the Faculty, with the result that the
Anglo-Saxon and Middle English parts of the course became much
more attractive to undergraduates, and the study of Victorian literature
was virtually abandoned. Lewis was delighted at this victory, which as
he put it ‘my party and I have forced upon the junto after hard fighting’.

Shortly after the new syllabus was put into effect, Lewis and Tolkien
were both doing duty as examiners in the English School, together with
Tolkien’s friend and former colleague from Leeds, E. V. Gordon.
Lewis lost no opportunity of writing a jibe in the Beows/f metre at the
two philologists’ performance in the viva voce examination sessions:

Two at the table in their talk borrowed
Gargantua’s mouth. Gordon and Tolkien
Had will to repeat well-nigh the whole
That they of Verner’s law and of vowel sorrows,
Cares of consonants, and case endings,
Heard by hearsay.
Never at board I heard
Viler vivas.

‘In fact’, Tolkien remarked of these lines, ‘during the sessions C. S. L.’s
voice was the one most often heard.’

Outside term time, Tolkien and Lewis sometimes went for afternoon
walks together. Warnie Lewis liked to enjoy as much of his brother’s
company as possible, and he was not always pleased about this. ‘Con-
found Tolkien!” he wrote in his diary on one such occasion. ‘I seem to
see less and less of . every day.” Knowing Warnie’s feelings, Jack took
a great deal of trouble not to leave his brother out of anything and,
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when Tolkien and he decided to spend an evening reading aloud the
libretto of Wagner’s Die Walkiire, Warnie was asked to join them even
though he knew no German and could only take part by using an
English translation. They began after tea, broke off for supper at the
Eastgate — ‘where we had fried fish and a savoury omelette, with
beer’ — and then returned to Jack’s rooms in Magdalen ‘and finished
our play (and incidentally the best part of a decanter of very inferior
whiskey),” recorded Warnie. ‘Arising from the perplexities of Wotan we
had a long and interesting discussion on religion which lasted until
about half past eleven.?

Warnie was with Jack at a dinner in July 1933 when Tolkien and
Hugo Dyson acted as joint hosts at Exeter College, of which they were
both old members. ‘Dyson and Tolkien were in exuberant form,’
recorded Warnie. ‘I should like to have seen more of a man on the
opposite side of the table, Coghill: big, pleasant, good looking.” Later
‘the party broke up, Tolkien, Dyson, J., a little unobtrusive clergyman,
and myself walking back to Magdalen where we strolled about in the
grove, where the deer were flitting about in the twilight — Tolkien
swept off his hat to them and remarked “Hail fallow well met”.’

There were also quite a few gatherings of this sort at which Warnie
Lewis was not present. The English School ‘junto’ led by Lewis and
Tolkien began to hold informal dinners. This was quite a large group,
known as ‘the Cave’ and including a number of college tutors besides
the nucleus of Lewis and his friends.? Sometimes a similar group, ‘the
Oyster Club’, would gather to celebrate the end of examination-marking
by eating oysters. Meanwhile the Coalbiters continued to meet, until at
last they had read the major Icelandic sagas and both Eddas, when they
were dissolved.

Such semi-formal groups were a regular feature of Oxford life, and
there was certainly nothing remarkable about them. Nor was there
anything particularly notable about a literary society in which Lewis ‘
and Tolkien were both involved for a few terms. It met at University [
College, where Lewis still taught a few pupils (though in English
Literature now, rather than Philosophy). Its founder and organiser, like

! Priscilla Tolkien recalls that her father and Lewis also attended a performance of
one of the Ring operas at Covent Garden, where they found themselves to be almost
the only members of the audience in their part of the theatre not in evening dress.

2 The Cave was named after the Cave of Adullam in which David organised the
conspiracy against Saul (I Samuel xxii, 1-2), the implication being that Lewis’s junto
was conspiring against what had been, at least until 1931, the reigning party in the
English School, and in particular David Nichol Smith the Professor of English
Literature. The Cave’s members included Lewis, Tolkien, Coghill, Dyson, Leonard
?icc-Oxlcy, and H. F. B. Brett-Smith. It was still in existence during the nineteen-

orties.

56




“The sort of thing a man might say’

most of the members, was an undergraduate, Edward Tangye Lean,
who edited the university magazine Isis and published a couple of novels
while still studying for his degree. There were also a few dons present
at the meetings. The club existed so that members could read un-
published compositions aloud, and ask for comments and criticisms.
Tangye Lean named it “The Inklings’.

No record of its proceedings survives, though Tolkien recalled that
in its original form the club soon died, probably when Tangye Lean
left Oxford in 1933 for a career in journalism and broadcasting. Tolkien
also remembered that among the unpublished works read aloud at its
meetings was his own poem ‘Errantry’. That poem (which begins
“There was a merry passenger, A messenger, a mariner’) was published
soon afterwards in the Oxford Magagine. Warnie Lewis read it, admired
it, and declared it to be ‘a real discovery’, not least because of its unusual
metre. Meanwhile Jack Lewis had recently finished reading a longer
work by Tolkien. On 4 February 1933 he wrote to Arthur Greeves:
‘Since term began I have had a delightful time reading a children’s story
which Tolkien has just written. I have told you of him before: the one
man absolutely fitted, if fate had allowed, to be a third in our friendship
in the old days, for he also grew up on W. Morris and George Mac-
Donald. Reading his fairy tale has been uncanny - it is so exactly like
what we would both have longed to write (or read) in 1916: so that one
feels he is not making it up but merely describing the same world into
which all three of us have the entry.” The story was called The Hobbit.

Tolkien had invented it partly to amuse his own children, and certain-
ly without any serious thought of publication. He had not even bothered
to finish typing out a fair copy, but had left it broken off some way before
‘the end. Lewis, much as he liked the story, was by no means certain of
the measure of Tolkien’s achievement. ‘Whether it is really good’, he
remarked to Greeves, ‘is of course another question: still more, whether
it will succeed with modern children.’

*

Tolkien ought, on the face of it, to have been an ideal companion for
Lewis and Barfield on their walking tours. But when he did accompany
them he found that twenty miles or so a day, carrying a heavy pack,
was more than he liked.! Tolkien’s own idea of a walk in the country-
side involved frequent stops to examine plants or insects, and this

! This walk took place in April 1937, and was in the West Country, where the
party walked in the Quantocks. The date is known from a postcard sent by Tolkien
to his daughter Priscilla, who believes that her father also joined Lewis for another
walking tour, to Lyme Regis.
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irritated Lewis. When Tolkien spent some time at Malvern on holiday
with the Lewis brothers in 1947, Warnie remarked: ‘His one fault turned
out to be that he wouldn’t trot at our pace in harness; he will keep going
all day on a walk, but to him, with his botanical and entomological
interests, a walk, no matter what its length, is what we would call an
extended stroll, while he calls us “ruthless walkers”.’

Lewis once described an event that might be imagined to have

happened on one of his and Tolkien’s rural expeditions:

We were talking of dragons, Tolkien and I
In a Berkshire bar. The big workman
Who had sat silent and sucked his pipe

All the evening, from his empty mug
With gleaming eye, glanced towards us;

‘T seen ’em myself’, he said fiercely.

The lines, however, were invented by Lewis simply as a demonstration
of the alliterative metre, and Tolkien said that they had no basis in fact:
“The occasion is entirely fictitious. A remote source of Jack’s lines may
be this: I remember him telling me a story of Brightman, the distin-
guished ecclesiastical scholar, who used to sit quietly in Common Room
(in Magdalen) saying nothing except on rare occasions. Jack said that
there was a discussion on dragons one night and at the end Brightman’s
voice was heard to say, “I have seen a dragon.” Silence. “Where was
that ?”” he was asked. “On the Mount of Olives,” he said. He relapsed
into silence and never before his death explained what he meant.’

*

A great part of Lewis’s time was of course taken up with giving tutorials
and lectures to undergraduates. When teaching, he turned for a model
to the method of his old tutor Kirkpatrick. But while ‘Kirk’s’ ways had
served well in their place, they were not liked by many of the under-
graduates who climbed the stairs of Magdalen New Buildings for
tutorials. Lewis (though he privately found tutorials boring) was
conscientiously attentive to his pupils and to the essays they read aloud
to him. But he rarely praised their work, preferring to engage them in !
heated argument about some remark they had made. This frightened |
all but the toughest-minded undergraduates. A few managed to fight '

|

back and even win a point — which was just what Lewis wanted them
to do — but the majority were cowed by the force of his dialectic and
went away abashed. :

In the lecture room his manner was less fierce. He lectured clearly in
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a steady, even voice, and without dramatic gestures; though when he
quoted, which he did a great deal, he read superbly. Sometimes, in his
‘Prolegomena to Medieval Studies’, he actually dictated important
passages word by word to his audience, while all the time he cited fac#s,
and this was what many undergraduates wanted. Other English School
dons might be more entertaining — Nevill Coghill expounded Chaucer
with urbane humour, and Tolkien’s Beowslf lectures were famed for
their striking recitations — but Lewis handed out information, and his
lectures were very well attended for this reason.

He was becoming known as an expert in medieval literature, and his
‘Prolegomena’ lectures, setting out the background required for a study
of the medieval period, were soon regarded as indispensable. In his
spare time from teaching he was still at work on his study of the
allegorical love-poetry of the Middle Ages. When it was published in
1936 as The Allegory of Love it was greatly admired, not least for Lewis’s
beautifully apt translations of medieval Latin and French poems into
mock-medieval English verse of his own composition. Lewis did this to
preserve the flavour of the originals, and also because he enjoyed writing
pastiche. But fine as was the achievement of The .A/legory of Love, he did
not regard himself exclusively as a specialist in that period of literature.
Indeed, as early as 1931 he had begun to take arms over a critical issue
affecting the whole of English literature, an issue that was profoundly
involved with his conversion to Christianity.

He believed that he saw a characteristic in literary criticism which was
becoming more marked, and which disturbed him. This was the
tendency for critics to discuss the personality of the writer as it could
be deduced from his work, rather than the character of the writing. At
best, Lewis believed, this produced a kind of pseudo-biography, at
worst sheer psychological muck-raking. For example he quoted
E. M. W. Tillyard saying that Paradise Lost ‘is really about the true
state of Milton’s mind when he wrote it’. Lewis thought this was
nonsense, and he wrote an essay attacking what he called “The Personal
Heresy in Criticism’, declaring: ‘A poet does what no one else can do:
what, perhaps,no other poet can do; but he does not express his per-
sonality.” The essay was published in an academic journal; Tillyard
replied, and a public controversy began between them.

Lewis’s attack was partially justified. In its extreme form this
‘biographical’ tendency in criticism is objectionable. Yet there are also
grounds for supposing that Lewis’s attitude to it grew from something
deep-seated in his own personality. In saying this one is of course falling
into the very Personal Heresy that he attacked. Nevertheless it needs
to be said.

He had always been shy of the emotions. He was aware of this himself,
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and he said it was because in his childhood he had been embarrassed
by his father’s ups and downs of mood. In reaction he tried to cultivate
a detachment from passing shades of sorrow and happiness, and to
maintain a calmly cheerful exterior. Taking this one stage further, he
also abstained from speculations about his own psychological make-up
and that of his friends. There was of course no reason why he shou/d
speculate about his own personality. On the other hand, given his
strange and perhaps inexplicable attachment to Mrs Moore, there were
perhaps reasons why he should not.

This attitude was held even more deeply by him after his conversion.
He managed to incorporate it into his Christianity, declaring that it was
a Christian’s duty to get on with doing the will of God and not to waste
time tinkering with his own psychology. “To know how bad we are’,
he said, ‘is an excellent recipe for becoming much worse.” His own motto
for the conducting of his life was

Man, please thy Maker and be merry,
And set not by this world a cherry.

Was this deliberate lack of interest in his own personality the cause
of an alteration in Lewis’s manner after his conversion? At all events
Owen Barfield gradually became aware that something was happening
to Lewis during this period. ‘Looking back over the last thirty years,’
Barfield wrote shortly after Lewis’s death, ‘it appears to me that I have
throughout all that time been thinking, pondering, wondering, puzzling
over the individual essence of my old friend. The puzzlement has had
to do above all with the great change that took place in him between
the years 1930 and 1940 — a change which roughly coincided with his
conversion but which did not appear, and does not appear in retrospect,
to be inevitably or even naturally connected with it.’

In particular Barfield noticed that, once this change had occurred,
Lewis had ‘deliberately ceased to take any interest in himself except as
a kind of spiritual alumnus taking his moral finals’. He also observed
that something a little strange was happening to Lewis’s manner as a
writer.

One example in particular stuck in Batfield’s memory. After Till-
yard’s rejoinder to the ‘Personal Heresy’ essay had been published,
Lewis wrote a reply to that rejoinder which he called ‘An Open Letter
to Dr Tillyard’. Barfield was staying at the Kilns at the time and, when
Lewis handed it to him, he read it with admiration, but also (he said)
‘with a certain underlying — what is the word ? — restlessness, malaise,
bewilderment — that gradually increased until, when I came to the
passage at the end:
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As I glance through the letter again I notice that I have not been able,
in the heat of argument, to express as cleatly or continuously as I
could have wished my sense that I am engaged with “an older and a
better soldier”. But I have little fear that you will misunderstand me.
We have both learnt our dialectic in the academic arena where knocks
that would frighten the London literary coteries are given and taken
in good part; and even where you may think me something too pert
you will not suspect me of malice. If you honour me with a reply it
will be in kind; and then, God defend the right!
I am, my dear Sir, with the greatest respect,
Your obedient servant,
C. S. Lewis.

‘I slapped down the book’ (Barfield continued) ‘and shouted: ‘I don’t
believe it! It’s pastiche!”’

It may of course have been de/iberate pastiche, something that Lewis
always enjoyed writing. Yet on that occasion he had no ready answer
to Barfield’s accusation — or at least none that Barfield could recall
thirty years later — and all through the ‘Personal Heresy’ controversy
there was something in his tone that seemed just subtly artificial. He
attacked the tendency of critics to exalt poets because he said it dis-
paraged what he called ‘common things and common men’. He de-
clared that the modern verse of the nineteen-twenties only succeeded
in communicating a boredom and nausea that had little place in ‘the
life of the corrected and full-grown man’. And, laughing at the notion
that poets are in any sense braver than ordinary men, he asked: ‘What
meditation on human fate demands so much “courage” as the act of
stepping into a cold bath?’

This last remark seems more appropriate to G. K. Chesterton than
to Lewis. It would not have been voiced by Lewis as a young man;
he had taken the writing of poetry very seriously. But after his con-
version this came more and more to be the kind of thing he said and
the kind of attitude he took. Or rather, it was the kind of attitude he
thought he took, or had decided to take. As Barfield expressed it, ‘It left
me with the impression, not of “I say this”, but of “This is the sort of
thing 2 man might say”.’!

It was naturally a little disturbing, not least because sometimes the
old Lewis would appear again. ‘From about 1935 onwards I had the
impression of living with, not one, but two Lewises,” said Barfield.
‘There was both a friend and the memory of a friend; sometimes they

! Barfield actually made this remark not apropos of The Personal Heresy but of a
poem written by Lewis in the nineteen fifties. See Light on C. S. Lewis p. xi, for the
full context.
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were close together and nearly coalesced; sometimes they seemed very
far apart.’

*

If Barfield thought that Lewis’s contribution to The Personal Heresy had
something of a pose or posture about it, others observed that in the
controversy Lewis took up a position that was specifically Christian. In
his initial essay he declared that one of the reasons why he disliked pay-
ing too much attention to a poet’s personality was that this implied that
the personality mattered, which, he said, was the sort of view held by
‘a half-hearted materialist’. He said that the modern critic failed to
realise that if the materialistic view of the universe was true, then
‘personality’ was as meaningless as everything else. ‘If the world is
meaningless,” he said, ‘then so are we; if we mean something, we do
not mean alone.’

He himself of course did now believe that the universe ‘meant some-
thing’. And he did not intend to keep his Christian view of the world
out of his literary criticism. If his attitude in The Personal Heresy (which
was eventually published as 2 book) was only Christian by implication,
in a short article published soon afterwards he was much more open
about what he thought.

The article was called ‘Christianity and Literature’. It originated as a
paper read to a religious society at Oxford, and it was printed in 1939
in Lewis’s volume of essays Rebabilitations. In it, Lewis said he found
‘a disquieting contrast between the whole circle of ideas used in modern
criticism and certain ideas recurrent in the New Testament’.

“What’, he asked, ‘are the key-words of modern criticism? Creative,
with its opposite derivative; spontaneity, with its opposite convention;
freedom, contrasted with rales. We certainly have a general picture of
bad work flowing from conformity and discipleship, and of good work
bursting out from certain centres of explosive force — apparently self-
originating force — which we call men of genius.” This, he said, was in
conflict with the New Testament, where (he claimed) it is often implied ‘
that all ‘creation’ by men is at its best no more than imitation of God,
and in no sense ‘original’ at all. From this he concluded that the duty |
of a Christian writer lies not in self-expression for its own sake, but in y
reflecting the image of God. ‘Applying this principle to literature,” he
said, ‘we should get as the basis of all critical theory the maxim that an I
author should never conceive himself as bringing into existence beauty
or wisdom which did not exist before, but simply and solely as trying
to embody in terms of his own art some reflection of eternal Beauty and
Wisdom. Our criticism would therefore from the beginning group itself
with some existing theories of poetry against others. It would have
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affinities with the primitive or Homeric theory in which the poet is the
mere pensioner of the Muse. It would have affinities with the Platonic
doctrine of a transcendent Form partly imitable on earth; and remoter
affinities with the Aristotelian doctrine of piuners and the Augustan
doctrine about the imitation of Nature and the Ancients. It would be
opposed to the theory of genius as, perhaps, generally understood; and
aboveallit would be opposed to the idea that literature is self-expression.’

The argument of Lewis’s ‘Christianity and Literature’ was paralleled
by Tolkien’s lecture on Fairy-Stories, delivered the same year (1939)
that Lewis’s essay was published. In this lecture Tolkien declared - as
he had told Lewis on that September night eight years earlier — that in
writing stories man is not a creator but a s#b-creator who may hope to
reflect something of the eternal light of God. In the lecture he quoted
from the poem that he had written for Lewis, recording something of
their talk that night under the trees in Addison’s Walk:

Man, Sub-creator, the refracted Light

through whom is splintered from a single White

to many hues, and endlessly combined

in living shapes that move from mind to mind.
Though all the crannies of the world we filled
With Elves and Goblins, though we dared to build
Gods and their houses out of dark and light,

and sowed the seed of dragons — ’twas our right
(used or misused), That right has not decayed:

we make still by the law in which we’re made.

Something of the same view was held by Hugo Dyson. In a British
Academy lecture on Shakespeare’s tragedies — not delivered until 1950
but presumably expressing ideas that he had held for some years —
Dyson said: “‘Man without art is eyeless; man with art and nothing else
would see little but the reflections of his own fears and desires.” And
Owen Barfield in Poetic Diction had expressed a similar notion when he
said that in studying great poetry, ‘our mortality catches for a moment
the music of the turning spheres’.

These views could hardly have been more different from those held
by one of the major and most influential literary critics. of the time,
F. R. Leavis. Indeed, Leavis and the contributors to his periodical
Scrutiny were the group of critics whom Lewis was by implication
attacking in The Personal Heresy and ‘Christianity and Literature’. From
the beginning of his work at Cambridge, Leavis campaigned for the
recognition of ‘culture’ as the basis of a humane society, but did not
believe that this culture should be based on any one objective standard,
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least of all Christianity. He declared that there was among educated A
persons ‘sufficient measure of agreement, overt and implicit, about |
essential values to make it unnecessary to discuss ultimate sanctions, or '
to provide a philosophy, before starting to work’. |

In answer to this, Lewis declared that Leavis and one of the other
great critics of the period, I. A. Richards, were part of a ‘tradition of
educated infidelity” which could be traced to Matthew Arnold, were
even indeed ‘one phase in that general rebellion against God which
began in the eighteenth century’. He also said that Leavis’s position as
a critic was fundamentally based on subjective judgement and nothing
more, which he said was ‘like trying to lift yourself by your own coat
collar’; and he declared: ‘Unless we return to the crude and nursery-like
belief in objective values, we perish.” He said too that the ‘personal
heresy’ in Leavis’s and Richards’s work could be traced to this subjec-
tivism: ‘Since the real wholeness is not, for them, in the objective
universe, it has to be located inside the poet’s head. Hence the quite
disproportionate emphasis laid by them on the poet.” And he summed
up the differences between them when he said: ‘Leavis demands moral
earnestness; I prefer morality.’

*

While Lewis was widening his reputation as a literary critic, Owen
Barfield was tied to an office job in London. He had found that he could
not make a living from literary work — he now had a wife and children
to support — so he entered his father’s legal firm in London and became
a solicitor, hoping to continue writing in his spare time. But this proved
to be a mirage. First there was the challenge of learning a new discipline,
and then simply the exhaustion of the job. Though he still wrote poetry,
none of it got into print, and for some years the total of his published
works was a children’s story, The Silver Trumpet, a short book entitled
History in English Words, and Poetic Diction. Lewis often referred to this
book and to Barfield’s notions about myth and language in his lectures
and in his own published writings, so often indeed that it became a jest
among his pupils that Barfield was actually an a/ter ego, a figment of
Lewis’s imagination to whom Lewis chose to ascribe some of his own
opinions.

To Barfield, the jest was perhaps rather hollow. He had not wanted
to slide into this obscurity. Nor was there in his friendship with Lewis
quite the same richness as there had once been. They still went on
walking tours, until the increasing suburbanisation of the countryside
and the outbreak of war brought that annual event finally to a halt. But
they did not argue as before, at least not about fundamentals, for now
that he had become a Christian Lewis ceased to discuss his beliefs with
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his old friend. This was rather to Barfield’s regret, for he had found
few people of weighty intellect in the Anthroposophical movement, and
he would have been glad of a rational exchange of views. But Lewis
shied away from real argument; he had made up his mind.

Meanwhile Barfield was obliged to continue in his London office,
even when war seemed imminent, dealing with the petty grind of
routine legal work. As he expressed it in a moment of fury:

How I hate this bloody business,
Peddling property and strife

While the pulse of Europe falters —
How I hate this bloody life!

*

The Hobbit was published in 1937. It had come to the notice of a London
publisher, and Tolkien was persuaded to finish it in time for it to be
issued in the autumn of that year. Lewis was delighted, and he helped
the book on its way by giving it two glowing reviews, both in The
Times and in The Times Literary Supplement. In the first he wrote: ‘All
who love that kind of children’s book which can be read and re-read
by adults should take note that a new star has appeared in this con-
stellation. To the trained eye some characters will seem almost mytho-
poeic.” And he concluded by saying of Tolkien that he ‘has the air of
inventing nothing. He has studied trolls and dragons at first hand and
describes them with that fidelity which is worth oceans of glib
“originality”.” In The Times Literary Supplement he classed the book
with the works of his beloved George MacDonald, and remarked:
‘No common recipe for children’s stories will give you creatures so
rooted in their own soil and history as those of Professor Tolkien —
who obviously knows much more about them than he needs for this
tale.’

By now Tolkien had read much of The Si/marillion to Lewis, and when
at the end of 1937 he began to write a sequel to The Hobbit he passed
his new chapters to Lewis. ‘Mr Lewis and my youngest boy are reading
it in bits as a serial,” Tolkien told his publishers when reporting on its
progress. He also said that the boy (his third son, Christopher) and
Lewis ‘approve it enough to say that they think it is better than The
Hobbit’.

By the time that Lewis began to read Tolkien’s still untitled new
story, he himself had turned his hand to fiction again. His new book
began as a joint project, a kind of bargain or wager with Tolkien, who
recalled of it: ‘Lewis said to me one day: “Tollers, there is too little
of what we really like in stories. 1 am afraid we shall have to write
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some ourselves.” > What they had in mind was stories that were
‘mythopoeic’ but were thinly disguised as popular thrillers. Tolkien
began on “The Lost Road’, the tale of a journey back through time to
the land of Numenor. Lewis decided to tackle space-travel because he
wished to refute what he considered to be a prevalent and dangerous
notion: that interplanetary colonisation by mankind was morally
acceptable and even a necessary step forward for the human race. (He
found this notion clearly expressed by J. B. S. Haldane in the final
chapter of Possible Worlds.) He also wanted to do what he had attempted
in The Pilgrin’s Regress, to give the Christian story a fresh excitement
by retelling it as if it were 2 new myth, His choice of science fiction as
a form was also influenced by his admiration for H. G. Wells ~ or
rather, for Wells’s narrative powers, but not his ideology — and for
David Lyndsay, whose VVoyage to Arcturus (he said) ‘first suggested to me
that the form of ““science fiction” could be filled by spiritual experiences’.

Lewis’s Out of the Silent Planet was finished by the autumn of 1937.
He submitted it to J. M. Dent, who had published Dymer and The
Pilgrin’s Regress; but they turned it down. Tolkien then came to
Lewis’s aid. He recommended the book in warm terms (though not
without criticism) to his own publisher, Stanley Unwin, the chairman
of Allen & Unwin who had published The Hobbiz. ‘I read the story in
the original MS.,” he told Unwin, ‘and was so enthralled that I could
do nothing else until I had finished it. My first criticism was simply
that it was too short. I still think that criticism holds, for both practical
and artistic reasons. Other criticisms, concerning narrative style (Lewis
is always apt to have rather creaking stiff-jointed passages), inconsistent
details in the plot, and philology, have since been corrected to my
satisfaction. The author holds to items of linguistic invention that do
not appeal to me (Malacandra, Maleldil — eldila in any case I suspect to
be due to the influence of the E/dar in The Silmarillion -) but this is a
matter of taste.” And Tolkien concluded: ‘I at any rate should have
bought this story at almost any price if I had found it in print.’

Allen & Unwin’s readers reported unfavourably on the book, and
the firm turned it down. But Stanley Unwin passed it to The Bodley
Head, of which he was also chairman, and they accepted it and brought
it out a few months later, in the autumn of 1938. Many people were
soon echoing Tolkien’s enthusiasm for it. Not that he had been obliged
to rely solely on his own judgement in recommending it, for, as he
told Stanley Unwin in another letter, after reading the book in manu-
script he had ‘heard it pass rather a different test: that of being read
aloud to our local club (which goes in for reading things short and long
aloud). It proved an exciting serial, and was highly approved. But of
course we are all rather like-minded.’
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This was in February 1938. In June of the same year, Tolkien wrote
(again to Unwin): ‘You may not have noticed that on June 2 the Rev.
Adam Fox was elected Professor of Poetry (at Oxford). He was nomi-
nated by Lewis and myself, and miraculously elected: our first public
victory over established privilege. For Fox is a member of our literary
club of practising poets — before whom The Hobbit, and other works
(such as the Silent Planet) have been read. We are slowly getting into
print.” Fox was a Magdalen don and had been a friend, though not an
intimate, of Lewis for about ten years. As for the ‘literary club of
practising poets’, neither of the Lewis brothers was keeping a diary at
this time, and there is no mention of it in their papers until more than
a year later when, on 11 November 1939, Jack Lewis wrote in a letter
to Warnie: ‘On Thursday we had a meeting of the Inklings’.

*

After the dissolution of Tangye Lean’s ‘Inklings’at University College,
the name, Tolkien recalled, ‘was then transferred (by C. S. L.) to the
undetermined and unelected circle of friends who gathered about
C. S. L. and met in his rooms at Magdalen’. There is no record of
precisely when this happened - if indeed it was a precise event and not
a gradual process. Tolkien seems to imply that it took place as soon
as Tangye Lean’s club broke up, which would be in about 1933. On
the other hand there is no contemporary mention of it until Tolkien’s
report of their ‘public victory’ in the professorial election of 1938.

Lewis never explained why he transferred the name ‘Inklings’ from
the undergraduate club to the group of his friends. Yet there was a
certain attraction in its ambiguity. Tolkien said of it: ‘It was a pleasantly
ingenious pun in its way, suggesting people with vague or half-formed
intimations and ideas plus those who dabble in ink.’

*

Lewis’s walking tours with his brother and with Barfield came to an
end with the outbreak of war. Warnie Lewis had acquired a small
two-berth cabin cruiser which he moored at Salter’s boatyard on the
Thames in Oxford, and which he called Bosphorus. In August 1939 he
arranged to take Jack and Hugo Dyson on a short holiday up the river.
But war now seemed likely, and when the time came Warnie, who had
rejoined the Royal Army Service Corps with the rank of Major, was
obliged to report for army duty. Jack and Dyson had no wish to cancel
their trip, but neither of them felt able to manage the practical side of
a motor boat; so they enlisted the Lewis family doctor, R. E. Havard,
as navigator, he being a man whom Lewis much liked and admired, a
Catholic convert who would cheerfully allow Lewis to engage him in
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a philosophical conversation when they were supposed to be discussing '
medical symptoms. The party met at Folly Bridge at midday on Saturday
26 August. The pact between Germany and Russia had just been signed,
and there was much anxiety about what would be the consequences.
‘Yet’, recalled Havard, ‘our spirits were high at the prospect of a
temporary break with politics and daily chores.’

They set off up the Thames from Oxford, following the river through
low meadows and past riverside pubs (‘Few of these’, remarked Havard,
‘escaped a visit from us’). On the first evening, after an hour or two
spent at the Trout Inn at Godstow, Dyson and Lewis began a vigorous
argument about the Renaissance, which Lewis contended had never
happened at all, or if it had, hadn’t mattered. They went on through the
darkness to the Rose Revived at Newbridge; Lewis and Dyson slept
in the inn while Havard spent the night on board. “The next morning,
Sunday,” recalled Havard, ‘we moved on to Tadpole Bridge and
separated on foot to our respective churches in Buckland a mile or so
away. That afternoon after lunch we went on upstream and met,
coming down, Robert Gibbings in a canoe, naked to the waist. His
bearded figure was greeted rapturously by Lewis with a quotation:

Have sight of Proteus rising from the sea;
Or hear old Triton blow his wreathed horn.

At this, Gibbings picked up an enormous conch from the bottom of
his canoe and attempted to blow a fanfare on it. After some lively talk,
each craft went on its way. Gibbings later put some of the canoe trip
into his book Sweet Thames Run Softly.

‘We saw no papers’ (continues Havard) ‘and were cut off from all
news except what Lewis and Dyson gathered from the inns where they
slept at night. I remember an hour on a riverside lawn waiting for lunch
to be ready at Radcot. I remember an evening meal at Lechlade and an
expedition upstream for half a mile to Inglesham and the ruined opening
into the disused Thames and Severn Canal. I remember little of the
return downstream except that the engine broke down, as engines of
small boats often do. Lewis and Dyson shared a tow rope on the river
bank. I offered my own share, but neither of the other two seemed able
to keep the boat out of the bank while it was being towed. So after a
short spell ashore I was voted back again to the helm. About this time
also the weather broke. Fortunately for tempers, the engine recovered
and returned to duty.

‘Our spirits revived until we heard at midday on the Friday that Hitler
had invaded Poland. We knew then that war was imminent. The news
broke on us, I think, at Godstow, and the return to Oxford was in an
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unnatural silence. We left Bosphorus at Salter’s, and agreed to meet for
a final dinner at the Clarendon in Cornmarket. At dinner Lewis tried to
lighten the gloom by saying, “Well, at any rate we now have less chance
of dying of cancer.”’

*

War was declared the following Sunday. Lewis had been told that his
college rooms, together with the whole of New Buildings, would be
required for government use. Gloomily he and Warnie had moved all
their books into the basement. A week after the war began it was
announced that the building was not needed after all. Laboriously, he
brought all the books back again. Indeed it soon appeared that the
hostilities were unlikely to cause so very great a disruption in the life
of the University — at least, the colleges would not be closing down to
anything like the extent they had done in the First World War. Besides
the undergraduates (comparatively few in number) who continued with
their normal studies, there began some time later to be a steady flow
of cadets who were sent to Oxford to spend a few terms reading
‘shortened courses’ before going off to active service. While some dons
who, like Lewis, were above the age for military service were required
to take on government jobs of various kinds, many remained to con-
tinue working much as they had done in peacetime. Lewis soon found
that he and Tolkien and most of his Oxford friends were in the latter
category. Meanwhile evacuee children were billeted at the Kilns, and,
when on 17 September news came that Russian forces had crossed into
Poland, Lewis reported that Mrs Moore ‘regards this as sealing the fate
of the allies — and even talks of buying a revolver’.

But, as he wrote to Warnie, ‘along with these not very pleasant in-
direct results of the war, there is one pure gift — the London branch of
the Oxford University Press has moved to Oxford, so that Charles
Williams is living here.’
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“The telephone bell was ringing wildly, but without result, since there
was no-one in the room but the corpse.’

It was a conventional beginning to what at first sight appeared to be
a conventional detective story. An unidentified man is murdered in the
offices of a publishing company. There are a number of suspects.
Inspector Colquhoun investigates.

But, when the book was published in 1930, readers soon discovered
that it was not exactly like that. The corpse, it appeared, was only the
introduction to the real story: the discovery of the Holy Grail in a
country church, its theft by a black magic enthusiast, and the attempt
of an Anglican parson and a Roman Catholic Duke to rescue it. Nor
did even this seem to be entirely what the story was about, for the
pursuit of the Grail (or ‘Graal’ as the author spelt it) was soon giving
place to visionary experiences and the contention of the forces of good
and evil. As Inspector Colquhoun remarked in Chapter Sixteen, “What
an infernally religious case this is getting!’

The book was called War in Heaven, and it was the first novel to be
published by Charles Williams.

*

By that time — 1930 — the name ‘Mr Charles Williams’ was a familiar
sight on the list of evening classes arranged by the London County
Council at the City Literary Institute and at Evening Institutes in many
parts of the metropolis. Here, in bare buildings with naked light-bulbs,
people of all ages and types and levels of education would come for a
couple of hours each week, to sit in echoing lecture rooms and study
the subject of their choice. Those who opted for English Literature
would soon find themselves being lectured to by a thin man with round
spectacles, a high forehead, and a long upper lip. He talked in a lower
middle-class London accent, and the vowels of his speech seemed at
first to contrast oddly with his manner, which was quite unlike that of
any other Evening Institute lecturer. Sitting on a table and often moving
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his arms and hands in dramatic gestures, he spoke passionately and with-
out ceasing. Most people gave up trying to take notes.

His lectures were usually on major poets, especially Milton, Shake-
speare, and Wordsworth, though sometimes he talked about modern
poetry or even (though the classes were supposed to be in English
Literature) on Dante. People who came hoping for plain information
were taken aback, for, though he chose his words with great precision,
he mentioned few facts. Nor did he offer the usual sort of critical
opinions. Indeed he did not really discuss the poetry at all. What he did
was to communicate his feelings for it, or even his ability to participate
in it. His lectures were full of quotations, always done from memory
and never from notes or a text; or rather, they were not so much
quotations as incantations, a kind of ritual chanting of lines from the
poem he was talking about — or very likely from a totally different poem,
for he might use a phrase from Milton to illustrate an ode of Keats, oz
a line of Wordsworth to comment on something in Dante. He seemed
in fact to be able to express his own thoughts best by taking phrases
from the great poets, seemed to think largely in poetry, so it was no
surprise to learn from a casual remark he might drop in a lecture that
he wrote poetry himself — though very few people had ever read any of it.

After the hour’s lecture there would be (by the rules of the Evening
Institutes) an hout’s discussion, not the usual stilted question-and-
answers which happen in those circumstances but — such was the
enthusiasm with which he would pick up a hesitant remark from a
member of his audience - a vital and involved conversation. And when
the formal discussion was over there would always be somebody
stopping to talk to him afterwards, maybe on the subject of poetry but
more likely about some highly private problem of their own; for regular
attenders at his classes had long ago discovered the very special kind
of help he could give. He would treat someone’s personal worry with
the same vitality that he showed in the lecture, the same grave courtesy
and fiery vision; so that it was easy to go home feeling that this was
what it would have been like to meet Dante himself, or Blake, or even
Shakespeare.

This too was the feeling he created at his place of work, which was in
a small semi-private square lying under the shadow of the Old Bailey,
hard by St Paul’s Cathedral at the heart of the City of London. Here
each weekday morning there would arrive, one by one, the staff of the
London office of the Oxford University Press, which had its premises
in Amen House. Promptness was a rule of the house, and the junior
members of the firm would be in their places by the time the City clocks
struck nine. In one of the smaller rooms, with a2 window looking out
to the dome of the Old Bailey, a clerk would change the calendar and
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the date stamp which lay on the desk, ready for the occupant. Then,
at 9.15 precisely, feet would run up the stairs and a figure would spring
into the room. Hat, gloves and walking-stick would be hung up, and
their owner would throw himself into his chair, swivelling and tilting
it back so that he could put his feet on the desk. In this fashion, with
a sixpenny writing pad balanced on his knee, he would finish the poem
he had been thinking about while walking up Newgate Street from the
Underground station; and all the time he would be talking to the clerk
or to the man who shared the office with him, or to somebody who came
in from another department. Soon, he would leave his own writing on
one side and get down to the firm’s work, perhaps reading a manuscript
submitted by an author, or casting his eye over proofs, or discussing
details of binding and typeface with the people who looked after the
production of books. But even then he was often turning back to his
own occupations, dashing off a letter to a friend in rather shaky hand-
writing (his hands trembled due to some slight nervous affliction),
finishing a review for Time & Tide, and at lunch time rushing out for
an appointment with another friend over a sandwich at Shirreff’s Wine
Vaults in Ludgate Hill. The only thing that could break the indepen-
dence of his routine would be a summons to the inner sanctum where sat
the Publisher himself, Sir Humphrey Milford; for when word came
that ‘Sir Humphrey wishes to see Mr Williams’ there was never any
delay or excuse, but an immediate journey down corridors to the big
room with its ornate ceiling and heavy carved chairs. Here, and here
only, Charles Williams ceased to be the poet, the critic, the visionary,
and became a publisher’s assistant who had been with the firm for a
quarter of a century and would presumably remain with it to the end
- of his working days.

But soon he would be out of the Publisher’s room, lighting a cigarette
and bounding up the stairs two at a time to his own office; and then
somebody would meet him on the staircase and would say something
to him — perhaps just a casual greeting or remark — and he would
immediately turn his full attention to that person, and they would
embark on a conversation that might be hilarious but would also be
deeply serious. So the day would pass, and soon he would be hurrying
off to take an evening class. Not until a late hour would he return by
Tube to Hampstead, where in a rented flat at the top of a dizzy staircase,
with tall windows that looked out towards the lights of the West End
and the City in the distance, he would drink a cup of tea and talk to his
wife, say goodnight to his small son, and then settle down, with the pad
balanced on his knee, to more writing. It might be the next chapter of a
historical biography that had been commissioned by a publisher, or a
book review, or the beginning of another novel, whose royalties he
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hoped would help to pay next year’s bills. Or just possibly, if he was
feeling self-indulgent, he might allow himself to spend an hour or two
writing the only thing he really cared about: poetry. He would try not
to stay up very late, but very likely he would not be able to sleep
propetly; and if that was the case (it happened quite often) he would
be at work again as dawn came up over London.

*

His full name was Charles Walter Stansby Williams, and he was a
Londoner born and bred, brought up not a Cockney (as some of his
Oxford admirers later alleged) but at Holloway in the northern part of
the city, an area characterised by railway goods yards, small shops and
businesses, and endless terraces of drab brick houses.

He was born in 1886, the elder of two children, and for the first
eight years of his life there was something like security. His father, a
man of some education, worked as a cletk in the City butdevoted much
of his spare time to literature, reading widely and contributing poems
and short stories to magazines, from which he made a few guineas. He
and his wife were devout members of the Church of England; in his
early years Charles caught their fervour and was always happy in church,
where he chanted the psalms loudly in a most unmusical voice.

In 1894 there was a double crisis in the family. Mr Williams’s firm
was about to close, so he would lose his job, and at the same time he
was warned by a doctor that his eyesight, never good and now fast
deteriorating, would be irretrievably damaged if he did not move out of
London to fresher air.

Somehow the family weathered the storm. The notion of living in
‘the country’ did not appeal in the least, for they were town dwellers
by habit and inclination, so they compromised by moving to the city
of St Albans, where they found a vacant shop which they decided to
run as a business selling artist’s materials. In the years that followed,
this managed to produce an adequate if unreliable income, though the
worries about money made a mark on Chatles, who in adult life was
never able to avoid worrying about his own finances.

The father’s sight did not improve, and, though he never became
totally blind, Mr Williams was soon unable to give much help with the
shop or to continue with his literary hobbies. The frustration and misery |
of this was communicated to his son, so that for the rest of his life
Charles Williams was largely pessimistic, and never indulged in shallow
optimism. But it did mean that the father had much time to devote to
the son, and the two went for long walks together in St Albans and the
Hertfordshire countryside around, talking all the time. Outside the
town they paid little attention to their surroundings, for neither of them
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could see well — Charles was very short-sighted — and in any case they
were more interested in talk than scenery. Mr Williams was not only
widely-read but totally undogmatic, teaching his son that there were

! many sides to every argument, and that it was necessary to understand
the elements of reason in the other point of view as well as your own.
Though a devout churchman, he encouraged Charles to appreciate the
force of atheist rationalism and to admire such men as Voltaire and Tom

| Paine. Above all he insisted on accuracy, impressing on his son that
one should never defend one’s opinions by exaggeration or distortion
of the facts. It was a remarkable education. It did not — which it perhaps
might have done — encourage Charles to adopt an attitude of detach-
ment. He learnt to be committed, in his case to Christianity; but he also
learnt that the other side may have an equal force of argument. It was
perhaps partly because of this that he never wavered from belief in God
during his adolescence; or, to put it another way, his father had taught
him to absorb doubt and disbelief into his beliefs.

His formal education was at day schools in St Albans, but his father
was his real educational influence. Already Charles was developing a
remarkably nimble and active mind. One of the St Albans Abbey clergy
who prepared him for confirmation remarked that the boy ‘had too
many brains for him’, and that he could not get to the bottom of what
was going on in Charles’s head.

In adolescence Charles began to write poetry, and such was his trust
in his father that he showed it to him, and received both encouragement
and constructive criticism. Indeed, at this stage of his life he shared his
serious ideas with no one but his father. The only school friend that
he asked to read his poetry found much of it beyond him. However,

- with this school friend’s help Charles did regularly enact a private
fantasy, a kind of continuing Ruritania-style drama which the boys per-
formed at odd moments of the day, and in which Charles’s sister Edith

, was enlisted to play the Princess. From this, Charles learnt the delight
of living in a world of half-serious, half-comic assumed identities. These

| Ruritanian inventions also appealed to his growing love of ritual and

ceremony, as did the historical pageants which were regularly performed

at his school in St Albans. Indeed the school itself, which was in an old

| monastic building close to the Abbey, delighted him with its spiral

| staircases, vaulted roofs, tall dark classrooms, and the view of the
Abbey itself, from which the bells rang out the quarters.

In 1901 Charles won an Intermediate Scholarship to University
College, London, and began to study there before his sixteenth birth-
day, reading a general course which included Latin, French, and
English history, but which did not offer any specialised training. He con-
tinued to live at home in St Albans, travelling by train into London each
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day, so that college life made comparatively little impression on him
and seemed to be no more than an extension of school. Moreover after
two years his family found that they could no longer afford to contribute
to the cost of keeping him at the university, so he left without taking a
degree, and at the age of eighteen he set about earning his living.

A clerk’s post was found for him — for he was scarcely qualified for
anything better — at 2 Methodist Bookroom in the Holborn district of
London, and he began work there in 1904. He endured the menial work
with patience and even with humour, and he might have continued
there indefinitely had not the Bookroom closed in 1908, so that it was
necessary for him to find another job. A friend, Frederick Page, told
him that there was a post as a proof reader in the London office of the
Oxford University Press. He applied, was accepted, and began there,
still travelling to London daily from St Albans.

After the Methodist Bookroom the Press was majestic. Within its
walls Charles Williams found stability, hierarchy, and order. The Lon-
don office was largely independent of the University Press in Oxford,
but it had much of the formality and academic grandeur of its Oxford
parent. It has been described as ‘rather like an ancient half-occupied
half-ruined palace, where z number of people maintained a living ritual
and ceremonial duties, and in whose vaulted roofs sounded the chant
of Greek and Latin verse and the echo of venerated names’.

As the offices of the Press were in the City of London, Williams found
the surroundings peculiarly appealing. Just as at St Albans he had been
impressed by the sense of history and ritual conveyed by the Abbey and
by the medieval buildings of his school, so he now found this expressed
even more positively by the City. Or, rather, it was not so much the
notion of history that the City conveyed to him as the idea of the perfect
formal community.

Many other young men, chained like him to an office desk and a repeti-
tive job, would not have shared his vision. But to Charles Williams the
City, with its churches, its law-courts, its business houses, banks,
libraries and printing presses, seemed the expression of an ideal order.
The City’s rigid hierarchies and rules, as well as its love of pageantry
and ritual, delighted his imagination and seemed to him refreshingly
stable and unshakeable after the uncertainties and worries of his parents’
home. Indeed to him the City of London soon became an earthly
expression of the ultimate city, the City of God.

At this time he began to find companions with whom he could share
his poetry and his ideas. He made friends through a Working Men’s
College in London where he attended part-time classes, and with these,
as well as with his old school friend in St Albans, he spent many hours
in amiably contentious arguments, sometimes changing his own posi-
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tion half-way through a debate just to find out what sort of case he
could put for the other side (a legacy of his father’s training). From
such evenings of talk came warm affection, recalled by him in a poem:

| O rooms and roads of gay contest,
| Journey and argument and jest,
‘ From Kew to Harpenden!
Where, while the days made man of me,
My love felt yours amazedly —
Men splendid among men.

Not all Charles Williams’s friendships were with other men. In 1908
he met Florence Conway, the daughter of a St Albans ironmonger and
a helper at the Sunday School where he was teaching. ‘For the first five
minutes of our meeting’, she recalled, ‘I thought him the most silent,
withdrawn young man I had ever met. For the rest of the evening I
thought him the most talkative young man I had ever met, and still
the nicest.” They became engaged to be married.

Florence did not pretend to be learned, nor did she share Charles’s
passionate intellectual interests. But she was shrewd and intelligent, and
lively too, though she was sometimes embarrassed by her fiancé’s
exuberance, particularly his tendency to recite poetry loudly in public
places; and she rebuked him for this. He in reply nicknamed her
‘Michal’, after Saul’s daughter who mocked at David when he danced
before the Lord. And ‘Michal’ she remained.

As for his feelings towards her, he declared that hers was ‘a face
which some pre-Raphaelite should have loved’; and there was a good
deal of the pre-Raphaelite about the sequence of eighty-four sonnets

. that he wrote for her and thrust into her hands one night. She read
them carefully. ‘So lovely they seemed,’ she said. But she also noted -
and it puzzled her - that, though they were addressed to her, their
theme was the renunciation of love.

Why should he have considered renouncing love? In part it was
simply his awareness that marriage with its many obligations and strains
might destroy love: he was never easily optimistic. But, more than this,
he was discontented about the very ordinariness of ‘being in love’. His
mind was too subtle and self-aware, too capable of seecing endless possi-
bilities in every human thought and action, for the state of loving to
seem enough. He asked himself ‘whether love were not meant for
something more than wantonness and child-bearing and the future that
closes in death’. He meditated on the notion of achieving some spiritual
advancement through renunciation, speculating in the sonnets he
wrote for ‘Michal’ whether they might not ‘put off love for love’s
sake’. And there was another possibility. Turning to his Christian
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beliefs, he considered the idea that love for another human being might
be a step towards God — ‘the steep’, as he expressed it in the sonnet
sequence, ‘whence I see God’. At this point he discovered Dante.

In 1910 the Oxford University Press reissued Cary’s translation of the
Dipine Comedy. It was Charles Williams’s task to correct the proofs. In
this fashion he came to read Dante’s account of how his love for Beatrice
eventually brings him through Hell and Purgatory to Paradise and the
Beatific Vision of the Trinity. Williams did not respond, as many com-
mentators and critics had done, by speculating on what this could mean.
He simply felt: ‘But this is #ru#e.” It was exactly what he had been aiming
towards in his own thoughts: the notion that human love can lead to
a selfless love of the divine. In Dante he found confirmation of his hope
that love for his own ‘Michal’ might not just be an end in itself but
indeed the approach to spiritual ecstasy. And, having in mind this
notion of earthly love being a ladder or staircase up to God, he called
the sonnet sequence The Silver Stair.

Thanks to encouragement and financial help from the poet Alice
Meynell and her husband Wilfrid, who happened to be friends of
Williams’s colleague at the Press, Fred Page, The Silver Stair was pub-
lished in 1912. But it was not until 1917, when he was thirty and they
had been betrothed for nine years, that he married Michal. It is difficult
to say quite why they delayed so long. There may have been practical
reasons such as concern over money or future prospects. Or perhaps
it had something to do with a fundamental element in Charles Williams’s
character, the thing that he was trying to express when he told a friend:
‘At bottom a darkness has always haunted me.’

*

What was this darkness ? In part it was no more than a sense of potential
chaos and despair. But it also, perhaps, had a connection with his habit
from early years of changing sides in an argument. Behind every bad
thing he could see something good, but also behind every good thing
he could see darkness. Nor did he stop at the mere intellectual contem-
plation of it. There were reverse sides to two of the principal areas of
his life. He was a devout member of the Church of England, but he
was also interested in magic. He was a devoted lover, but he also en-
joyed the notion of inflicting pain.

Probably he took at least a mild interest in magic during his child-
hood; certainly by the time he was in his late twenties he was making
some study of the beliefs and practices of that semi-magical branch of
Christianity known as Rosicrucianism. During this period he read
books by the Rosicrucian writer A. E. Waite; he entered into corres-
pondence with Waite, and at Waite’s invitation was initiated (in
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1917) into an organisation called the Order of the Golden Dawn.!

The line between religion and magic is sometimes hard to draw, and
since its foundation thirty years earlier this Order had wavered rather
uncertainly between the two. In its early days some of its members had
certainly indulged in would-be magical practices. Among its first
initiates was a coroner who allegedly performed necromantic rites over
corpses obtained through his profession, while another early member was
the black magician Aleister Crowley, the self styled Great Beast who (as
Cyril Connolly once said) ‘bridged the gap between Oscar Wilde and
Hitler’. But the Order of the Golden Dawn also included persons of
less outlandish ways, such as W. B. Yeats, whom Williams met during
the period of his membership, one or two clergy with a taste for the
mystical, and A. E. Waite himself, who though he was learned in the
history of magic did not, it seems, practise it or encourage others to
do so — Aleister Crowley called Waite ‘a dull and inaccurate pedant
without imagination or real magical perception’. There were many quar-
relsamong the members of the Golden Dawn, and after a series of schisms
Waite formed his own ‘temple’. It was this group that Williams joined.

As a neophyte aspiring to be initiated into the Golden Dawn he
would apparently have had to declare: ‘My soul is wandering in the
Darkness, seeking for the Light of Occult Knowledge, and I believe
that in this Order the Knowledge of that Light may be obtained.” He
also had to take an oath to keep the rites secret, on penalty of a ‘hostile
current’ which would be set against him if he broke faith. The oath was
kept, and neither Williams nor any other member ever divulged pre-
cisely what those rites were. Probably they were harmless enough,
based as they seem to have been on Waite’s enthusiasms for free-
masonry, vaguely Christian mysticism, and Rosicrucianism, a system of
occult beliefs which combines the symbolism of Christianity with the
terminology of alchemy, and has the Rosy Cross as its central feature.?

1 A letter from Waite to Williams, dated 6 September 1917, discusses arrange-
ments for ‘your Reception at the Autumnal Equinox’. (The letter is in the Wade
Collection, Wheaton College, Illinois.)

2 Waite’s own explanation of Rosicrucianism comes as near to lucidity as does
any account of this opaque subject: “The Cross is the sign or symbol of Jesus Christ,
of the Brotherhood in its inward dedication, of pure mystical wisdom. Its red colour
represents the mystical and divine blood of Christ, which — according to the Apostle
- cleanses from all sin . . . There is placed in its centre a Rose “of the colour of
Blood” to indicate the work of Sacred and Divine Alchemy in the purification of that
which is unclean.” (A. E. Waite, The Brotherhood of the Rosy Cross (William Rider,
1924), pp. 107-8.)

Waite suggested that the teachings of Rudolf Steiner were associated with
Rosicrucianism: ‘It has been reported that he derives from some German Order of
the Rosy Cross.” (ibid., p. 618). Waite did not, however, investigate this possible
link between his own beliefs and Anthroposophy.
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Certainly membership of the Golden Dawn involved the performance
of rituals, which Williams, with his love of rite and ceremony, entered
into wholeheartedly: he told his friend Anne Ridler that he had always
taken care to learn by heart the words of any Golden Dawn rite, so that
he could participate with dignity, whereas many other members did not
trouble to do so, and merely read the words from a card.

There does not seem to have been anything in Waite’s ‘temple’ of
the Golden Dawn which was opposed to Christianity. Indeed Waite,
who had been brought up a Catholic, believed its practices to be part
of what he called the ‘Secret Tradition’ of Christianity, the tradition
that besides the overt meaning of Christian doctrine there is also a
hidden series of truths revealed only to an elect few. Waite remarked
of this gnostic tradition, and apparently of his ‘temple’, to which he
here seems to be referring: ‘It is not in competition with the external
Christian Churches, and yet it is a Church of the Elect, a Hidden and
Holy Assembly.” Its beliefs apparently involved, as a principal symbol,
the ‘Holy Graal’ (as Waite spells it). Waite wrote, in a typically in-
comprehensible sentence: ‘It is a House of the Holy Graal in the sanctity
of a High Symbolism, where the sacred intent of the Order is sealed
upon Bread and Wine.’

It was perhaps in Waite’s writings that Williams first found mention
of the “Tetragrammaton’, the Hebrew name of God which when used
in ceremonies, especially in its reversed form, was supposed to have
magical powers. Waite also made a special study of talismans and of
the Tarot cards, particularly the “T'rumps Major’, and the ‘Graal’ was
a central symbol of his thought. These and other details of occult
knowledge were to play a major part in Williams’s novels. In one of
Waite’s books he also encountered the ‘Sacred Ttree of the Sephiroth’,
a symbolic diagram based on the Jewish mystical Zobar, in which
various parts of the human body are associated with particular qualities
of spirit and mind; Williams later made great use of this in his poetry.
Perhaps, too, Williams’s developing notions of human love as a ladder
to God owed something to Waite’s account of the concept of marriage
in the Zohar, which pictures the nuptial union on earth as a type of,
and path of approach to, the mystical union in heaven. And it was
maybe also from Waite’s writings that Williams acquired some of his
knowledge of black magic.

Waite himself discouraged the Order of the Golden Dawn from
practising ‘Magia’, the Renaissance term for white magic, and certainly
he was opposed to any meddling in ‘Goetia’ or black magic. This was
the chief reason why Aleister Crowley left the Order not long after its
formation, preferring as he did to practise ‘Goetia’ combined with
sexual promiscuity and drug taking. On the other hand Waite did write
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a good deal about all forms of magic, though he generally dismissed it,
or pretended to dismiss it, as absurd and fantastic. His Book of Ceremonial
Magic (1910) does include a number of spells, such as “To Become
Invisible’, ‘A Conjuration to Lucifer’, and ‘How to Cause the Appeat-
ance of Three Ladies or Three Gentlemen in One’s Room after Supper’.
But Waite presents this stuff in the form of a sceptical inquiry into
magical procedure, and more probably Williams acquired his extensive
knowledge of ‘Goetia’ from other sources, such as Aleister Crowley’s
extravagant novel Moonchild (1929) and the stories of ‘Sax Rohmer’
(A. H. Ward), a fellow Golden Dawn member whose ‘Fu Manchu’
thrillers Williams much enjoyed. Whatever the sources, by the late
nineteen-twenties Williams was thoroughly acquainted with the
terminology and practices of black magic.

A question which must strike anyone who reads his novels and notices
the seriousness with which he presents magical events is: did he believe
in it? It is very difficult to give a clear answer. Certainly he did not
dismiss black magic as dangerous tomfoolery. To him it was as valid
a form of symbolism as the symbols of Christianity. Whether it was
more than symbolism to him, whether he thought it to be true, is
difficult to say. To understand his attitude to magic one has to under-
stand his attitude to the whole question of belief.

‘No one can possibly do more than decide what to believe,” says a
character in one of his novels, and that was exactly what Williams him-
self thought. He had decided to believe in Christianity, but it was a
conscious choice. As far as witchcraft and black magic were concerned,
he avoided making any such decision. He used them in his books, but
he did not say, or ask his readers to say, ‘true or false ?’ to such things.
- They were simply there. So, though he soon outgrew the Golden Dawn
and left the Order (the date of this is not known), the symbolism and the
knowledge of the occult that he had acquired during his membership
remained valuable to him, not least because in its extreme form black
magic was the polar opposite of Christianity; and his mind was always
drawn to an awareness of the opposite pole of any argument or belief.

Our Father who wert in heaven,
A lonely road is Thine;
Hardly after long travel
Shall we reach to our design.

He wrote these lines in a poem called “Witchcraft’, a hymn to Satan
which is an investigation of the ‘oppositeness’ of the devil to Christ.
And, as so often in his writings about black magic, there seems to be
something more than a calm intellectual interest.
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Envy and Anger and Lust
Are half the kin of Love,
But Thy great throne is lifted
All lesser thrones above.

Whose sole joy is to see
Love weep and bleed anew.

O Terror! O Cruelty!
O Hate! O Anguish of Joy!
Make our hearts one with Thine
To ravage and destroy.

Certainly a reader unfamiliar with the character of Williams might
suppose this poem to be the work of someone with a potential for
cruelty. And this would be true.

It was something that appeared more clearly in Williams’s later years,
when his writings and the nature of his friendships gave him more
opportunity to display it; but a sadistic element occasionally appears
in his earlier work, such as the poem ‘Antichrist’ where, on beholding
his beloved’s face grown unbearable, he declares:

My mind possessed me with delight
To wrack her lovely head
With slow device of subtle pain.

He was no Jekyll and Hyde: this sadistic element did not emerge at
intervals to change his behaviour. Rather, it was constantly present,
held in balance with the other aspects of his imagination.

*

Little is known about Charles and Michal Williams’s early married life.
They rented a flat in the Hampstead district of London; Michal Williams
taught for a few years in an elementary school; a son, confusingly
christened Michael, was born to them in 1922, their only child; and that
is about all that can be said. Williams’s poetry, of which three further
volumes were published during these years, gives some idea of con-
tented domesticity, but uses this only as a framework for theological
preoccupations. So in the poem “T'o Michal meditating a new Costume’
he lovingly describes her dress but mentions this only because she is
wearing it when they go “To keep the Mass of our New Year’. A poem
about brmgmg breakfast to her in bed becomes the vehicle for an
imaginary journey to ‘the land of the Trinity’, Sarras in the Arthurian
legend of the Grail. Williams often said that he was proud to be one
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of the few poets who had made marriage a principal subject of verse,
but in fact he did not discuss his marriage more than peripherally in
his poems. There are also disquieting hints that all was not well, such
as in ‘After Marriage’ where he speaks of the beloved as withdrawn
from him, while he himself is ‘dispersed in ancient pain And into chaos
plunged again’.

Through his writings during the nineteen-twenties ran an increasing
element of supernaturalism. He had never fully accepted the conven-
tional distinction between natural and supernatural, or ‘Arch-natural’
as he preferred to call it; and as the years passed he came to feel that
no barrier really existed between the two states, and that the super-
natural was constantly present, requiring only extra awareness from the
beholder to make it visible. This idea runs through his early poetry.
A motor bus lumbering down from Golders Green into Hertfordshire
seems to be a long narrow coffin in which he rides, with Death as a
fellow passenger. A city pavement may suddenly melt away and reveal
the ‘firmer under-stone’ of the eternal City of God. A prearranged
meeting with someone on a street corner may never take place because
the other person has accidentally slipped into another time-scale. And in
performing simple domestic chores — lighting a fire, having a bath, or
going down to the cellar to fetch something — he encounters a host of
apparitions. The cellar steps lead into Hell itself, the match he puts to
the fire is the flame which kindled Joan of Arc’s burning at the stake,
and even the seemingly innocent bathwater is the sea in which men are
drowning.

These last experiences are described in a poem ironically called
‘Domesticity’, and besides showing Williams’s interest in the super-

-natural they are also a demonstration of something which was becoming
very important in his thought. It had begun during the 1914-18 war,
in which he had been unable to fight — he was declared unfit because
of what was called ‘lack of nervous co-ordination’, the physical state
that demonstrated itself in the trembling of his hands. During the war
his two closest friends from the Working Men’s College were killed.
At the time Williams was greatly distressed that they should have
sacrificed themselves (as it seemed) on his behalf. Worse still, because
of his growing habit of ignoring conventional distinctions of time and
space he could not feel that their deaths were something which had
happened elsewhere and in the past, and were now over. To him the
whole thing was constantly happening. The clink of teacups at his own
breakfast table seemed to him to be the tin mugs passing from hand to
hand while dying men were crying for drink in no-man’s-land. This
may seem like a casual poetic fancy, but it was not. Such was his imagin-
ation that he could feel it acutely. It ceased to be painful to him only
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when he moved on to an awareness that all human action, whether death
in war or the ordinary tasks of daily life, benefits or harms other human
beings: all live in a greater framework in which every event has a bear-
ing on something else. Expressed like this, it does not sound very
remarkable. But it was important to Williams in that it became the basis
of all his mature work.

*

In 1924 the Oxford University Press moved into larger premises. This
was Amen House, in Warwick Square, a fine building partly dating
from the Restoration. Its elegant formality delighted Williams and
confirmed his vision of the Press and the City around it as part of some
great ritual. This vision also gained strength from the character of the
man who now ruled over the Press, Humphrey Milford.

To Charles Williams, Milford (who became the Publisher in 1913)
seemed to contain in his person the perfect expression of authority.
Changeable in manner, he could byturns be formal and friendly,
approachable and chillingly remote. But at all times he bore himself
with the hierarchical dignity appropriate to his almost imperial power
in the Press. Williams soon began to refer to him, only half jestingly, as
‘Caesar’.

The move to Amen House was accompanied by an increase in staff,
and a significant inauguration: the Library, a showroom to house a
copy of each of the books published by the Press. The Library occupied
a central position in the building, and it became an informal meeting-
place for conversation and the exchange of ideas among those working
in Amen House. The moving energy in many of these conversations was
Charles Williams.

By 1924 he was thirty-eight, and had already spent sixteen years with
the Press. Though he had begun humbly as a proof reader, his wide
knowledge of literature and his passionate devotion to poetry in
particular had gradually gained him greater responsibilities, and he was
now a valued member of the editorial department. But his office work
at Amen House mattered much less to him than the friendships which
grew from it.

There were many on the staff of the Press with whom he found it
easy to be friendly. Indeed he would be intimate with anyone who
responded to him, for at a first meeting he would talk as if he had known
you for years, and as if it were the most natural thing in the world to
discuss poetry or theology with you. All that was needed was for you to
accept this manner, and respond in kind, and then a friendship would
begin. Many of the new staff at Amen House (as well as the longer-
serving people) did respond, and ‘C. W.” — as he was known among
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them — soon became the centre of a circle of friends, changing a place
of work into a place of talk and friendship and delight.

‘C. W.” himself was soon giving formal expression to his pleasure at
these friendships in Az Urbanity, a long poem that he addressed to
Phyllis Jones, a young woman who had joined the staff in 1924 to take
charge of the Library at Amen House. In it he ]amented the absence on
holiday of their particular friends, whose identity he lightly masked
beneath poetic names chiefly taken from the genre of pastoral verse.
‘Dorinda’ was Miss Peacock from the Production Department, ‘Alexis’
and ‘Colin’ were Gerard Hopkins (nephew of the poet) who worked in
Publicity and Fred Page, Williams’s office companion, while Phyllis
Jones herself was ‘Phillida’ and Humphrey Milford was of course
‘Caesar’.

An Urbanity was little more than an elegant jest. But it was soon
followed by something that expressed Williams’s feelings about Amen
House and its friendships more deeply. Retaining the assumed identities
for his friends, he cast them as characters in a masque. They performed
it in the Library on Humphrey Milford’s birthday in 1927, in front of a
small invited audience presided over by Milford himself, for whom (by
Williams’s direction) there was set, slightly forward from the rest, a
throne-like seat appropriate for ‘Caesar’.

The Masque of the Manuscript, as it was named, delicately mocked the
absurdities of the publishing business. A worthy but dull Manuscript
is eventually made acceptable for publication by the combined efforts
of Dorinda, Alexis, Colin and Phillida. Then Caesar gives his consent,
and the Manuscript — played by a female member of the cast — is placed
on a bier and prepared for death. At last she rises, printed and bound

" and published. But the Masque is more than mockery, for it is concerned

with the pursuit of truth, and ends with an epilogue on the dissolution
of all mortal things, ‘Even the most precious talk of friends’.

The Masque was a remarkable success. It created an extraordinary
sense of delight in Amen House; for, by making the daily tasks of
publishing into the stuff of poetry and ritual, Williams had transmuted
a chore into something seemingly of wider significance. Nor 4id it end
at the finish of the hour’s entertainment. In the months that followed,
Williams continued to address his friends by their poetic names, so
that they were caught up into a myth of his own devising. In the
Library and on the staircase he would involve them in talk on a myriad
of subjects, bringing out the best qualities in each of them. ‘He found
the gold in all of us and made it shine,” said one of them, Gerard
Hopkins. ‘By sheer force of love and enthusiasm he created about him
an atmosphere that must be unique in the history of business houses.’

During the weeks immediately after the performance of The Masque
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of the Manuscript, Williams’s life was in many respects full of gaiety and
hope. At Amen House he was, as he well knew, the cause of great
happiness. Outside working hours he was now a regular lecturer at
Evening Institutes, where he had alteady won the admiration and
friendship of many members of his classes. Three volumes of his
poetry had been published by the Press itself. He could almost have
said that all was well. Almost, but not quite, for privately his life was
dominated by one thing. He was in love with the Librarian at Amen
House, Phyllis Jones.

*

Probably the marriage between Charles and Michal Williams had been
tempestuous from the start. They were persons of strong character, and
of very different ideas. He was absorbed in poetry and theological
speculations, while she was practical-headed and liked to talk mostly
about family or domestic matters. Charles tried to make a virtue of his
wife’s domesticity, declaring his admiration for it; but it imposed a
strain. Nor was their marriage greatly eased by the birth of their son
in 1922, for Charles found the boy’s upbringing difficult to conduct,
and discovered that his own close friendship with his father could not
be repeated. Yet to explain his falling in love with another woman by
saying that he was unhappy at home would be to fall short of under-
standing him entirely.

He had never expected marriage to be blissful or easy. His outlook
did not allow any such casual optimism. Indeed he may have made the
opposite mistake of expecting and looking for the worst. In the poetry
that he wrote during the long years of his betrothal to Michal he showed
himself only too aware of her limitations, describing her as ‘wilful,
insolent’, and ‘part scornful, part obsequious to the world’. Perhaps by
the time they married he was no longer romantically in love with her.
Certainly he had made himself ready for a change in his feelings by
developing his ‘Romantic Theology’, as he now called it, his Dantean
notion that human love is a ladder reaching up to God; for it seemed
understandable to him that in climbing the ladder he should pass beyond
the lower rungs, the youthful state of loving. But this had not prepared
him for falling in love all over again.

Phyllis Jones was in her eatly twenties when she joined the Press.
She had been educated at London University and had worked as a
teacher before being given a job by Humphrey Milford. As Librarian
at Amen House she was based in the room where ‘C. W.” conducted
many of his most animated conversations. She was soon caught up in
them, and soon too she began to find poems addressed to her and left on
her desk. Gradually she discovered that Williams was in love with her.
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At first she loved him in return, and it was this — though almost
nobody working at Amen House knew it! — that was the immediate
cause of An Urbanity and the Masque; or rather, Masques, for the first
was soon followed by another in the same vein, The Masque of Perusal.
In this second piece, when the vital question ‘Why do you publish?’
fails to find an answer it is Phillida (Phyllis Jones herself) who finally
supplies the justification of the whole procedure, declaring that the
Press serves the ends of ‘labour and purity and peace’.

Perhaps Williams found a kind of peace in their love affair during
these months. But it is difficult to imagine that he, given his nature and
his view of the marriage vows, could ever have contemplated divorce
or adultery. At all events neither took place.? The only immediate
physical result of his love for ‘Phillida’ was the constant stream of
poems that he addressed to her. In these, he veiled her identity still
further under the name ‘Celia’, which he took from Marvell’s “The
Match’, a poem describing how one spark from Love sets aflame the
whole of Nature. Because of this he called the experience of falling in
love in this fashion ‘the Celian moment’. But it did not last. The feelings
of ‘Celia’ changed, and soon she was in love with another member of
the staff at Amen House.

This had a remarkable effect on Williams. He was desolate: in fact
he never entirely came to terms with it. But he was also spurred by it
into beginning his mature work as a writer.

%

In the fifth act of Shakespeare’s Troilus and Cressida, it suddenly becomes
plain to Troilus that his beloved Cressida, of whose love he was until

. that moment utterly sure, is not the changeless and unchangeable
creature he had believed her to be. She is mutable: in fact she is faithless,
is dallying with Diomedes. Troilus observes this — and declares that he
has seen the impossible. When asked to explain what Cressida has done,
he replies:

Nothing at all, unless that this were she.

1 Nor was it known by Alice Mary Hadfield, Williams’s friend and biographer,
when she wrote An Introduction to Charles Williams (1959).

2 Williams discusses the problems of what he calls the ‘Second Image’ of romantic
love, by which he means the experience of falling in love a second time, after the
first ‘Beatrician experience’ of love, in The Figure of Beatrice, his study of Dante and
Romantic Theology (Faber & Faber, 1943): ‘The second image is not to be denied;
we are not to pretend it is not there, or indeed to diminish its worth; we are only
asked to free ourselves from concupiscence in regard to it . . . The first image was
towards physical union; the second towards its separation. It repeats the first, in an
opposite direction. But both movements are alike intense towards most noble Love:
that is, towards the work of the primal Love in creation.” (p. 49).
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The Cressida who has been faithless must be someone else. She cannot
be the same Ctessida who loves him. But she is. And Troilus ‘undergoes
an entire subversion of his whole experience’.

These last words are by Charles Williams, who wrote at some length
on this passage in Troilus and Cressida. Indeed he regarded it as crucially
important not merely for this play but for the whole of Shakespeare’s
work, declaring that in this one line Shakespeare achieves a hitherto
unequalled complexity of expression. He also looked for, and found,
similar moments of equal importance in the work of other great poets,
and concluded that it is at such moments that we can observe ‘the pass-
ing of the poetic genius from its earlier states into its full strength’. He
developed this theory into the central argument of his book The English
Poetic Mind, applying it to the work of Milton, Wordsworth, Keats and
Tennyson. Sometimes it fits the evidence very well, sometimes less so.
In fact Williams would probably not have pressed the theory so hard
had it not related closely to his own experience.

Up to this time he had lived, on the whole, according to his own
plan. His intellect rose above those of almost all around him, and he
was able to direct his life largely on his own terms. Certain things such
as worry about money or domestic crises might cause ripples on the
surface of his existence, but they did not reach to the depths of his
being. He was able to embrace everything — belief and doubt, hope and
disillusion, love and hatred — within the secure irony that he had
developed. That irony had served to encompass the breakdown of
romantic love within his marriage; it had served to create a unique
half-serious half-playful ceremony of friendships at Amen House; it
had even perhaps served to explain the fact that he, who had believed
himself to be the poet of married love, should find himself in love
extramaritally. But it had not prepared him for action taken by another
person — for his rejection by ‘Celia’.

That she did reject him was in fact not surprising. She wrote long
afterwards: “When one reads of the unhappy love affairs of poets, one
feels how mean were the objects of their affections, and why couldn’t
they have given more? But the reality of such situations is more
difficult.” Two things in particular made her draw back from him. The
first was that he wanted her not merely to accept the poems he addressed
to her, but to respond to them with intelligence and vitality; and she
found it impossible to sustain this kind of response with freshness when
new poems arrived on her desk almost every day. There was also his
fondness for inflicting pain, though this showed itself in 2 harmless way.
He would set her mock ‘examination papers’ on the English poets,
partly through a real wish to improve her knowledge, but also so that
he could threaten that if ‘the candidate’ failed to achieve the desired
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mark, she would be spanked on the hand with a ruler. So she withdrew,
and turned to another, whose office was, ironically, directly beneath
Williams’s ; the sound of their voices, filtering through the floorboards,
caused him agonies of jealousy. Though her rejection of him was not
sudden or surprising — nor entirely one-sided, for his feelings towards
her had changed a little because of her seeming indifference to his
poetry — the distress of it did not leave him, not least because she was
still one of his daily companions at Amen House, his friend and yet
totally isolated from him, Celia and not Celia, Cressida and not Cressida.

This she? no, this is Diomed’s Cressida.

‘How dreadful’, Williams wrote five years after the ending of the affair,
‘is the exalted head of the beloved moving serenely above and apart
from one! Well — here are five years of pain, and still the victory is
unachieved, partly because the will is not yet converted.” In 1934
‘Celia’ left Amen House, was married, and went to Java with her
husband. Yet Williams’s feelings for her lasted for the rest of his life.
In 1940 he wrote: “There can be few people who have behaved to each
other with the same criminal lunacy, the same insane fidelity of attach-
ment, the same throwing over and the same continual returns, the
same insults and injuries, and the same devotion and peace and need,
as Celia and 1.

What Williams called the ‘great period’ of the love affair came to an
end soon after the first Masque in 1927. Shortly afterwards, there began
his enormous outpouring of books: seven novels, more than a dozen
plays, three volumes of literary criticism, a handful of biographies,
- several books of theology, and a lengthy and complex cycle of Arthurian
poetry.

*

The ‘Celian experience’ itself was the subject of one of his first writings
after the event had occurred. This was The Chaste Wanton, of which the
title was casually suggested by Williams’s friend Gerard Hopkins as
suitable for a mock-Elizabethan play. Mock-Elizabethan it certainly
was, for Williams had not yet found his own poetic style, and he
depended, as his first four volumes of poetry show, on borrowing
techniques from those poets he admired. The Chaste Wanton was stylistic-
ally a pastiche of Shakespeare. Yet though its form was second-hand its
content was highly personal.

Set in an Italian ducal town of the Renaissance, the play begins with
the meeting of the Duchess, young and beautiful but restless and as yet
unfulfilled in life, with the middle-aged alchemist Vicenzo. He arrives
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at her court, falls in love with her, and works a great change in her. He
teaches her (in fact) the true nature of love, showing her, as Williams
showed ‘Celia’ and others, by means of his Romantic Theology, how
the process of loving can be ‘commerce with heaven’, a ladder to
beatitude. And at first the Duchess returns his love. But it would not
be an appropriate marriage, between a Duchess and a mere alchemist.
Meanwhile the Prince of Padua is asking for the Duchess’s hand, and
he of course is an ideal suitor, even though he could never have worked
the great change which now capacitates her for love. She chooses, in
the event, to accept Padua and to use what Vicenzo has taught her to
illuminate her marriage to the prince. Vicenzo hears the marriage treaty
proclaimed; then he is told, “The Duchess, sir, requires you; follow to
her.’

Vicengo: I — follow ?

Adrian : Sir, the Duchess bade -

Vicengo: There is none.
None, none, no Duchess. It is Tartary
you speak of ; there are Khans and Khanims . . .

It is Troilus all over again: ‘This she? no, this is Diomed’s Cressida.’
And now everything is lost for Vicenzo. ‘I would be somebody in
heaven,” he declares, ‘and now I am forever nothing and in hell.’

This death of love is followed by physical death. Among those at the
court is the Bishop, who when the marriage is announced talks to
Vicenzo in absurd platitudes about how the youthful romantic love of
the Duchess and Padua will eventually mature into ‘good works and
decent frame, Quiet moderation of a happy hearth’. This was the kind
of banality that Williams often found to be characteristic of the official
Church’s attitude to love — the very opposite of his Romantic Theology
with its belief that love can lead ever upwards to higher states of vision
and experience. Vicenzo responds in a fury, crying out: “The void! the
void! the utterance of the void!’ and leaps at the Bishop, who falls and
strikes his head against a stone seat. It is not clear whether the Bishop
dies as a result — in his plays, Williams was often very bad at explaining
what was actually going on — but the incident is enough to condemn
Vicenzo to death. The Duchess comes to him in his cell and, though
she hesitates to do so, Vicenzo bids her sign his death warrant. She has
killed their love, so it is a small matter by comparison to kill his body.
She signs it, and they part.

At the conclusion of The Chaste Wanton Charles Williams turned away
from love. This play — never performed during his lifetime — was his
record of the delight and tragedy of his ‘Celian experience’. The
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experience was never repeated, for he did not fall in love again. Nor
did he ever again use romantic love alone as the central matter of his
writings. His Romantic Theology was to play a vital part in his work,
but merely human love never concerned him again for its own sake.
It was perhaps too painful; it was certainly a stage which he felt he had
now left behind. For though he still regarded the death of the love affair
with ‘Celia’ as a tragedy, he seems also to have thought of it as a refining
fire which had purged his imagination and fitted it for higher things.
The immediate result was a novel.

*

It was called Shadows of Ecstasy, and it was (as a character in it remarked)
‘all such a mad mixture, purple rhetoric and precise realism, doctrines
of transmutation and babble about African witch-doctors and airships
and submarines’. Indeed it was one of the oddest books ever to go under
the name of novel.

Its lack of interest in ordinary character portrayal was striking —
though certainly one of the principal characters, Roger Ingram the
Professor of Applied Literature at London University, was recognisable
as bearing a superficial resemblance to Williams himself. Ingram is
committed to applying literature to his own and other people’s lives,
rather than, as he puts it, ‘embalming’ it in the manner of many literary
critics. He declares of the study of poetry: ‘You’ve nearly killed it, with
your appreciations and your fastidious judgements, and your lives of
this man and your studies in that. Love and poetry are powers. Power,
powert, it’s dying in you, and you don’t hunger to feel it live.” It was the
first appearance of the theme of power, a theme which ran through all
Williams’s early novels.

Ingram soon encounters someone who shares his recognition that
poetry is a living force or energy, someone who (and this is the central
point of the novel) can show him how to use that energy to give himself
strength. This is Considine, a man who claims to have conquered death,
and who has already lived for two hundred years. Considine has done
this, he says, by turning the force of all emotional experiences inward
upon himself, so that instead of pouring his energy out as other men
do in love and hate, joy and misery, he can convert the strength of these
feelings into a form of power which will infinitely prolong his physical
life. ‘I have poured the strength of every love and hate into my own
life,” he tells Ingram, ‘and now I need love and hate no more.” Con-
sidine explains that he learnt this in his youth when he was rejected by
a girl he loved, and, experiencing severe emotional pain, said to himself,
‘If this pain were itself power . . .” Now he can transmute — and can
show others how to transmute — all sexual energy into such self-
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strengthening power; and not just sexual energy, but all such forces of
the emotions. Ingram hesitates, but eventually commits himself to
becoming a disciple of this superman, and begins to experience the
strengthening force of emotion turned back into his own life. However,
Considine is murdered by a jealous follower, and at the end of the book
Ingram is left desolate, wondering whether Considine can indeed
conquer death and return to the living.

This is just the central matter of the plot. The other odd happenings,
thrown into the story with a total disregard for plausibility, do indeed
produce a ‘mad mixture’; and understandably Shadows of Ecstasy at first
failed to find a publisher. It is the least successful of Williams’s novels.
But it is also the most autobiographical; for what Considine teaches
Ingram — that the emotions can be turned inwards to strengthen the
personality — was what Williams now believed.

His next novel to be offered for publication was War in Heaven. In it,
the theme of power is not yet fully developed. Certainly the central
object in the story, the Holy Graal, contains stored supernatural power
which may be released by an adept in black magic. But this is not of
prime importance in the novel, which is really little more than a jes
d’esprit investigating the possibilities of the supernatural when used in
‘thriller’ form. Not that it is at all humorous or light-weight; the
passages describing the magical practices are sometimes singularly and
unpleasantly vivid, so that one wonders if Williams is not gratuitously
enjoying them beyond the demands of the story. But in general the
book’s treatment of the supernatural is more like, say, Chesterton’s The
Man Who Was Thursday than anything Williams wrote later, while the
character of the Archdeacon bears a marked resemblance to Chesterton’s
Father Brown.!

Perhaps because it could be recognised as belonging to an existing
genre of novel, War in Heaven eventually (after several rejections) was

! Much of Williams’s early (i.e. pre-Taliessin through Logres) poctry shows the
influence of Chesterton; e.g. Williams’s ‘Taliessin’s Song of Byzantion’ printed in
Three Plays, p. 65:

In the gate of Santa Sophia, amid patriarchs and popes

I saw the Emperor sitting, and the smoke of earthly hopes
went up to him as incense, and the tapers shone around

as prayers before the Emperor, sitting aureoled and crowned.

As God sits in the pictures that the monks on parchment draw,
in pavilions over Sinai, giving Israel the law,

or thrusting scas in order and firmaments in place,

and the little devils hiding from the terror of his face;

in the gate of Holy Wisdom, so 1 saw the Emperor sit . . . (etc.)

94




cWw.

accepted by Victor Gollancz and published in 1930. Its success was
sufficient for three more novels by Williams to be published by the
same firm shortly afterwards. He was writing fast now, partly in office
hours at the Press. War in Heaven actually brought him some modest
royalties, and the prospect of making money by writing encouraged
him to continue in the same vein. Not that he had any absurd dream of
riches, but there was a constant stream of household bills to be settled.
His salary at the Press was not unreasonably low, but he was bad at
managing money — he was always buying cups of coffee and glasses of
sherry and meals for his friends — and in any case his memories of
financial anxiety in his childhood left him in a constant state of worry
about his bank-balance. So he went on writing novels specifically for
the purpose of making money, and indeed he believed strongly that
this was an excellent motive. He declared that it was the stimulus of
potential poverty that had produced so many great writers from the
ranks of the financially unstable lower middle classes. ‘I saw Shake-
speare’, he wrote in a poem,

In a Tube station on the Central London:

He was smoking a pipe:

He had Sax Rohmer’s best novel under his arm
(In a cheap edition)

And the Evening News.

He was reading in the half-detached way one does.
He had just come away from an office

And the notes for The Merchant

Were in his pocket,

Beginning (it was the first line he thought of)
‘Still quiring to the young-eyed cherubins’,

But his chief wish was to be earning more money.

This poem shows Williams’s total disregard for the conventional
distinctions of time and space, the natural and the supernatural, and
his habit of setting extraordinary events against mundane backgrounds.
If he wanted to talk about seeing Shakespeare, why should it not happen
in a Tube railway station? If he wished to write a novel about the
magical properties of the Stone of Suleiman, then let it be set in modern
London and let the participants include the Lord Chief Justice and his
secretary. (This was Many Dimensions, published in 1931, and including
in the character of the secretary Chloe something of a portrait of ‘Celia’.)
Or if the plot was to concern the appearance in the material world of
‘huge and mighty forms’, the Platonic archetypes themselves, then let
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those archetypes appear in the most ordinary landscape that he knew,
the Hertfordshire countryside surrounding St Albans. (This was The
Place of the Lion, published in the same year.) And, if his subject was
to be the Tarot cards and their supernatural relation to the ‘eternal
dance’ of the universe, let the terrifying results of the use and abuse of
those cards be experienced by a modern middle-class citizen at a house
on the South Downs. (This was The Greater Trumps, published in 1932. i
Shadows of Ecstasy was eventually issued a year later.)

These novels were all concerned with the rightful and wrongful use
of power. And here somebody reading them may find himself in some
confusion, for Williams’s ideas of right and wrong often seem extremely
odd. In Shadows of Ecstasy it is disturbing to find the ‘hero’ Roger
Ingram becoming a disciple of the ‘villain’ Considine. In War in Heaven
it is at first puzzling to discover that Williams seems to have almost as
much enthusiasm for the cause of the black magicians as for the Arch-
deacon and his friends. And in The Greater Trumps, when Aaron Lee
and his grandson Henry use the Tarot cards to raise a great storm by
which they hope to murder a man, Williams seems to take sides with
them as much as with Coningsby, their intended victim. What has
happened to his moral sense?

The answer is that in these novels he was not principally concerned
with moral issues. The question of the nature of good and evil occupied
his mind, but he did not discuss it in depth in the novels, reserving it
for his religious dramas and his theological study He Came Down From
Heaven. For the moment he was content to leave it somewhat on one
side, and to judge the characters in his novels not by such terms as
‘good’ and ‘bad’ but by differentiating their attitudes to the super-
natural. Low in the scale come such people as Damaris Tighe in The
Place of the Lion, who merely studies the history of supernatural beliefs
without considering what she herself should believe. Low too in the
scale are those — and there are many in the novels — who desire to use
supernatural powers for their own ends; but though this may be evil
it does show a proper awareness of those powers. Higher are those
persons such as Lord Atrglay in Many Dimensions and Sir Bernard
Travers in Shadows of Eestasy who are true agnostics, having decided
neither to believe nor to disbelieve but to remain with open minds;
and their unruffled scepticism, characteristic of one aspect of Williams
himself, in its way admits that belief is possible. Highest of all come
those few — there is rarely more than one in each novel — who commit
themselves fully to the supernatural, resigning themselves utterly into
its hands, even if the result is (as it sometimes is) physical death.

Even this bare summary of some of the elements in the novels shows
how unusual they are, a ‘mad mixture’ even by the side of conventional
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occult or supernatural fiction. Not surprisingly, when they were first
published a lot of people found them unreadable, or dismissed them
as ‘painfully incredible’ (J. B. Priestley’s comment on The Greater
Trumps.) However, some readers admired them greatly. Among these
admirers was T. S. Eliot.

‘There are no novels anywhere quite like them,” wrote Eliot. ‘He
makes our everyday world much more exciting, because of the super-
natural which he finds always active in it. He really believes in what he
is talking about. And seeing all persons and all events in the light of
the divine, he shows us a significance, in human beings, human
emotions, human events, to which we had been blind.’

Eliot had been told to read War in Heaven and The Place of the Lion
by Lady Ottoline Morrell, and shortly afterwards (in 1934) she invited
Williams to one of her London tea parties to meet Eliot. ‘I remember
a man in spectacles,’ recalled Eliot of the occasion, ‘who appeared to
combine a frail physique with exceptional vitality. He appeared com-
pletely at ease in surroundings with which he was not yet familiar, and
which had intimidated many; and at the same time was modest and
unassuming to the point of humility. One retained the impression that
he was pleased and grateful for the opportunity of meeting the com-
pany, and yet that it was he who had conferred a favour — more than
a favour, a kind of benediction, by coming.’*

By the time the two men met, Williams had already published his
opinion of Eliot’s poetry. This was in Poetry at Present, a volume (based
on his evening classes) of brief critical studies of contemporary poets —
or rather, critical enthusiasms, for typically Williams used the essays to
point out strengths rather than to lay bare weaknesses. Although in his
own poetry he had as yet shown little interest in post-1914 styles, he
found much to admire in modern verse. Indeed, only in one major
instance did he fail to show much understanding. ‘I feel a real apology
is due to Mr Eliot,” he wrote, ‘for whose work I profess a sincere and
profound respect, though I fail to understand it.” He declared himself
disturbed by what he called Eliot’s ‘unmeaning’, and said: ‘If only we

1 Among those of Lady Ottoline’s guests who were ‘intimidated’ was Hugo
Dyson. He was invited to Garsington Manor on several occasions when he was an
undergraduate. Recalling these visits (in a radio broadcast fifty years later) he said
that at Garsington he had encountered ‘all the people whom secretly one would
have most desired to meet — and, as so often happened to a shy insignificant person,
when one did meet them one was filled with a kind of terror. They were kindly
enough, but I found them alarming. They weren’t, most of them, my weight.
I do remember finding Virginia Woolf immensely beautiful and immensely
frightening; and one of my fears — I don’t think I was quite alone in this — was that
she would speak to me one day (but she never did).” (In conversation with Roger
Green, BBC Radio Oxford, May 1971.)
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could neglect it, and go back to our sound traditional versifiers!” Yet
of those versifiers he said, referring to Eliot’s ‘Sweeney Among the
Nightingales’, “Which of them has, in their own way, ever done any-
thing half so good ?’

On the basis of this puzzled respect by Williams, and Eliot’s enthu-
siasm for Williams’s novels, a slightly restrained friendship began
between them. They enjoyed each other’s company when they met,
which was perhaps once or twice a year; but there was only a limited
understanding between them, and their most profound ideas were not
shared. They might, in fact, have achieved a real exchange of thought,
for as Christian poets their work was largely a matter of related
opposites: Williams wrote about such ‘affirmative’ aspects of Chris-
tianity as the Dantean approach to romantic love, while Eliot was
concerned largely with the ‘negative’ or ascetic rejection of the world.
There were indeed certain small influences on each side: Williams
showed a few traces of Eliot’s style in some of his later poems, and Eliot
by his own admission took the ‘still point of the turning wotld’ in Burnt
Norton from the Fool in Williams’s The Greater Trumps. Perhaps too the
moment in The Cocktail Party when Reilly quotes Shelley’s lines about
a doppelginger was suggested by a similar use of those lines in Williams’s
Descent into Hell. But such things did not show any fundamental undet-
standing between the two men. Their differences far exceeded any such
slight similarities, and they largely failed to communicate with each
other.

*

The fame of Williams’s novels was never great, and such as it was it
spread slowly. It was early in the nineteen-thirties that R. W. Chambers,
Professor of English at London University, read and admired those of
them that had been published. Chambers knew C. S. Lewis, and he
mentioned to Lewis that he ought to read one of these ‘spiritual
shockers’ by Williams. But at first Lewis did not do anything about it.

It was not until February 1936, when he was calling on Nevill Cog-
hill in Exeter College and heard his host eloquently praising The Place
of the Lion, that Lewis borrowed Coghill’s copy, took it home, and read
it. Perhaps it was fortunate that it was this book rather than any other
of the early novels that formed his introduction to Williams’s work.
Not only did one of its themes - the necessity of taking philosophical
and religious studies utterly seriously and not merely using them as
‘research’ — agree with what Lewis himself often said, but the book
lacked any of the unpleasantness which sometimes seemed to be
beneath the surface of the black magic and ‘sexual energy’ in War in
Heaven and Shadows of Ecstasy.
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On 26 February 1936 Lewis wrote to Arthur Greeves: ‘I have just
read what I think a really great book, The Place of the Lion by Chatles
Williams. It is based on the Platonic theory of the other world in which
the archetypes of all earthly qualities exist: and in the novel these
archetypes start sucking our world back. The lion of strength appears
in the world and the strength starts going out of houses and things into
him. The archetypal butterfly (enormous) appears and all the butterflies
of the world fly back into him. But every man contains and ought to
be able to rule these forces: and there is one man in the book who does.
It is not only a most exciting fantasy, but a deeply religious and (un-
obtrusively) a profoundly learned book. The reading of it has been a
good preparation for Lent as far as I am concerned: for it shows me
(through the heroine) the special sin of the abuse of intellect to which
all my profession are liable, more clearly than I ever saw it before. I
have learned more than I ever knew yet about humility. In fact it has
been a big experience. Do get it, and don’t mind if you don’t under-
stand everything the first time. It deserves reading over and over again.
It isn’t often now-a-days you get a Christian fantasy.’

As it happened, Lewis’s A/legory of Love, then provisionally titled
The Allegorical Love Poem, was at this time in the hands of the Oxford
University Press and awaiting publication. The book was the concern
of the academic division of the Press in Oxford, but the London branch
had some responsibility for sales, and Humphrey Milford was given a
set of proofs so that he could get one of his staff to write a descriptive
paragraph about it. He passed these proofs to Williams, who read them
through at speed, and was delightedly amazed to find Lewis praising
Dante’s ‘noble fusion of sexual and religious experience’.

Williams had no sooner finished reading the book and had written
a paragraph praising it than he heard from Milford that Lewis had been
saying complimentary things about The Place of the Lion. A day later he
received a letter from Lewis saying that he thought the novel remark-
able. Williams replied by return of post:

12 March 1936
My dear Mr Lewis,

If you had delayed writing another 24 hours our letters would
have crossed. It has never before happened to me to be admiring an
author of a book while he at the same time was admiring me. My
admiration for the staff work of the Omnipotence rises every day.

To be exact, I finished on Saturday looking — too hastily — at proofs
of your Allegorical Love Poem. 1 regard your book as practically the
only one that I have ever come across, since Dante, that shows the
slightest understanding of what this very peculiar identity of love
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‘A tremendous flow

of words’

Lewis did not often come to London. Business rarely took him there,
and he saw in the capital city little of the significance that Williams
perceived, finding it to be mostly chaos where Williams could distin-
guish order. But he did sometimes have to make a journey up from
Oxford, and next time this happened he accepted Williams’s invitation
and had lunch with him. He was as fascinated by Williams the man as
he had been by The Place of the Lion.

‘He is’, he told Arthur Greeves, ‘of humble origin (there are still
traces of Cockney in his voice), ugly as a chimpanzee but so radiant
(he emanates more /ove than any man I have ever known) that as soon
as he begins talking he is transfigured and looks like an angel. He
sweeps some people quite off their feet and has many disciples. Women

“find him so attractive that if he were a bad man he could do what he

liked either as 2 Don Juan or a charlatan.’

*

By this time Williams did indeed have ‘disciples’, largely as a result of
lecturing for the Evening Institutes. After a bravura performance in the
lecture itself, he would lead a discussion which electrified his audience
into believing that they themselves were almost as clever and interesting
as he was. An inevitable result was that many of them stayed behind to
talk to him afterwards; and an inevitable result of that was a long con-
versation, usually conducted as he sat with his pupils in a tea shop or
strolled with them through the London streets — the habit of peripatetic
talking had remained with him since the childhood walks with his
father. Nor did it end there, for a number of friends he made in this
fashion ceased to be contented with a once-weekly meeting at an
evening class, and began to search him out at the Press. At Amen
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House, ‘C. W.’s young women’ (as they were known) soon made up a
large proportion of the visitors.

The majority of those who sought him out were indeed young
women, and, as Lewis noted, they found him extremely attractive.
Not that he was good-looking in a conventional way; one female
admirer spoke disparagingly of the shape of his mouth, and of ‘his
curious accent and the unpleasing timbre of his voice’. But she added:
‘Of all these details I was unconscious. His was a dignity which out-
soared absurdity; as his was an attractiveness so potent that it turned
the ugliness of his voice and features to no account.’

The source of this potent attraction was hard to define. It was partly
the manner of his movements, the way he would sweep himself up-
stairs, whirl a visitor into a room, and offer a greeting or conduct a
farewell with Elizabethan courtesy, bending over the hand of a female
friend and kissing it lightly. It was also the intensity of his gaze; and
it was the blend of sympathy, as he listened to an outpouring of troubles
and personal problems, with command; for he would answer any such
outpouring with a firm instruction, holding the friend by the wrist and
counting on her fingers as he spoke: ‘Love — obey — pray — play — and
be intelligent.” It was also his lack of self-consciousness, which allowed
him to call unblushingly to a young woman friend across a crowded
railway carriage: ‘God bless you, child. Under the Protection.’

There was, in other words, a good deal of personal magnetism. And
there was also something in his manner that is best described as in-
cantatory. The benediction called across the railway carriage and the
rhythmic phrase tapped out on the fingers were manifestations of this;
as were his lectures, in which he chanted lines of verse almost as if they
were magical formulae. They were not always lines that made any great
sense out of context — ‘And thus the Filial Godhead answering spake’
from Paradise Lost and ‘Felt in the blood and felt along the heart’ from
Wordsworth’s ‘“Tintern Abbey’ were among his favourites — but he did
not believe that the actual meaning of such lines was especially import-
ant. ‘There has been a great deal too much talking of what the poets
mean,” he wrote in The English Poetic Mind. And in another context he
said: ‘It isn’t what poetry says, it is what poetry 7s.” What poetry was
to him was a storehouse of emotional or even supernatural power. He
believed he could come into contact with that power by chanting lines
of great verse. Like Roger Ingram in Shadows of Ecstasy he ‘submitted
his obedience to the authority of Milton and Wordsworth, waiting for
the august plenitude of their poetry to be manifested within him’.

This was not the usual stuff of London County Council evening
classes, but many of his audience found it magnificent. And if they
became friends with him, it was only the first of several metaphysical
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notions with which he presented them. Those who showed themselves
particularly sympathetic to his ideas were told that they might like to
regard themselves as one of the ‘Companions of the Co-inherence’.

%

It was not Williams’s own idea to form an Order. The impetus to
establish it came from his disciples, and for a long time he was reluctant
to do any such thing. But at last he agreed to permit those who desired
it to call themselves members of a Company, and in time he came to
like the idea. Some years later he expressed the nature of such a body
in a poem which was part of his Arthurian cycle, “The Founding of the
Company’:

Grounded in the Acts of the Throne and the pacts of the themes,
it lived only by conceded recollection,

having no decision, no vote or admission,

but for the single note that any soul

took of its own election of the Way; the whole

shaped no frame nor titular claim to place.

The ‘Companions of the Co-inherence’ (the name generally given to
the group, though it was often referred to as ‘the Household’ or ‘the
Company’) took their title from one of Williams’s central ideas, which
had first grown in his mind during the 191418 war, when his grief at
the death of the two close friends of his Working Men’s College days
eventually persuaded him that all human beings are totally dependent
on each other, that indeed ‘no man is an Island’, and that each thought

-or action has a bearing on other people. This idea he called Co-inherence,

and he developed it further, suggesting that even evil actions will pro-
duce good and that many good things will lead to evil. There is, he
believed, an enormous potential both for good and evil in every piece
of human behaviour. Not that this argued against there being such a
thing as sin. ‘Sin’, he said, ‘is the preference of an immediately satis-
fying experience to the declared pattern of the universe’; and it is, he
said, the Christian’s duty to perceive that pattern (‘the eternal dance’
he called it in The Greater Trumps) and to act according to it.

Williams’s ‘Co-inherence’ harmonised with orthodox - Christian
teaching. But others of his doctrines which the Companions were asked
to observe and practise were less conventional.

First was Romantic Theology. He impressed upon those close to him
that lovers should see in each other a reflection of God, that in the beauty
of the beloved ‘an explanation of the whole universe is being offered,
and indeed in some sense understood; only it cannot be defined’.
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Romantic Theology was not peculiar to Williams — he had found it, of
course, in Dante — but it was more idiosyncratic than Co-inherence, and
when he drafted a book on it in the early nineteen-twenties and offered
it to the Press, Humphrey Milford was distinctly dubious, and sent the
manuscript to an adviser for comment. Unfortunately for Williams that
adviser was “Tommy’ Strong, the Bishop of Oxford, who was not only
a bachelor but reputedly a misogynist. Not surprisingly Strong did not
recommend that ‘Outlines of Romantic Theology’ be published, and
the book remained in manuscript, its contents gradually being absorbed
into Williams’s other writings during the succeeding years.

The real gulf between Williams and such churchmen as Strong was
not in their attitudes to women but in their approach to the Christian
life. Indeed, Williams was steering a markedly different course from
that chosen by the majority of Christian teachers over the centuries.
Traditionally, the Church has more often emphasised asceticism and
the rejection of worldly enjoyment than the alternative, the trans-
mutation of the delights of the world into the Christian vision. But it
was this last method which Williams adhered to. He called it The Way
of Affirmation, as opposed to the ascetic Way of Rejection. His Ro-
mantic Theology was ‘affirmative’ in that it used worldly love as its
starting-point rather than rejecting it in favour of an ascetic life; and
there was Affirmation too in Williams’s other principal doctrine which
was practised by the Companions of the Co-inherence: the practice of
‘Substitution’ or ‘Substituted Love’. This doctrine was not developed
by Williams until some years after he had outlined Romantic Theology,
and it was never communicated to Bishop Strong, which was perhaps
just as well; for that ecclesiastical dignitary would undoubtedly have
been highly perturbed by it.

The first notion of Substitution occurred to Williams in 1932. ‘I have
a point to discuss with you’, he wrote to a young friend from the even-
ing classes, Thelma Shuttleworth, ‘which makes me wonder whether
the New Testament may not be merely true in some of its advice. All
about “bearing one another’s burdens”. I have an awful (full of awe)
feeling that one can.’

In his thinking and writings Williams had already paid much atten-
tion to the metaphorical implications of ‘bear ye one another’s burdens’.
It was a natural development from Co-inherence to observe the degree
in which human life depends on the principle of exchange, on the
sharing of tasks and responsibilities. Mundane forms of this exchange
include commerce (where money is offered in return for goods) and
professional and business life (where members of the community
undertake specialised responsibilities by which they serve others).
These mundane exchanges can of course be seen in any city, and this
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helped to strengthen Williams’s notion of cities in general and the
City of London in particular as a type of the City of God, for he
believed that Exchange was a heavenly principle. But as to the /itera/
implications of St Paul’s words about bearing one another’s burdens,
that was another matter.

Could personal burdens be born by others? Could, for example,
someone racked by worry or anxiety pass that particular emotional
burden to someone else who had agreed voluntarily to accept it?
Williams came to believe that this could in fact be done, simply by a
mutual pact, came to believe even that actual physical pain could be
taken over by someone who was willing to substitute himself or herself
for the sufferer. And this Substitution became an important activity of
the Companions of the Co-inherence.?

*

Did it work? Certainly a number of responsible and sensible people
who knew Williams were strongly persuaded that it did. It was after
all in spirit entirely Christian — Williams regarded the Crucifixion as
the ultimate Substitution, by which Christ offered his own suffering
for the sins of the world. On the other hand, like so much of Williams’s
thought, it did have an air of the magical. And did Williams have any
right to assume authority in it, instructing (as he sometimes did) one
of the Companions to substitute herself for another who was going
through some physical or emotional difficulty ?

‘Substitution’ played quite a large part in Williams’s letters to the
Companions and to other friends and admirers. And though his letters
did not deal only with such spiritual matters — he often discussed his
‘poetry, or the absurdities of daily life, all with a delightfully wry wit? -
they tended, as one of his disciples in the nineteen-forties, Lois Lang-
Sims, remarked, to consist of ‘a tremendous flow of words’. The letters
were also open to misinterpretation. ‘My dear Thelma,” he began one
such letter,

I very nearly adore you. In fact I do; so that you can say, as the
Angel in the Apocalypse said to the Divine John, ‘See thou do it

1 It has been pointed out to me that Williams’s concept of Substitution may have
been suggested by Kipling’s short story ‘The Wish House’, which was first pub-
lished in 1924 and which tells the story of an old woman who makes a deal with a
spirit or ‘token’ that she will bear all the pain of the man she loves, up to and
including terminal cancer. Kipling’s blend of the modern with the supernatural
probably had a wide influence on Williams’s imagination.

2 For the breadth of subject-matter in Williams’s letters, see the many examples
quoted below, in Part Three, Chapter 5.
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not’. But one may adore Love-in-Thelma, and think that the dwelling
place of the Eternal that dwelleth in the heavens is a very trans-
muting one. Remember that you 4re more lucid, more beautiful,
more Love. I add in a postscript that you are as divine a creature as
I have ever known in this high pursuit of Love.

Thelma Shuttleworth was wise enough in the ways of Charles Williams
to know that this was a demonstration of Romantic Theology rather
than of erotic passion. She recalled of these years, ‘We were together
in love, though never with one another.” But others did not find it so
easy to make the distinction, or did not care to. ‘I was by this time’,
wrote Lois Lang-Sims of her growing feelings for Williams,  “in love”
with Charles in the sense that I wanted to be his mistress.’

He never took sexual advantage of any of his disciples who found
themselves in this state of mind; or at least he did not do so in the
conventional sense. His general rule, as C. S. Lewis observed, was ‘to
teach them the ars honesta amandi and then bestow them on other
(younger) men’. On the other hand Lois Lang-Sims alleges that on one
occasion he put his arms round her and ‘held me in a strange stillness,
a silence so unlike his usual loquacity, a motionlessness so unlike his
usual excitement, that nothing could have been further from the kind
of behaviour my previous knowledge of him had led me to expect’. At
the time she was greatly puzzled, not to say alarmed. Later she thought
she recognised in this behaviour a kind of ritual that was sometimes
practised by magical sects, and even by some early Christians until the
practice was strongly suppresscd in the Church, a ritual that attempts
to heighten consciousness and increase power by harnessing the sexual
instinct, and achieving a kind of tension-of-polarity between desire and
restraint. If Lois Lang-Sims was right,? Williams was actually putting
into practice the kind of thing he had hinted at some years earlier in
Shadows of Ecstasy, where a young lover sees in his mind the naked
physical beauty of his beloved, but instead of aiming his desires towards
sexual consummation ‘seemed to control and compel them into sub-
terranean torrents towards hidden necessities within him’.

Those of Williams’s disciples who confessed to small failures or a
general lapse of conduct would find that he imposed some small penance
upon them; for instance, ‘You’ll copy out for me the first twelve verses
of the 52nd chapter of Isaiah: you will do this as soon as you can, and

! In the first chapter of his book The Descent of the Dove Williams certainly mentions
with some enthusiasm the subintroductae of the early church, women who slept with
their male companions without sexual intercourse. He says: ‘In some cases it failed.
But we know nothing — most unfortunately — of the cases in which it did not fail.
He calls the practice ‘dangerous but dangerous with a kind of heavenly daring’.

106




‘A tremendous flow of words’

you’ll learn the first three verses by heart.” Occasionally too there was
evidence here of the sadistic element in his personality, for he would
sometimes threaten a whipping as a punishment for misbehaviour. But
this remained in the realm of fantasy.

Williams himself had no delusions about his own personality. ‘God
forbid I should call myself an apostle!” he told Thelma Shuttleworth.
‘I am the least — O unworthy, unworthy! — of all.” But he believed
firmly that his own failings made not a jot of difference to the validity
of his teaching. ‘St Paul knew that it is possible to preach to others and
yet to be a castaway,” he wrote. ‘Only — and this the fools sometimes
forget — the preaching is true all the same.’

He often emphasised this point in his writings. Of the poet Peter
Stanhope in the novel Descent into Hell — a character undoubtedly based
on what Williams would have liked to be! — it is said: ‘“Whether his
personal life could move to the sound of his own lucid exaltation of
verse she [Pauline Anstruther] did not know. It was not her business;
perhaps it was not even his.” And when discussing Dante and the Way
of Affirmation (i.e. Romantic Theology), Williams declares: ‘We do
not know if, or how far, Dante himself in his personal life cared or was
able to follow the Way he defined, nor is it our business.” These remarks
ought to be remembered during any investigation of Williams’s own
life. Moreover, the personality expressed in his writings and remem-
bered by his friends did show a positive quality of inner calm, of
humility; so that it is possible to understand how T. S. Eliot could say
of Williams, ‘He seemed to me to approximate, more nearly than any
man I have known familiarly, to the saint.’

*

‘What finally convinced me that he has written a great poem was a
transformation which my judgment underwent in reading it.” The
periodical in which this review appeared was Theology for April 1939;
the reviewer was C. S. Lewis. After long effort, Williams had published
the first volume of his cycle of Arthurian poetry, Taliessin through Logres.

‘T liked its “flavour” from the first,” wrote Lewis, ‘but found it so
idiosyncratic that I thought the book might be what Lamb called a
“favourite”, a thing not for all days or all palates, like Tristram Shandy
or the Arcadia. But as I went on I found bit after bit of my “‘real world”
falling into its place in the poem. I found pair after pair of opposites har-
moniously reconciled. I began to see that what had seemed a deliciously

1 Williams himself used ‘Peter Stanhope’ as a nom de plume for his religious drama
Judgement at Chelmsford, and the character of Stanhope in Descent into Hell resembles
Williams in many particulars. On the other hand Stanhope in the novel differs from
Williams in that he enjoys success and fame almost on a par with Shakespeare.
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private universe was the common universe after all: that this apparently
romantic and even wilful poem was really “classic” and central. I do
not think this can happen in a2 minor work.’

After their first meeting at which he had been captivated by Williams,
Lewis continued to see him as often as possible, though the friendship
was limited by the distance between Oxford and London. Occasionally
Williams came down to visit Lewis at Magdalen; more often the meet-
ings were in London, either in Williams’s tiny office at Amen House
or at his favourite lunch-place, Shirreff’s under the railway arch in
Ludgate Hill. Williams usually had nothing more than a sandwich for
his lunch, but on one memorable occasion in 1938 Lewis brought his
brother Warnie and Hugo Dyson with him from Oxford, and they all
ate (said Lewis) ‘kidneys enclosed, like the wicked man, in their own
fat’. After lunch they walked about and sat in St Paul’s churchyard,
conducting what Lewis afterwards remembered as an ‘almost Platonic
discussion’.

Lewis and Williams continued to profess enthusiasm for each other’s
writings. When in 1938 Williams published what might be called a
‘handlist’ of his interpretations of Christian doctrine, He Came Down
From Heaven, he referred in it to Lewis’s The Allegory of Love, which he
called ‘one of the most important critical books of our time’. Lewis was
equally enthusiastic about Taliessin throngh Logres when it appeared in
the same year, and his support was especially valuable to Williams,
because otherwise the book met with little success.

This was scarcely surprising, for the poems it contained were
extremely difficult to understand, even by the standard of Williams’s
other writings. He paid little attention to the central events of the
Arthurian story but concentrated on lesser-known details from Malory,
and introduced other figures, most notably Taliessin, the poet of Celtic
legend, whom he made King’s Poet at Arthur’s court — and whose
character and role had a relation to Williams’s own idea of himself. He
named Arthur’s kingdom ‘Logtes’, using a Celtic word for Britain, and
he made Logres a province of “The Empire’, by which he meant literally
the Byzantine Empire and metaphorically the Kingdom of God on
earth. Geographical features of his Arthurian landscape included not
just Malory’s ‘Carbonek’ (the Grail castle) and ‘Sarras’ (the earthly
paradise or ‘land of the Trinity’) but also ‘Broceliande’, a forest of
metaphysical rather than physical character, a ‘place of making’ from
which both good and evil may come; and there was also ‘P’o-I’v’, the
antipodean seat of a diabolical Anti-Emperor. This name was a private
jest, though a sad one, for Williams had found ‘P’o-I’'u’ on a map of
Java, and it was to Java that his Celia had gone after her marriage. On
top of all this was an extra layer of symbolism, by which different parts
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of the human body were chosen to represent different provinces of the
Empire: the head for Logres, the breasts for Gaul, the buttocks for
Caucasia; while these provinces themselves represented spiritual
characteristics. Williams had adapted this idea from the Sephirotic
Tree in A. E. Waite’s Secrez Doctrine in Israel, and he used it literally
‘on top’ of the geography of his Arthurian poems, for on the endpapers
of Taliessin through Logres was printed a map of the Empire with a naked
female body superimposed.

Taliessin went almost unnoticed. It was meant by Williams to be the
finest expression of his thought, and he had taken many years over the
development of the poems in it, the majority of which were far more
modern in style than his earlier verse; they showed some influence of
Gerard Manley Hopkins, the collected edition of whose poems he had
revised for the Press, and they had also benefited from the advice of a
friend, the young poet Anne Ridler. But for the most part they were
incomprehensible to anyone not entirely conversant with Williams’s
ideas. ‘Taliessin through Logres contained some beautiful poetry,” wrote
T. S. Eliot a year after the book was published, ‘but also some of the
most obscure poetry that was ever written.’

Williams was in fact having little popular success with any of his
books, though this was not for lack of trying. During the nineteen-
thirties his output was immense. Besides the poetry there were three
volumes of literary criticism, several plays (including Thomas Cranmer
of Canterbury which was performed at the Canterbury Festival the year
after Murder in the Cathedral), two theological books (He Came Down
From Heaven and The Descent of the Dove), innumerable book reviews
for newspapers and for Time & Tide, and five historical biographies,
- of Henry VII, Elizabeth, James I, Bacon, and the Restoration po-t
Rochester. He also wrote a number of articles, edited The New Book of
English Verse for Gollancz, revised the Bridges edition of Hopkins’
poems, and contributed to several anthologies for the Oxford Univer-
sity Press. And on top of this there were the novels.

The historical biographies were the product of an intimate know-
ledge of their subjects and periods, but they were undertaken to earn
money and were written in a hurry. Inevitably they often revealed
themselves as pot-boilers. ‘He always boiled an honest pot,” said T. S.
Eliot of them; but too often Williams resorted to stylistic mannerisms.
Graham Greene, reviewing Rochester, singled out this passage:

“The poor benefit of a bewildering minute’ had a vivid place in the
awareness of my lord’s poetic genius. It is in the mere admiration of
what, in the contrasting line of Mr T. S. Eliot, has been, with a
larger but inclusive scope, called ‘the infirm glory of the positive
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hour’. It was precisely the ‘infirm glory’ and ‘the poor benefit’ of
which my lord’s angry contempt was contendingly aware.

Graham Greene called this ‘pretentious jargon’, and said that one would
hardly think it referred to a bawdy incident at the Customs. ‘A great
deal of the book is very badly written,” he added. ‘Mr Williams loses
himself hopelessly in abstractions.’

Even when Williams’s work was good, the fact that his large output
covered several different fields of literature meant that he did not make
his name as a specialist. Until 1939 only his novels built up any sub-
stantial regular following, and even then their sales were small.
Gollancz, who published the first five, were not encouraged, and when
Wiiliams offered them another novel in 1937 they rejected it.

This rejection was partly because the new book, Descent into Hell,
was notably different from its predecessors, lacking their crisply
dramatic opening chapters and having very little of the ‘thriller” about
it. It would probably not have been published at all had not T. S. Eliot
accepted it on behalf of Faber & Faber, of which he was a director.
Eliot said that he did not find it as enthralhng as Williams’s earlier
novels; but he liked it enough to want to see it in print. In fact Descent
into Hell was a remarkable piece of work, in many ways better than
anything Williams had done before. It was slow to gather momentum
but eventually achieved a terrifying sense of the damnation of one man.
Yet when it was published its success in financial terms was no greater
than that of its predecessors. By this time Williams had to resign him-
self to the fact that if he had not exactly failed as a writer, he had by
no means achieved the success for which he had once perhaps hoped.

When war broke out in September 1939 he was fifty-two and not in
the best of health — he had undergone a serious operation for a gastric
disorder, intussuception, some years earlier. He was also very tired. He
was, too, saddened by what had happened to the Press in the ten years
since the Masques had been performed. The old sense of purpose had
gone. Humphrey Milford, now Sir Humphrey, seemed more remote,
and had withdrawn himself from all but necessary conversation (he
was in fact suffering from an undiagnosed illness). And now, at the
outbreak of war, the entire staff of Amen House were to be evacuated
to Oxford. “To think we said the Masque was God!” Williams wrote
sadly.

It was? My dear! How very odd!
But if it was you must allow
God is as dead as doornails now.
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I

“They are good for

my mind’

‘Outside Lewis I never want to see anyone of Oxford or in Oxford
again,” Charles Williams wrote to his wife on 4 October 1939.

He had moved down from London with his Oxford University Press
colleagues a month earlier. Temporary office premises had been found
for them in Southfield House, an unremarkable mansion on the Cowley
Road to the east of the city, and things were very makeshift there.
Most of the staff had to share cramped rooms and, though Williams
was lucky enough to have an office to himself, that ‘office’ was a bath-
room. Certainly it was a large bathroom, and somebody had fitted a
cover to the bath so that it made a useful shelf for manuscripts and
books. Nor was the view from the window at all bad: there was a
gravel drive and a tall hedge, and beyond that were college playing-
fields. But it was not the kind of view that Williams cared for. ‘I was
- just saying to C. S. L., he told his wife, ‘that I have a nostalgia for
walking round the block in London — the City and the Dome; the flat
and you.’

At first it had been planned that his wife and son, Michal and Michael,
should come and live in Oxford with him. They journeyed down from
London just before war broke out, but Michal Williams did not much
care for what she found. Charles had been offered accommodation by
the Spalding family, who lived in a big house in South Parks Road
near the centre of the city; they had got to know him some months
earlier when his nativity play Seed of Adam was produced at the Uni-
versity Church by Ruth Spalding, a daughter of the family who worked
for the Religious Drama Society. Ruth and her sister Anne were
delighted to have him as a paying guest, and as their parents were in
America there was room in the house to accommodate his wife and son
until they could find something more permanent. But when the Wil-
liams family arrived, Michal was met almost on the doorstep by ‘the
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Aunt’, a fearsome member of the Spalding household, who cried:
‘Can you cook ? Can you wash? Can you darn ?* Michal, not caring for
this, turned tail and went back to London, taking the boy.

‘T sympathise with her,” remarked Chatles in a letter to a friend. ‘I
wish I had the chance of doing the same thing!” He liked the Spaldings
and could see that Ruth and Anne were doing their best to make him
comfortable; they had given him their parents’ bedroom, which allowed
him plenty of space for working in the evenings. But there was no fire
in the grate, so when the autumn turned to winter it was simply too
cold to be more than tolerable, and he had to work downstairs in the
drawing-room. This was certainly more cheerful, but it was also rather
noisy, for Gerard Hopkins from the Press was also living in the house,
and he would clatter away in the evenings on an ancient and loud type-
writer. Williams managed to work against this background with his
usual sixpenny writing-pad balanced on his knee, but he would
certainly rather have been at home in the Hampstead flat.

He wrote to his wife every couple of days or so. Undoubtedly in
many ways he was not sorry that sixty miles now separated him from
Michal for at least five days a week (he usually went home to London
at week-ends), for the marriage had not become any easier as the years
passed. Michal had eventually learnt about ‘Celia’ and Chatles’s feelings
for her; she also disliked the way that he had acquired a following of
young women, and this too was a cause of some tension between them.
But little of this was apparent in the letters that he now wrote her,
letters that were full of affection and of nostalgia for the domesticity of
their flat. Nor was this simply a pose adopted to placate Michal, for he
really did miss that domesticity, and in particular the small snacks of
tea and cake and sandwiches on which she had so often fed him while
he was working late in the evening. ‘I am in one of my periodical fits
of loathing the food at South Parks Road, which is unfair enough!” he
told her after a few months at the Spalding house, where the food was
in the charge of rather old-fashioned servants who insisted on regular
meal times. ‘But does anyone ever say, at 9.30, “Wouldn’t you like
something to eat?”” No. I even miss working to the sound of someone
doing things about the place, and even being interrupted by a voice
saying: “Darling, what about a cup of tea?”’ These things have been
nine-tenths of my life.’

Cups of tea mattered particularly to him. Like Roger Ingram in
Shadows of Ecstasy, ‘if he had to choose for the rest of his life between
wine and tea he had no kind of doubt where the choice would rest’.
And as neither Southfield House where he was working nor South
Parks Road where he was living afforded more than strictly limited
supplies of tea, he was glad to discover somewhere that did. ‘T have

114




“They are good for my mind’

fled to C. S. Lewis’s rooms,” he told his wife soon after arriving in
Oxford. ‘He is a great tea-drinker at any hour of the night or day, and
left a tray for me with milk and tea, and an electric kettle at hand.”

It was of course not just tea that he needed. “There is no-one here to
whom I can talk about Taliessin he told Michal, though he added,
‘there aren’t many in London.” Certainly there were not. He badly
needed criticism of a constructive kind, for he was writing more poetry
for his Taliessin cycle, and even in London he knew few people whose
knowledge of his work was sufficient and whose minds were sharp
enough to be of much use. In Oxford he did not yet know of anybody
who he thought could help. Lewis of course had admired the first
volume of the cycle, Taliessin through Logres, but Williams still did not
know Lewis very well.

Yet Williams gradually began to settle in. “Things are not too bad
down here,’ he told a friend in mid-October 1939. ‘I dislike the con-
ditions — but only mildly.’

*

No sooner had Williams arrived in Oxford than Lewis persuaded him
to join the group that met in his Magdalen rooms to read their ‘work
in progress’ aloud to each other, the group that Tolkien called ‘our
literary club of practising poets’, the Inklings. They generally met on
Thursday evenings during the University term and sometimes in
vacation, and by November 1939 Williams was a regular member. One
of the first things that he read to the Inklings was his new nativity play,
The House by the Stable, which he had just finished writing for Ruth
Spalding’s company to perform at the University Church. It was un-
- conventional by the standard of most nativity plays (its characters
included Pride and Hell), but it was a lucid piece of work, and Lewis,
after listening to Williams reading it aloud to the Inklings, remarked
that it was ‘unusually intelligible’ for Williams. On the other hand
Lewis did not hesitate to criticise Williams’s work severely when he
thought fit. “We had an unusually good Inklings on Thursday,” he
recorded in May 1940, ‘at which Charles Williams read us a Whitsun
play, a mixture of very good stuff and some deplorable errors in taste.’
The play was called Terror of Light, and its chief ‘error in taste’ was the
invention of a romance between Mary Magdalen and St John.
Williams soon began to realise that Lewis’s considerable admiration
for his work was tempered with criticism which could often be severe.
Lewis said of Williams: ‘He is largely a self-educated man, labouring
under an almost oriental richness of imagination (“Clotted glory from
Charles” as Dyson called it) which could be saved from turning silly
or even vulgar in print only by a severe early discipline which he never
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had.” Lewis was surely thinking of his own ‘severe early discipline’
under Kirkpatrick. He also wrote of Williams: ‘He has an undisciplined
mind and sometimes admits into his theology ideas whose proper place
is in his romances.” Lewis attacked, too, what he considered to be one
of Williams’s chief failings, his obscurity. ‘Don’t imagine I didn’t pitch
into Charles Williams for his obscurity for all I was worth,” he told
Owen Barfield a few years later. In fact Williams found in Lewis what
he had almost entirely lacked up to this time — a friend of high intellec-
tual ability who was fundamentally very enthusiastic about Williams’s
work, but was also extremely and beneficially critical.

In the weekly gatherings of the Inklings, Williams found something
else of great value. Besides the reading aloud and the criticism, the
Thursday evening sessions in Magdalen gave plenty of chances for
good talk, and for the first time in many years Williams found himself
arguing and discussing in the company of men who were his equals as
debaters. It was true that in his early days there had been male friends
at the Working Men’s College with whom he had argued and walked
about London for hours as they talked, ‘men splendid among men’ as
he had called them. And some years later he had formed a strong
friendship of this kind with Daniel Nicholson, a man of energetically
sceptical mind who edited the Oxford Book of English Mystical Verse for
the Press; Williams had found in him somebody who was fully his
equal in conversation. But Nicholson died in 1935, and since then,
though many of his friends had minds of equal calibre, there had been
almost nobody who took the same delight in argument. The Inklings
now began to fill that gap.

Indeed, in some respects Williams now found himself not just among
intellectual equals but arguing with people whose knowledge was often
greater than his own. He was himself, after all, not particularly learned.
Lewis called him ‘a cheering proof of how far a man can go with few
languages and imperfect schooling’. His knowledge of classical authors
and of the early Middle Ages was certainly not equal to Lewis’s; on
the other hand, as Lewis was quick to point out, his expertise in history,
theology, comparative religions, and most of all English literature from
Shakespeare onwards, was considerable. He could also quote with
amazing fluency. ‘Before he came,” said Lewis, ‘I had passed for our
best conduit of quotations: but he easily outstripped me. He de-
lighted to repeat favourite passages, and nearly always both his voice
and the context got something new out of them. He excelled at showing
you the little grain of truth or felicity in some passage generally quoted
for ridicule, while at the same time he fully enjoyed the absurdity: or,
contrariwise, at detecting the little falsity or dash of silliness in a
passage which you, and he also, admired.’
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In The Place of the Lion, Williams wrote a passage which showed how
much he valued the stimulus of such friendships as he found in the
Inklings: ‘Much was possible to a man in solitude, but some things
were possible only to a2 man in companionship, and of these the most
important was balance. No mind was so good that it did not need
another mind to counter and equal it, and to save it from conceit and
bigotry and folly.’

At one Inklings evening soon after Williams’s arrival in Oxford, he,
Lewis and Tolkien started to argue about the meaning of Christ’s
words Narrow is the way and few be they that find it, which Lewis called
‘one of the most distressing texts in the Bible’ because it suggested a
universe where the majority of souls were damned. Also present was
Tolkien’s fellow Anglo-Saxonist Charles Wrenn, who sometimes came
along to these Thursday meetings, and he took exception to what he
considered to be Williams’s thoroughly heretical views on the subject.
Williams believed that ‘the way’ included not merely the holy life of
an ascetic but also Affirmation, the knowledge of God through such
things as Romantic Theology. This sort of thing seemed entirely in-
admissible to Wrenn, who (Lewis reported) ‘a/most seriously expressed
a strong wish to burn Williams, or at least maintained that conversation
with Williams enabled him to understand how inquisitors had felt it
right to burn people’. Williams in fact found himself having to defend
his opinions more strenuously than he had done for years. Writing to
his wife, he declared of the Inklings: “They are good for my mind.’

On the other hand the Inklings were not, ultimately, terribly import-
ant to him. The Thursday nights at Magdalen and the friendship with
Lewis were stimulating, and very welcome, but such things did not

 really have much to do with the fundamentals of his mind. All his ideas

had been developed long before he had come to Oxford, and the thing
that occupied his imagination chiefly at the present time — the compo-
sition of more poems for Taliessin — was a private task to which the
Inklings could not contribute. It was true that he did read some of his
Taliessin viérse aloud on Thursday nights, but everybody except Lewis
found it incomprehensible. And even Lewis, whose manner tended to
be heavyweight in such things, was not able to offer the particular level
of sympathetic understanding that Williams needed. ‘I brood on and
off on the new poems but nothing much gets done,” he told his London
friend Anne Ridler. ‘No-one of a vivid brain ever talks to me about
them — or at least no-one in the way I like. C. S. L. admires them and
alludes to them, but . . .’

*

If Lewis was not ultimately very useful to Williams as a critic, he was
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able to do one valuable thing for him. He arranged for Williams to
give a course of lectures in the University; and this was a form of
official recognition which very much gratified Williams.

The idea occurred to Lewis during the Michaelmas term of 1939,
when he had a chance to observe at first hand Williams’s unique
manner as a lecturer. In November he went to one of the women’s
colleges to hear Williams read a paper; ‘or rather not “read” ’, Lewis
reported, ‘but “spout” - i.e. deliver without a single note a perfectly
coherent and impassioned meditation, variegated with quotations in
his incantatory manner. A most wonderful performance and it im-
pressed his audience, specially the young women, very much. And it
really is remarkable how that ugly, almost simian, face, becomes
transfigured.’

It was one thing for Williams to give an informal address to a group
of undergraduates, but quite another for him to lecture formally for
the English Faculty. In fact under normal conditions it might have
proved impossible to arrange it, because Williams was not only un-
connected with the University in any official capacity but was not a
graduate, having broken off his formal education without taking a
degree. Nevertheless Lewis was determined, as he put it, ‘to smuggle
him into the Oxford lecture list, so that we might have some advantage
from the great man’s accidental presence in Oxford’. And since in war-
time there was a shortage of teaching staff Lewis managed to arrange
it. Yet Oxford snobbery still had its say. “The vulgarest of my pupils,’
snorted Lewis, ‘asked me, with an air, if Williams had a degree. The
whelp!”

The course of lectures was to be on Milton, and the choice of subject
was significant, for Lewis realised that Williams had much to say that
was relevant to contemporary criticism of Milton’s poetry. Attacks on
Milton’s style and on the supposedly unsympathetic character of
Paradise Lost had been going on for more than two centuries. In recent
times the attackers had included Middleton Murry, who said of Milton,
‘We cannot make him real; he does not, either in his great effects or his :
little ones, trouble our depths’, and T. S. Eliot, who declared that |

|
|

Milton’s style had done damage to the English language, and said that
he found the theology of Paradise Lost ‘repellent’. Williams took a very
different line, and Lewis (knowing this) was keen that what he had to
say about Milton should be said in front of an Oxford audience. |

On 28 January 1940 Williams told his wife: “To-morrow I go to
Magdalen at 10.45, where Lewis and Tolkien will put on their gowns
and take me to the Divinity School. Of course there may be no-one
there! but I suppose, in the grand Oxford Tradition, one lectures
anyhow.’
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There was in fact quite a sizeable audience, for Williams’s name was
known to at least some undergraduates. The first lecture, which was
H chiefly introductory, was successful if not startling. Afterwards Lewis

took Williams and Tolkien, along with Gerry Hopkins from the Press
who had come to listen, to the bar of the Mitre Hotel to celebrate the
occasion. A week later the same people reassembled to hear the second
lecture in the series, which was to be on Milton’s masque Comus. Lewis
described the occasion to his brother Warnie, who was now serving as
a Major at a supply depot in one of the French ports:

‘On Monday’, he wrote, ‘C. W. lectured nominally on Comus but
really on Chastity. Simply as criticism it was superb because here was
a man who really started from the same point of view as Milton and
really cared with every fibre of his being about “the sage and serious
doctrine of virginity”’ which it would never occur to the ordinary
modern critic to take seriously. But it was more important still as a
sermon. It was a beautiful sight to see a whole room full of modern
young men and women sitting in that absolute silence which can 7ot
be faked, very puzzled, but spell-bound: perhaps with something of
the same feeling which a lecture on #nchastity might have evoked in
their grandparents — the forbidden subject broached at last. He forced
them to lap it up and I think many, by the end, liked the taste more
than they expected to. It was “borne in upon me” that that beautiful
carved room had probably not witnessed anything so important since
some of the great medieval or Reformation lectures. I have at last, if
only for once, seen a university doing what it was founded to do;
teaching wisdom.’

Williams himself was pleased by the reception of the lecture, and in

" particular by the enthusiastic response of Lewis and his friends. Indeed
it began to seem to him that he could number among his followers a
band of men, as well as the young women who had till now been in the
majority. ‘Am I only to be followed by the feminine?’ he asked his
wife in one of his typically florid letters to her. ‘No; you will be
attended — you — by the masculine minds: great minds, strong males,
brothers of our energy — those who know our work — Lewis — and

Tolkien . . .
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‘We bad nothing to say

to one another’

If Charles Williams thought that he could number Tolkien among his
followers he was mistaken. From the beginning of their acquaintance
Tolkien was to some extent suspicious of Williams. This was under-
standable, for while Williams and Lewis had got to know each other by
admiring each other’s books Tolkien simply had Williams thrust upon
him. The first thing he knew about Williams was Lewis declaring that
he had made the acquaintance of a most marvellous person, and that
he (Tolkien) would undoubtedly love Williams as soon as he met him.,
The most generous-hearted person would have been a little suspicious
of this, and Tolkien responded by becoming faintly jealous. Lewis’s
friendship meant very much to him, and he did not altogether care for
the sudden arrival of Williams at a high place in Lewis’s affections.
From the beginning, therefore, he was on his guard; and of Lewis’s
feelings towards Williams, he said that Lewis was ‘a very impression-
able, too impressionable, man’.

Some years later, Lewis wrote that by 1939 Williams ‘had already
become as dear to all my Oxford friends as he had to me’. But next to
these words in his own copy of the book in which they appeared,
Tolkien wrote: ‘Alas no! In any case I had hardly ever seen him till he
came to live in Oxford.’

Now that Williams was in Oxford, Tolkien had to put up with some-
thing very like hero-worship on Lewis’s part. For instance, Lewis told
a friend: ‘If you were going up the High in a bus and saw Charles
Williams walking along the pavement among a crowd of people, you
would immediately single him out because he looked godlike; rather,
like an angel.” It so happened that the person to whom this remark was
made, Lewis’s pupil Peter Bayley, had indeed seen Williams from the
top of an Oxford bus. “To my eyes,” he said, ‘he looked like a clerk or
craftsman in a small line of business — perhaps a joiner or carpenter;
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but I thought there was nothing godlike or angelic about him.’

Tolkien would have agreed. He liked Williams, but he did not regard
him as even remotely angelic. Lewis declared of Williams: ‘In every
circle that he entered, he gave the whole man.’ But Tolkien commented
on this: ‘No, I think not.” Tolkien was perhaps more perceptive than
Lewis about Williams’s character; he may have realised that behind
Williams’s ebullience in conversation there was an inner nature which
rarely showed itself. Certainly he had distinct doubts about some of
Williams’s ideas.

‘I was and remain wholly unsympathetic to Williams’ mind,” Tolkien
wrote in 1965. ‘I knew Charles Williams only as a friend of C. S. L.
whom I met in his company during the period when, owing to the
War, he spent much of his time in Oxford. We liked one another and
enjoyed talking (mostly in jest) but we had nothing to say to one
another at deeper (or higher) levels. I doubt if he had read anything
of mine then available; I had read or heard a good deal of his work,
but found it wholly alien, and sometimes very distasteful, occasionally
ridiculous. (This is perfectly true as a general statement, but is not
intended as a criticism of Williams; rather it is an exhibition of my own
limits of sympathy. And of course in so large a range of work I found
lines, passages, scenes, and thoughts that I found striking.) I remained
entirely unmoved. Lewis was bowled over. But Lewis was a very
impressionable man, and this was abetted by his great generosity and
capacity for friendship.’

Tolkien did not specify what it was in Williams’s work that he found
distasteful, but once in his old age he referred to Williams as ‘a witch
doctor’. Certainly he was aware — perhaps more than Lewis was — of

* the importance of black magic and devilry in some of Williams’s books.
Tolkien himself had a profound belief in the devil and all his works,
and he did not think that such things should be bandied about in
popular novels.

On the purely personal level, Tolkien was perhaps a little resentful
of Williams’s intrusion into the Monday morning talks with Lewis
which he had enjoyed for nearly ten years. Since the early nineteen-
thirties, Monday had been the day when the two men talked, and drank
beer at the Eastgate; but now Williams generally made a third at these
sessions. Moreover, the conversation became as a result more generally
literary than Tolkien always cared for. He himself was not widely read
in English literature after Chaucer, and he had few favourites among
later writers. On the other hand Williams and Lewis liked almost
everything. ‘This morning I reached Magdalen at 11 a.m.,” Tolkien
recorded one Monday, ‘and spent two hours with C. S. L. and C. W. It
was very enjoyable. We talked a good deal about “prosody’ and (more
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than I cared for) about C. Lamb: an author that I find no use for, I fear.’

On the other hand Tolkien’s emphatic declarations that he and
Williams had nothing in common intellectually, and had no sympathy
for each other’s work, were made long after the event. They were also
prompted by the suggestion that he and Williams might have ‘in-
fluenced’ each other’s work, a suggestion that Tolkien was very eager
to contradict. There is in fact much to suggest that at the time the two
men got on extremely well, and did have something to say to each other
‘at deeper (or higher) levels’.

Certainly there were many meetings between them, more than there
would have been had any real antipathy existed. They often drank beer
together, especially in the Eagle and Child public house in St Giles, a
favourite haunt of Lewis and his friends, which was generally known
as ‘The Bird and Baby’ because of its signboard depicting the infant
Ganymede being carried off by Jove’s eagle. ‘Had a glass and half an
hour at the B & B with Charles Williams,” Tolkien noted one Tuesday
morning, Tuesday being the day on which the Inklings had taken to
gathering at lunch time in that pub; and such meetings between him
and Williams were frequent. And there were certainly some occasions
when the two men did talk seriously. One such was a Thursday night
when Tolkien was walking home after a Magdalen session of the
Inklings. As he lived in North Oxford his journey took him past
Williams’s front door in South Parks Road. ‘I did not start home till
midnight,” Tolkien recorded, ‘and walked with C. W. part of the way,
when our converse turned on the difficulty of discovering what common
factors if any existed in the notions associated with freedom as used at
present. I don’t believe there are any, for the word has been so abused
by propaganda that it has ceased to have any value for reason, and
become a mere emotional dose for generating heat.” Williams had much
to say on this subject, for he believed that the only way to find real
freedom was to submit oneself to the rule of God. “The only freedom,’
he said, ‘is a freedom to choose obedience’; and this formed the theme
of one of the poems he was writing for a second Taliessin volume. The
poem, “The Departure of Dindrane’, told how a slave-girl at Arthur’s
court is faced with a choice of continuing in servitude or of freedom
to lead her own life; in the end she chooses servitude. ‘In her heart,’
wrote Williams,

servitude and freedom were one and interchangeable.

Tolkien was not being fair if he meant to suggest, twenty years later,
that Williams had no interest in his writings. The sequel to The Hobbit,
already entitled The Lord of the Rings, was being read aloud to the
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Inklings as Tolkien wrote it, and during the years in which he was a
| member of the group Williams heard most of it. He was in fact far
more enthusiastic about it than were some of the other Inklings, and
five years after he came to live in Oxford he borrowed the entire type-
script, as far as it was then complete, so that he could refresh his
memory. ‘C. Williams who is reading it all’, Tolkien noted at the time,
‘says the great thing is that its centre is not in strife and war and heroism
(though they are all understood and depicted) but in freedom, peace,
ordinary life and good living. Yet he agrees that these very things
require the existence of a great world outside the Shire — lest they
should grow stale by custom and turn into the humdrum.’

On the other hand Tolkien’s sympathy for Williams’s work was
certainly limited. He did not claim to understand more than the rudi-
ments of Williams’s poetry, nor did he find it attractive. The Byzantine
setting of some of the Taliessin poems irritated him, while the over-
laying of geography and symbolism made no impact on his imagina-
tion at all. Williams’s use of such apparently unrelated geographical
features as Logres, Mount Elburz and P’o-I’u was puzzling enough to
him without the symbolism of the human body that was combined
with it — the symbolism which for instance identified Caucasia with the
buttocks. This was not the sort of myth making that seemed to have
any ‘truth’ to Tolkien. Yet he listened with full attention when
Williams read the poems aloud to the Inklings; and, if Williams’s
ideas did not appeal, then the man himself (he found) was undeniably
charming — as Tolkien declared in this poem which he wrote some time
during the war.

‘Our dear Charles Williams many guises shows:
the novelist comes first. I find his prose
obscure at times. Not easily it flows;

too often are his lights held up in brackets.
Yet error, should he spot it, he’ll attack its
sources and head, exposing ramps and rackets,
the tortuous byways of the wicked heart

and intellect corrupt. Yea, many a dart

he crosses with the fiery ones! The art

of minor fiends and major he reveals —

when Charles is on his trail the devil squeals,
for cloven feet have vulnerable heels.

‘But heavenly footsteps, too, can Williams trace,
and after Dante, plunging, soaring, race
up to the threshold of Eternal Grace.
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The limits of all fallen men, maybe,
(or mine alone, perhaps) explain why he
seems best to understand of all the three
Inferno’s dark involved geography.

‘Geography indeed! Here he again
exerts a subtle mind and labouring pen.
Geodesy say rather; for many a ‘fen’!
he wrote, and chapters bogged in tangled rhymes,
and has surveyed Europa’s lands and climes,
dividing her from P’o-L’u’s crawling slimes,
in her diving buttocks, breast, and head
(to say no fouler thing), where I instead,
dull-eyed, can only see a watershed,
a plain, an island, or a mountain-chain.
In that gynecomorphical terrain
History and Myth are ravelled in a skein
of endless interchange. I do not hope
to understand the deeds of king or pope,
wizard or emperor;? beyond my scope
is that dark flux of symbol and event,
where fable, faith, and faérie are blent
with half-guessed meanings to some great intent
I cannot grasp. For Mount Elburz? to me
is but a high peak far beyond the sea
(and high and far I’d ever have it be).

“The Throne, the war-lords, and the logothetes,
the endless steps, the domes, the crowded streets,
the tolls, the taxes, the commercial fleets, 4
Byzantium, New Rome! I love her less
than Rome the Old. For War, I must confess,

! fen: the name of a section in Avicenna’s Canon of Medicine; also used by Chaucer
in The Pardoner’s Tale.

% king or pope, wizard or emperor: Arthur, the Pope, Merlin, and the Emperor
are four of the principal figures in the Taliessin poems.

8 Mount Elburz: mentioned by Williams several times in the poems. This is his
own note on it: ‘A Caucasian mountain: type of the lowness and height, fertility
and chastity, verdure and snow, of the visible body.” (Quoted by Lewis in Chapter 2
of ‘Williams and the Arthuriad’, Arthurian Torso.)

4 The Throne, the war-lords etc.: reminiscent of Williams’s poem “The Vision of the
Empire’ in Taliessin through Logres, except of course that to Williams these things are
pleasing.
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Eagles to me no more than Ravens bless,
no more than Fylfot, or Chrysanthemum
blown to a blood-red Sun.! Byzantium!
Praise her, ye slaves and eunuchs! I’ll be dumb.
To me she only seems one greater hive,
rotting within while outwardly alive,
where power corrupts and where the venal thrive;
where, leeches on the veins of government,
officials suck men’s blood, till all is spent.
If that is what by Law and Order’s meant,
then any empire’s over-lofty crown,
and vast drilled armies beating neighbours down
to drag them fettered through New Order’s town,
to me’s as good a symbol, or as ill,
of Rule that strangles and of Laws that kill,
of Man that says his Pride is Heaven’s will.
O, Buttocks to Caucasia!’
“Tolkien, please!
What’s biting you? Dog in the Manger’s fleas ?
Let others hear, although you have no mind,
or have not seen that Lewis has divined
and has expounded what you dully find
obscure. See here, some thirty lines you’ve squandered.
You came to praise our Charles, but now you’ve wandered.
Much else he wrote that has not yet been pondered.’

‘Quite true, alas! But still I’'m rather puzzled.
There’s Taliessin — no, I’ll not be muzzled;
I’'m writing this, not you; I won’t be hustled —
there’s Taliessin now: I'd always thought
that in the days of Cymbeline he wrought,?
ere Rome was Old or New, and that if aught
is now preserved of what he sang or said,
’tis but an echo times have edited
out of all likeness to his tongue long dead,
the ancient British, difficult and dark,
of a minor minstrel in an Outer Mark.
But here, it seems, a voyage in some swift bark
to that Black Sea (which now is mainly Red)

Y Fylfot, or Chrysanthemum . . . : A ‘fylfot’ is a swastika; the Chrysanthemum and the

Sun are Japanese emblems.
2 The orthodox view is in fact that Taliessin was broadly speaking from the

Arthurian period.
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has much enlarged him, both in heart and head;!
but still I understand not aught he said!

‘A truce to this! I never meant to do it,
thus to reveal my folly. Now I rue it.
Farewell (for now) beloved druid-poet!?2
Farewell to Logres, Merlin, Nimue,
Galahad, Arthur! Farewell land and tree '
heavy with fates and portents not for me!
I must pass by all else you wrote:
play, preface, life, short verse, review or note ;
(rewarded less than worth with grudging groat).

‘When your fag is wagging and spectacles are twinkling,
when tea is brewing or the glasses tinkling,
then of your meaning often I’ve an inkling,
your virtues and your wisdom glimpse. Your laugh
in my heart echoes, when with you I quaff
the pint that goes down quicker than a half,
because you’re near. So, heed me not! I swear
when you with tattered papers take the chair
and read (for hours maybe), I would be there.

And ever when in state you sit again

and to your car imperial give rein,

I’ll trundle, grumbling, squeaking, in the train
of the great rolling wheels of Charles’ Wain.’3

1 a voyage in some swift bark . . . : Williams takes the figure of Taliessin from Celtic
legend and makes him contemporary with Arthurian Britain and also the Byzantine
Empire. He also literally takes him (briefly and swiftly) on a journey to Byzantium
itself.

% beloved druid-poet: In Williams’s poems, Taliessin is associated with druidical
origins. It has also been suggested that Williams himself was of Welsh descent, but
his sister Edith Williams wrote: ‘So far as I know there is no “Welsh descent”
anywhere in the family.” (Charles Williams Society newsletter no. 3, autumn 1976,
p. 12)

3 Charles’ Wain: a name for the constellation more commonly called the Great
Bear. It was also known as ‘Arthur’s Plough’.
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The Inklings kept no minute-book, so there is no full record of the
proceedings during Thursday nights in Lewis’s rooms in Magdalen. It
might easily have been otherwise, for Warnie Lewis was a good diarist
and could have provided a detailed account. ‘I would have played
Boswell on those Thursday evenings,” he said regretfully many years
later, ‘but as it is, I am afraid that my diary contains only the scantiest
material for reconstructing an Inklings.’

On the other hand Jack Lewis’s letters to his brother during the first
months of the war, when Warnie was serving abroad, do record quite
a lot of what went on; while later in the war Tolkien wrote detailed
diary-letters to this third son Christopher who was with the R.A.F.,
and these letters too record something of what happened at the Inklings.
So from these, from the diaries that Warnie Lewis kept (they were not,
in fact, so very scanty about the Inklings) and from the reminiscences
of the people who attended on Thursday nights, it is possible to get

. some idea of the kind of thing that happened.

One way to convey the atmosphere of an Inklings evening is to
describe an imaginary meeting. What follows is an artificial reconstruc-
tion, and entirely imaginary in that it is not based on any one particular
evening. On the other hand the subjects of conversation are the kind
of things that the Inklings discussed, while the remarks of the various
people present are taken from their writings, both published and un-
published, which have been freely adapted to suit the context.! So while
this must not be taken as an accurate record, it may perhaps catch rather
more of the flavour of those Thursday evenings than any purely factual
account could do. More, but not all; for no reconstruction can do more
than hint at what the real thing was like.

*

! Lewis’s comments on the Moria Gate section of The Lord of the Rings are my own
invention, though they are based on changes that Tolkien did make in the manu-
script.
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Considering how fine a building they are in, Lewis’s rooms are rather
bleak. The effect is as if a school or some other institution had taken
over a fine country house, for his plain (and in some cases downright
shabby) furniture simply does not come up to the standard of the
eighteenth-century panelling, the broad sash windows, and the high
ceilings.

The main sitting-room is large, and though certainly not dirty it is
not particularly clean. Lewis’s ‘scout’, the college servant responsible
for the rooms on this staircase, only has time to give it a quick flip of
the duster early in the morning; and as for Lewis himself, he never
bothers with ashtrays but flicks his cigarette ash (he smokes cigarettes
as much as a pipe) on to the carpet wherever he happens to be standing
or sitting. He even absurdly maintains that ash is good for carpets. As
for chairs — there are several shabbily comfortable armchairs and a big
Chesterfield sofa in the middle of the room - their loose covers are
never cleaned, nor has it ever occurred to Lewis that they ought to be.
Consequently their present shade of grey may or may not bear some
relation to their original colour.

Apart from the chairs, there is not much furniture in the room. A
plain table stands behind the Chesterfield. It was never a very good
table; long ago when Lewis first moved into these rooms, his brother
Warnie noticed that Jack had chosen the furniture just as he chose his
clothes — by walking into a shop and taking the first thing that he was
offered. The table now bears the scars of twenty years’ ruthless use:
ink stains, cigarette burns, and ring-shaped marks, the larger of which
come from the beer jug that often stands here, and the smaller from
ink bottles. Across the room are bookshelves, and (like the table) they
are very plain and rather shabby; nor are the books themselves much
to look at. Long before, in his adolescent days, Lewis and his friend
Arthur Greeves were avid collectors of smart editions with fine
bindings. But Lewis gave up this taste when he was a young man,
partly because thanks to the expense of the ménage with Mrs Moore
he could no longer afford it, and partly because when he began to move
towards Christianity he ceased to think that such things were more
than vanity. In consequence the books on the shelves are nothing very
special, nor are there very many of them, for Lewis uses the Bodleian
(the University library) for all but essential volumes. The few that are
on his shelves are mainly cheap or second-hand copies of major works,
both theological and literary. The Summa Theologiae of Aquinas stands
near Beownlf and the Roman de la Rose, while notably absent are The
Allegory of Love and Out of the Silent Planet, for Lewis takes no trouble
to keep copies of his own books, and gives (or even throws) them
away at the slightest opportunity. On the other hand The Hobbit is
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there, next to Barfield’s children’s story The Silver Trumpet, while there
are several of Charles Williams’s books here too. There are also books
in the two smaller rooms that open off the main sitting-room. In one
of these rooms Warnie Lewis works on weekday mornings, and several
rarities can be found on the shelves here, for Warnie collects works
relating to the Bourbon court and is always glad to lay his hands on a
fine edition. In this room there is also a typewriter, which Warnie uses
both for his own work (he is beginning to arrange material for a book
of his own on the court of Louis XIV) and for typing his brother’s
letters, for he now acts as secretary to Jack. Lying by the typewriter
is a packet of cheap typing paper and a large pair of scissors. Warnie
dislikes wasting paper (especially under wartime economy conditions)
and he refuses to use anything smarter than this stuff for Jack’s corres-
pondence. Moreover if the letter is a short one, Warnie will not use
up a complete sheet of paper for it, but will cut off a strip just deep
enough to hold the text and his brother’s signature, and will send off
this two- or three-inch slip complete with a reference number (‘40/216’)
to make it clear to the recipient that Jack Lewis has already written
two hundred and sixteen letters this year. Jack is faintly embarrassed
by all this.

The other small room is Jack’s bedroom. He sleeps here during term
time, rising early on most mornings to go to college prayers before
breakfast, or to Communion. The bedroom is bare and looks a little
like a monastic cell, for there is nothing in it besides a washstand with
a jug and basin, and a pile of books beside the bed. Yet those books
include not just the Prayer Book and the Bible but one of the Waverley
novels, Trollope’s The Warden, and The Wind in the Willows.

It is dark, being about nine o’clock on a winter evening; and it is
also cold, particularly in the big sitting-room which looks north on to
Magdalen Grove. The only source of heat is the coal fire, which at the
moment is burning very low in the grate, for it is a couple of hours
since anyone has been in the room. A faded screen has been set up near
the door which leads out on to the staircase, in the hope of muffling
the draught; but it makes little difference.

Magdalen clock strikes nine, other college clocks preceding and
following it in the distance. Now and then, feet run up and down the
stairs outside the door; but it is not until after Great Tom at Christ
Church half a mile away has sounded his hundred and one strokes at
ten past nine that a more measured tread is heard on the stairs, and the
door opens to reveal two men. The first takes off his hat and coat and
throws them down on the nearest chair. Then he pulls down the blinds
and draws the blackout curtains, after which his companion switches
on the light.
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The first man is broadly built, with a plump rather red face, a small
moustache, and receding hair. He wears a tweed jacket and baggy
flannel trousers. He is Warnie Lewis. In the first months of the war he
was on active service, stationed at le Havre with the R.A.S.C., but it
was soon decided that officers of his age were not needed, and he was
allowed to go back on the retired list and return home. Now that he
is back in Oxford he is spending a good deal of his time living on his
motor boat Bosphorus and cruising up and down the river as part of
the Upper Thames Patrol. He has painted his boat battleship-grey and
has bought a naval style peaked cap, much to the amusement of
Jack.

His companion is R. E. Havard, the Oxford doctor who looks after
the Lewis and Tolkien households and who regularly comes to Mag-
dalen on Thursday evenings. He is a few years younger than Warnie
and is expecting to be called up for military service fairly soon, albeit
as a medical officer. For some reason Havard has always attracted
nicknames from the Inklings. Though his Christian names are Robert
Emlyn he was once referred to by Hugo Dyson as ‘Humphrey’, either
in pure error or because it alliterated with his surname. Some time later,
Warnie Lewis was irritated one evening by Havard’s failure to turn up
with a car and give him a promised lift home, and dubbed the doctor
‘a useless quack’; and ‘The Useless Quack’ or “U.Q.” Havard has re-
mained. How far this is from being an accurate description of the man
may be gauged by Tolkien’s remark to one of his sons: ‘Most doctors
are either fools or mere “doctors”, tinkerers with machinery. Havard
at any rate is a Catholic who thinks of people as people, not as collec-
tions of “works”.’

When the light has been switched on, Warnie Lewis puts some coal
on the fire, and grumbles to Havard about the shortage of beer in
Oxford — beer is in low supply because of the war, and the Bird and
Baby frequently has a ‘No Beer’ sign on its door. “My idea of the happy
life,” says Warnie, ‘would be to buy a pub, put up one of those No Beer
notices, lock the customers out, and drink the stuff myself.’

The two men talk about beer for a few minutes more, Warnie re-
ferring contemptuously to an inferior brew that he and Havard have
just been drinking at a hotel down the road ~ he describes it as ‘varnish’,
the term that he and Jack always use for bad beer.

There is no fixed hour at which the Inklings meet on Thursdays, but
by general agreement people turn up at any time between nine and
half past ten. Nor is there any formal system of membership or election,
and in theory it is only necessary for one Inkling to obtain the approval
of the others (particularly of Lewis) before introducing somebody new.
But in practice this does not happen very often, and on most Thursdays
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the company consists solely of the Lewis brothers, Tolkien, Havard
and Williams, sometimes with the addition of Hugo Dyson, who teaches
at Reading University but is often in Oxford. Nevill Coghill used to be
quite a regular member of the group, but he is in great demand as a
producer of plays for the University dramatic society and other local
groups, and he is now rarely seen in Lewis’s rooms on Thursday nights.
He is not the only Inkling to have dropped out: Adam Fox, the Mag-
dalen chaplain who (thanks to the campaign conducted by Tolkien and
Lewis) was elected Professor of Poetry in 1938 rarely comes now. Owen
Barfield very occasionally turns up on his visits from London, where he
still works as a solicitor; and sometimes Charles Wrenn looks in. But
for the most part the Thursday party is a small group. A direct result
is that usually the only people to read their work aloud are Tolkien,
Lewis and Williams. Coghill has once or twice read light verses or
lampoons, and Fox (when he comes) generally reads his poetry. Up to
the present time Warnie Lewis has had nothing of his own to read to
the Inklings, and as for Havard, he always emphasises that he is not a
; literary man, though he does occasionally contribute some small thing
to the group. Readings therefore are in comparatively short supply.
Hugo Dyson (when he attends) does not mind this at all, claiming that
the conversation is far more enjoyable anyway. But Lewis insists that
the readings — the original raison d’etre of the club — must be kept up.
Sometimes, as chance will have it, a logical sequence appears, and one
reading seems to lead naturally into the next. But this is by no means
! always the case.

Warnie begins to make tea — a regular ritual at the start of an Inklings
- and in a few minutes Jack Lewis and Tolkien arrive; Lewis has been
‘giving Tolkien dinner on High Table in Magdalen.

Both men are fairly certain of being able to remain in Oxford for
the duration of the war. Tolkien is nearly fifty and will definitely not
be required for active service; his contribution to the war effort is to
take turns of duty as an air raid warden, spending one night every two
weeks or so waiting by the telephone in a cheerless concrete hut in the
grounds of St Hugh’s College. Lewis is several years younger than
Tolkien, but he does not expect to be called up. He declares that his
personal war aims are exactly summed up by an entry in the Pefer-

‘ borongh Chronicle: ‘During all this evil time, Abbot Martin retained his
| abbacy.” However, he does duty with the Home Guard — and at this
| moment Havard is asking him how he takes to it.

| ‘Merrily enough I suppose,” Lewis answers. ‘I spend one night in
| nine mooching about the most depressing and malodorous parts of
Oxford with a rifle. I think that Dyson has the right idea about the
Home Guard. He says it should be conducted on the same principle
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as Dogberry’s Watch in Much Ado — “Let us go sit on the church bench
till two, and then all to bed.”’

Warnie asks his brother if there is any beer to be had. Jack usually
brings a big enamel jug of it up from the college buttery, but apparently
tonight the college is as short of it as is the Bird and Baby. ‘I think
there’s some rum in the cupboard if anybody would like some,’ says
Jack, and Warnie goes to look for it, while his brother declares:

‘I think positively the nastiest kind of war service is the thing that
Barfield is doing. He’s just taken a part-time job in — would you
believe it — the Inland Revenue, of all disgusting things! As I was
saying to Tollers just now, he’s very depressed because he’s one of
those people who really feels the miseries of the world, and the war
is making him terribly gloomy.’

‘One can hardly blame him for that,” says Tolkien. ‘None of us here
has exactly displayed a totally unruffled cheerfulness throughout the
year.” He is thinking of the fall of France in June, when even Oxford’s
calm was shaken by what seemed the certain prospect of invasion, and
of the Battle of Britain, in which his own son Michael was involved
as an anti-aircraft gunner.

‘No,’ says Lewis, ‘one can’t, but that’s not quite what I meant. What
I’m trying to say is this: that there’s Barfield, with more than enough
in his own and his neighbours’ personal lives to worry about, actually
spending a good deal of time being miserable about the terrible suffer-
ings which are being endured by people hundreds or thousands of miles
away. Now, terrible as those sufferings are, I’'m not quite sure whether
it’s really one’s duty as a man and a Christian to be so vividly and
continuously aware of them. Should we try, for instance, to be aware
of what it’s like, say, to be a fighter pilot being shot down in flames at
this moment ?’

‘I should imagine Williams would think one ought to be very much
aware of it indeed,’ says Harvard. ‘Isn’t that part of his “Co-inherence” ?’

‘Yes, of course,” answers Lewis. (He talks emphatically - ‘in italics’
as a pupil puts it — but does not raise his voice even in the heat of
argument. There is just a trace of Ulster still in the vowel-sounds.) ‘Yes.
I entirely accept the general principle. We must realise, as Williams
would say, that we live in each other. But in purely practical terms,
were we meant to know so much about the sufferings of the rest of the
world ? It seems to me that modern communications are so fast — with
the wireless and the newspapers and so on — that there’s a burden im-
posed on our sympathy for which that sympathy just wasn’t designed.’

‘Give an example,’ says Tolkien.

‘That’s easy. Now, supposing the poor Jones family in your own
street are having terrible troubles — sickness and so on — well then,
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obviously it’s your duty to sympathise with them. But what about the
morning paper and the evening news broadcasts on the wireless, in
which you hear all about the Chinese and the Russians and the Finns
and the Poles and the Turks? Are you expected to sympathise with
them in the same way? I really don’t think it’s possible, and I don’t
think it’s your duty to try.’

“You certainly can’t do them any good by being miserable about
them,’ says Warnie.

‘Ah, but while that’s perfectly true it’s not the point. In the case of
the Jones family next door, you’d think pretty poorly of the man who
felt nothing in the way of sympathy for them because that feeling
“wouldn’t do them any good”.’

‘Are you saying’, asks Havard, ‘that when we read the newspapers
we shouldn’t try to sympathise with the sufferings of people we don’t
know ?’

‘Jack is probably saying’, remarks Warnie, ‘that we shouldn’t read
the newspapers at all. You know he never bothers to look at anything
other than the crossword.’

‘Perfectly true,” answers his brother. ‘And I have two very good
reasons for it. First of all I deplore journalism — I can’t abide the journal-
ist’s air of being a specialist in everything, and of taking in all points of
view and always being on the side of the angels. And I hate the #riviality
of journalism, you know, the sort of fluttering mentality that fills up
the page with one little bit about how an actress has been divorced in
California, and another little bit about how a train was derailed in
France, and another about the birth of quadruplets in New Zealand.’

‘Well, I think it’s irresponsible of you not to read the war news, at
least,” says Warnie, and Havard grunts in agreement.

‘It might be, if the news was in any way accurate, or if I was qualified
to interpret it. But instead here I am, without any military knowledge,
being asked to read an account of the fighting that was distorted before
it reached the Divisional general, and was further distorted before it
left him, and then was “written up” out of all recognition by a journal-
ist, and which will all be contradicted next day anyway — well, I ask
youl’

‘Do you know,” chimes in Tolkien, I was coming back in a train
from Liverpool the other week, and there was a Canadian and his wife
in the opposite seat, and they drank neat gin out of aluminium cups all
the way to Crewe, by which time their eyes had certainly become
rather dewy.’

‘What on earth has that got to do with journalism ?’ asks Lewis, who
hates the conversation to degenerate into anecdote or mere chat.

‘Only that the man was labelled “War Correspondent”, so I shan’t
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wonder in future why these people’s despatches are so fatuous!’

Lewis roars with laughter.

‘What’s your other reason for not reading the papers ?’ asks Havard.
‘I thought you said you had another?’

‘It’s this,” answers Lewis, ‘though I’m almost ashamed to admit it.
You see, I simply don’t #nderstand most of what I find in them. I reckon
that the world as it’s now becoming is simply Zo0 much for people of
the old square-rigged type like me. I don’t understand its economics,
or its politics, or any damn thing about it.’

‘Well, I imagine you understand its theology,” says Warnie, handing
round cups of tea.

‘Not a bit of it. In fact it’s very distressing. I always thought that
when I got among Christians I’d have reached somewhere that was safe
from that horrid thing modern thonght. But did 1? Oh no, not at all. I
blundered straight into it. I thought I was an upholder of the old stern
doctrines against modern quasi-Christian slush, but it’s beginning to
look as if what I call sternness is slush to most of #hem. Or at least that’s
what it was like when I was talking to a group of Christian under-
graduates the other day. They’d all been reading a dreadful man called
Karl Barth, who seemed to be a kind of opposite number to Karl Marx.
They all talked like Covenanters or Old Testament prophets. They
don’t think human reason or human conscience is of any value at all,
and they maintain just as stoutly as Calvin that there’s no reason why
God’s dealings should appear just to us, let alone merciful. They hold
on to the doctrine that all our righteousness is just filthy rags so fiercely
and sincerely that I can tell you it’s like a blow in the face.’

‘If there’s really a religious revival, that’s probably what it’ll be like,’
says Warnie. ‘Does everyone want rum ?’

‘Oh, do we really need any?’ answers his brother. ‘I thought you
needed blackcurrant or something to go with it.” The question of drink
at an Inklings is a slightly delicate matter between the Lewis brothers.
Warnie likes it to flow freely, but Jack maintains that regular drinking
on Thursday nights alters the character of the club. (There is another
factor, in that Jack is concerned about Warnie’s occasional bouts of
heavy drinking, which have been going on sporadically for some years.)
But tonight as the bottle is already open and Tolkien suggests adding
hot water to the rum, Warnie wins and the glasses are handed
round.

‘As Warnie says,” remarks Havard, ‘if we do get a religious revival,
it’ll probably be just like that — very Calvinist.’

‘I know,” answers Lewis. ‘And will we like it? I mean, we’ve been
delighted to see the churches almost full since the war began, and we
talk enthusiastically of a Christian revival among the undergraduates,
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and there’s certainly some sign of it happening. But I rather think that
if it really comes, people like us won’t find it nearly so agreeable as we’d
expected. Of course, we ought to have remembered that if the real
thing came it would make us sit up. Do you remember Chesterton?
“Never invoke gods unless you really want them to appear. It annoys
them very much.”’

‘But you don’t think these people enthusing about Barth are neces-
sarily wrong ?* Havard asks.

‘No, I don’t. I think the young gentlemen are probably largely right.
But between ourselves I have a hankering for the old and happier days,
the days when politics meant Tariff Reform, and war was war against
the Zulus, and Religion meant that lovely word Piety — you know, “The
decent church that crowns the neighbouring hill”; and “Mr Arabin sent
the farmers home to their baked mutton very well satisfied”.’

There is a pause while Lewis lights his pipe. ‘Williams is coming
later,” he says through the stem, ‘but I don’t think anyone else will be
turning up. Has anyone got anything to read ?’

Tolkien says that he has brought ‘another Hobbit chapter’ — for some
reason he rarely refers to his new book by its formal title, and the
Inklings generally know it as the New Hobbit.

‘It’s a pity Coghill doesn’t come along on Thursdays much these
days,” remarks Warnie. ‘He liked Tollers’ first hobbit book so much
that I’'m sure he’d enjoy this.’

‘Of course,” says Tolkien, ‘his “Producing” takes up a good deal of
his time.’

‘Do you remember Coghill’s Hamlet about five years ago?’ Lewis
asks, as Tolkien gets his manuscript ready.

- ‘Tt was pretty good stuff as such things go, as far as I remember,’
says Warnie.

Jack grunts. ‘I suppose it was, of its kind, but really I get next to no
enjoyment out of these undergraduate productions. They act them in a
way that fills one at first with embarrassment and pity, and finally with
an unreasoning personal hatred of the actors — you know, “Why should
that damned man keep on bellowing at me?””’

‘Hamlet is a fine enough play,” says Tolkien, ‘providing you take it
just so, and don’t start thinking about it. In fact I’m of the opinion that
Old Bill’s plays in general are all the same — they just haven’t got any
coherent ideas behind them.’

‘It’s Hamlet himself that I can’t abide,” remarks Warnie. “‘Whenever
I see the play I find myself conceiving the most frightful antipathy to
him. I mean, there’s such an intolerable deal of him. Every few minutes
all the other characters sneak off in a hard-hearted way and leave us at
the mercy of this awful arch-bore for hundreds of lines. I remember
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when I saw Coghill’s version I thought the only dramatic merit had
been supplied by him and not by Shakespeare.’
“You sound as if you want to rewrite the play,” says Havard.
‘And why not?’ answers Tolkien. “You could show what a stinking
old bore his father really was, before he became a ghost (to the relief
of the Danish court), and how nice poor Claudius was by comparison.’
‘And how the old man really died of some nasty disease and wasn’t
murdered at all,” adds Warnie.
‘And then even in the grave couldn’t keep from mischief,” continues
Tolkien.
‘... but had to come back with a filthy cock-and-bull story about a
murder, which at first was too much even for his own son to swallow,’
adds Jack Lewis, who admires Hamlet profoundly but cannot resist
joining in this nonsense.
‘... the son being a chip of the old blockhead, and quite as conceited
as papa,’ Tolkien concludes. ‘But I suppose it won’t ever get written.’
‘It might make an opera,” muses Lewis.
‘Wagner ?’
‘No, I think something more in the style of Mozart. We must have
a go at it. But let’s hear the new chapter.’
Tolkien begins to read from his manuscript.
It is the chapter which describes the arrival of the hobbits and their
companions at the doors of the Mines of Moria, and which recounts
the beginning of their journey through the darkness. Tolkien reads
fluently. Occasionally he hesitates or stumbles, for the chapter is only in
a rough draft, and he has some difficulty in making out a word here
and there. The pages are closely covered — he has written it on the back
of old examination scripts. One or two details are still uncertain: he
explains that he has not yet worked out an Elvish version of the
inscription over Moria Gate, and he reads it in English; he is uncertain
whether the word of power with which Gandalf opens the doots should
be Mellyn or Meldir; and here and there he points out that he has got
the details of distance or time of day wrong, and will have to correct
them. But such small details do not interfere with the concentration of
his listeners, for though he reads fast and does not enunciate very clearly,
the story quickly takes charge. It is more than an hour before he has
finished. Meanwhile the fire burns low, and nobody bothers to throw
coal on it. At last he comes to the end.
¢ “The Company passed under the northern arch and came through
a doorway on their right. It was high and flat-topped, and the stone
door was still upon its hinges, standing half open. Beyond it was a large
square chamber, lit by a wide shaft in the far wall - it slanted upwards
and far above a small square patch of sky could be seen. The light fell
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directly on a table in the midst of the chamber, a square block three feet
high upon which was laid a great slab of whitened stone.” > He pauses
and puts his manuscript aside. “That’s as far as it runs. The end is in
rather a muddle, and there should have been a song earlier, in which
‘ Gimli recollects the ancient days when Moria was peopled by Durin’s
folk.’

‘ ‘T don’t think that’s needed,” says Lewis. (Of Tolkien’s poetry, he
| generally admires only the alliterative verse.) Tolkien does not reply.
‘ Instead he says:

: ‘Did you realise that the faint patter of feet is Gollum following them ?

He is to reappear now, you see.’

‘Oh yes, I think that’s clear,” says Lewis. ‘And the underground stuff
is marvellous, the best of its kind I’ve ever heard. Neither Haggard nor
MacDonald equal it. Perhaps you could just spread yourself a little more
in the scene where that Thing comes out of the water and grabs at
Frodo. It’s a little unprepared at the moment — shouldn’t there be
ripples on the water when it starts to move ?* Tolkien agrees and makes
a note of this.

‘T was struck,” says Warnie (offering more rum to the company), ‘by
that bit about the cats of Queen — what was her name?’

“ ‘He is surer of finding the way home in a blind night than the cats
of Queen Beruthiel,” * quotes Tolkien. ‘Yes. Do you know, I find that
rather puzzling. Trotter just made the allusion to her without any fore-
thought by me — she just popped up, in fact. Odd, isn’t it?* (“Trotter’
is the character who will later be renamed Strider’.)
~ “So you’ve no idea who she was ?’ asks Jack Lewis, putting more coal
on the fire.

There is a gleam in Tolkien’s eye. ‘No, I didn’t say that. I said she
just popped up. Since she did, I do have a notion that she was the wife
of one of the ship-kings of Pelargir.’

. ‘Pelargir ?’ asks Warnie. ‘I don’t remember that.’

‘No, you wouldn’t: the story hasn’t reached it yet. It was a great port,
you see, and poor Beruthiel loathed the smell of the sea, and fish and
gulls, like the giantess Skadi — do you remember her?’ (he turns to
Lewis). ‘She came to the gods in Valhalla and demanded a husband in
payment for her father’s death. They lined everybody up behind a
curtain and she selected the pair of feet that appealed to her most. She
thought she’d got Balder, but it turned out to be Njord; and after she’d
married him she got fed up with the seaside life, and the gulls kept her
awake, and at last she went back to live in Jotunheim. Well, Beruthiel
went to live in an inland city too, and she went to the bad — or returned
to it: she was a black Numenérean in origin, I suspect — and she was
one of those people who hate cats, but cats will jump on them and
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follow them about (you know how they can pursue people who loathe
them). I'm afraid she took to torturing them for amusement, but she
trained some to go on evil errands by night, to spy on people or terrify
them.” Tolkien stops and relights his pipe, and there is a respectful
pause from his audience (though in fact a certain amount of what he
said was not entirely audible to them, thanks to his speed and the pipe
in his mouth).

‘I don’t know how you think of these things,” says Havard, who does
not actually find it easy to appreciate The Lord of the Rings, but who
certainly admires the fertility of Tolkien’s imagination.

‘How does any author think of anything ?” answers Jack Lewis, quick
as usual to turn the particular into the general. ‘I don’t think that
conscious invention plays a very great part in it. For example, I find
that in many respects I can’t direct my imagination: I can only follow
the lead it gives me.’

‘Absolutely true,” says Warnie. ‘I mean, when I picture the country
house I’d like to have if I were a rich man, I can sqy that my study
window opens on a level park full of old timbers, but I can only see
undulating ground with a fir-topped knoll. I can fix my mind, of course,
on the level park, but when I turn to the window again after arranging
my books, there’s that damn knoll once more.’

‘That’s exactly what I find when I’'m writing a story,” declares his
brother. ‘I must use the knoll and can’t force myself to use the level
park.’

Havard asks: ‘What do you suppose is the explanation, or the sig-
nificance ? I imagine Jung would ascribe it to the collective unconscious,
whose dictates you are being obliged to follow.’

‘Maybe,” Lewis says. ‘Jung’s archetypes do seem to explain it, though
I’d have thought Plato’s would do just as well. And isn’t Tollers saying
the same thing in another way when he tells us that Man is merely the
sub-creator and that all stories originate with God?* Tolkien grunts in
agreement. ‘But the real point is not bew it happens (because surely we
can never be certain about that) but that it does happen. You see, I come
more and more to the conclusion that all stories are waifing, somewhere,
and are slowly being recovered in fragments by different human minds
according to their abilities — and of course being partially spoiled in
each writer by the admixture of his own mere individual “invention”.
Do you agree?” He turns to Tolkien.

‘Of course, of course. Although you may feel that your story is pro-
foundly “true”, all the details may not have that “truth” about the<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>